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Chairman’s Message
FREAR

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | hereby present the
annual results of China Best Group Holding Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Looking back to the past financial year, the number of confirmed cases
has remained high around the world due to the successive emergence
of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) variants, Delta and Omicron. Even
though mainland China and Hong Kong have adhered to a stringent
strategy to prevent the pandemic, both still failed to avoid the pandemic
from reaching a record high. Under such severe circumstance, the
Group's business operations were affected to a certain extent, especially
the property brokerage business. During this financial year, there were
three major changes at the business level: (i) the Group disposed of its
Chongming Island project and exited the property development business
during the year due to the uncertainties and risks of this business; (ii)
the Group increased its shareholding in an associate engaged in big data
services, making it a subsidiary of the Group to create better synergy
effects with the Group’s other real-estate related businesses and the
metaverse-related businesses that will be expanded later; and (iii) in
the first quarter of 2022, the Group announced to build an ecological
environment of the whole industry chain of metaverse and to develop
the metaverse related businesses, but the related businesses were still
in the initial stage and no revenue has been generated during the
year. Except for the impact of the pandemic and the aforementioned
changes, each of the Group’s other major businesses remained
generally stable. The Group was still committed to consolidating existing
businesses, strengthening operation management and cost control.
Meanwhile, net loss for the year of the Group was further reduced. The
Group also completed a funding raising activity by way of rights issue
during the year to strengthen its capital strength and lay the foundation
for further business expansion.
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Looking forward into 2023, the global economic recovery will face
difficulties against the backdrop of the continuing novel coronavirus
(COVID-19) pandemic and the military and political conflicts among the
world superpowers. Due to the inflation trend caused by supply-demand
imbalance, many of the world’s major economies have tightened their
monetary policies, creating a more challenging business environment.
The Group will remain focus on mainland China and Hong Kong as its
place of business. Under the background of state support and social
stability, Hong Kong, the Group’s listing place, is expected to continue
to give play to its own advantages in line with the national strategy
in an effective manner. Hong Kong's capital market still has a unique
advantage for the listing and financing of mainland Chinese companies
and attracting foreign capital to the mainland market, and its status
of a global financial center remains unshakable. Rooted in mainland
China and Hong Kong, the Group has always been confident about the
future operation of the business. The Group will continue to strengthen
the development of its main businesses, including exploiting metaverse
related business opportunities by leveraging its existing business
advantages, and seek opportunities to expand the synergy among
various businesses. On the other hand, the Group will still pay attention
to mergers and acquisitions opportunities that appear from time to time
and introduce promising projects where appropriate to further improve
the profitability of the Group, intensify the sustainability of its business
and bring benefits to the shareholders of the Company.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my
heartfelt thanks to the management, all our employees and partners
for their contributions to the development of the Group as well as to
shareholders for their continued support to the Company. With the
support and contributions from all parties, the Group will continue to
strive for the best to achieve a better performance and create a greater
value for our shareholders!

Wang Yinggian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE RO

For the year

For the fifteen

ended months ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
BHE—S-— BE—=-_&
=BA=+—H —BA=+—H1t
IEEFE +HER
HKS$'M HK$'M
BEET BEET
Financial Results Highlight MBEERHE
Turnover EERE 858.5 1,186.3
Total operating costs B AN 48 RE (728.0) (1,022.7)
Total expenses x i 4EzE (169.9) (233.7)
Net loss before tax and BRI IB R IEERERmAT 2
non-controlling interests 5187328 (1.1) (20.7)
Loss for the year/period attributable to RABEBANEGLE/
owners of the Company BANE 18 (6.3) (42.6)
As at
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
—E”C IS
=B=+—H =B=+—H
HK$'M HK$'M
BEET BEET
Extract of Financial Position B 5K O B 8%
Total assets EEEE 2,340.9 2,072.9
Total liabilities =R (1,080.4) (923.2)
Net current assets MENEEFE 448.4 483.4
Bank balances and cash—-general accounts IR{T4EER&RIBE—MRIRD 46.0 50.3
Net assets EESE 1,260.5 1,149.7

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22



Management Discussion and Analysis

OVERVIEW

Pursuant to a resolution of the Board dated 19 June 2020, the
Company’s financial year end date has been changed from 31
December to 31 March commencing from the financial year of
2020/2021. Accordingly, the current financial year will cover a period of
twelve months from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022. The corresponding
comparative amounts shown covered fifteen months from 1 January
2020 to 31 March 2021, and therefore may not be entirely comparable
with amounts shown for the current period.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s turnover was
approximately HK$858.5 million, representing an decrease of 27.6%
as compared with approximately HK$1,186.3 million for the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2021. The net loss for the year ended 31
March 2022 was approximately HK$11.1 million as compared with
approximately HK$36.4 million for the fifteen months ended 31 March
2021. The decrease in loss was mainly attributable to the combined
effect of, among other thing, (i) the increase in unrealised gain on fair
value change on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss by
approximately HK$8.5 million based on independent valuation results,
(ii) the recognition of a gain on disposal of a subsidiary of approximately
HK$48.2 million, and (iii) the increase in impairment loss on the Group’s
assets by approximately HK$24.2 million in aggregate.

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
Finance Leasing Business

The Group commenced its finance leasing business in July 2015 and
has been engaged in providing finance lease services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). The principal focus of the Group's
finance leasing business is to provide an alternative way of financing
to corporate clients in the PRC via a sale and lease-back arrangement
of tangible assets, like plant and machinery, as well as to render
consultancy services with respect of finance leasing. For the year ended
31 March 2022, the turnover of the Group's finance leasing business
amounted to approximately HK$2.3 million (fifteen months ended 31
March 2021: approximately HK$2.9 million). Corresponding segment
loss of approximately HK$12.2 million, including the impairment loss
of approximately HK$10.8 million, was incurred for the year ended
31 March 2022 (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$4.8 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE RO

Money Lending Business

The Group holds a money lenders licence in Hong Kong and provides
loan facilities to prospective customers including enterprises and
individuals. This segment has begun to generate returns to the Group
since April 2016. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the turnover
of the Group’s money lending business amounted to approximately
HK$23.8 million (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$25.4 million). Corresponding segment loss of approximately HK$3.8
million, including the impairment loss on loan and interest receivables
of approximately HK$23.0 million, was incurred for the year ended 31
March 2022 (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: segment profit of
approximately HK$16.9 million).

Securities and Futures Brokerage Business

The Group has been providing brokerage services for securities and
futures traded on exchanges in Hong Kong and major overseas countries
since August 2017. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the turnover
of the Group’s securities and futures brokerage business amounted
to approximately HK$0.4 million (fifteen months ended 31 March
2021: approximately HK$1,000). Considering this segment’s past
performance and the current conditions, in particular uncertainties
in the financial market, an impairment loss on goodwill of HK$14.0
million was recognised in the year ended 31 March 2022 with the
reference to the valuation result conducted by independent professional
valuers. Corresponding segment loss of approximately HK$19.1 million,
including the impairment loss on goodwill, was incurred for the current
year (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$21.1
million, including the impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$13.0 million).

Trading Business

With the established distribution channels and upstream suppliers
network in niche market of electronics, the trading of goods business
mainly focuses on trading of semi-finished electronic components
produced in mainland China and Taiwan which are equippable to mobile
electronic appliances and laptops computers. For the year ended 31
March 2022, the turnover of the Group’s trading business amounted
to approximately HK$345.6 million (fifteen months ended 31 March
2021: approximately HK$571.4 million) whereas the gross profit
was approximately HK$5.1 million (fifteen months ended 31 March
2021: approximately HK$7.5 million). The Group recorded a loss of
approximately HK$8.7 million (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$9.9 million) in this segment.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Securities Investment Business

It represents trading of listed equity securities in the Hong Kong stock
market and dividend income (if any) from such listed equity securities.
For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group did not trade any listed
equity securities and hence no turnover and realised gain/loss of the
Group's securities investment business was generated (fifteen months
ended 31 March 2021: turnover of HK$3.8 million and realised gain on
the listed securities of approximately HK$2.3 million was recorded). As
the Group did not hold any trading securities during the year and at
the end of the reporting period (31 March 2021: nil), the Group did not
receive any dividend income (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: nil)
and did not record any unrealised fair value gain/loss on the Group’s
securities investment for the year ended 31 March 2022(fifteen months
ended 31 March 2021: nil).

Freight Forwarding Business

The freight forwarding business of the Group provides international
air and sea freight forwarding and logistic services to local customers
in Singapore and the United State of America which consist of small
and medium trading companies and forwarders. During the year, the
freight forwarding business in United States of America was faded
out for the reason of resources reallocation. For the year ended 31
March 2022, the turnover of the Group’s freight forwarding business
amounted to approximately HK$1.2 million (fifteen months ended 31
March 2021: approximately HK$2.0 million). Corresponding gross profit
of approximately HK$0.4 million and segment loss of approximately
HK$0.4 million were made for the current year respectively (fifteen
months ended 31 March 2021: gross profit of approximately HK$0.7
million and segment loss of approximately HK$1.0 million).

Property Investment Business

The Group acquired a group of companies which mainly hold the
investment properties in the PRC for rental income and capital
appreciation since January 2019. For the year ended 31 March 2022,
the rental income generated from such investment properties amounted
to approximately HK$7.1 million (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021:
nil). Corresponding profit of approximately HK$12.0 million (fifteen
months ended 31 March 2021: segment loss of approximately HK$1.9
million) was made in this segment. As at 31 March 2022, the fair value
of the investment properties was approximately HK$129.0 million
after addition of unrealised fair value gain of approximately HK$6.6
million with reference to the valuation result conducted by independent
professional valuers (2021: approximately HK$117.6 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEE RO

Property Brokerage Business

The Group has been engaged in provision of residential and commercial
property brokerage services in the PRC since June 2019. Currently,
the major places of business activities are in Xi'an, Shaanxi Province
and Xiangshan City, Zhejiang Province of the PRC. During the vyear,
due to the re-bound of coronavirus (COVID-19) cases in mainland
China, the sentiment of real estate market was inevitably affected,
which further disrupted the implementation of plans and projects of
the Group. For the year ended 31 March 2022, no turnover of the
Group's property brokerage business was generated (fifteen months
ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$45.3 million) and the gross
loss of approximately HK$2.1 million was recorded (fifteen months
ended 31 March 2021: gross profit of approximately HK$28.0 million).
Corresponding loss of approximately HK$5.7 million was made in this
segment (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: segment profit of
approximately HK$19.8 million).

Customised Technical Support Business

After the Group acquired a group of companies which are principally
engaged in the provision of financial information, solutions and data
analytical services to customers in finance and property related field
in the PRC in August 2021, the Group combined such newly acquired
business with its building architecture and interior design business so
as to provide customised technical support services to customers in the
PRC. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the turnover of the Group’s
customised technical support business amounted to approximately
HK$20.8 million (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$4.6 million) and the gross profit of approximately HK$10.9 million
was recorded (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$4.6 million). Segment loss of approximately HK$0.7 million was
incurred during the current year (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$8.1 million).

Property Development and Project Management
Business

The Group acquired a company in March 2020 which is principally
engaged in property development in the PRC and holds land use rights
of a land parcel at Haiyong Road, Haiyong Country, Haimen City,
Jiangsu Province, with a total site area of 47,519 square meters and for
commercial use. The Group originally is planning to develop properties
for sale on such land parcel. However, due to various challenges and
difficulties faced by property developers in the PRC and, in particular,
a certain degree of volatility in property prices in the area where the
Land Parcel is located at, the Group disposed the company engaged
in property development business on 31 March 2022 and recognised
the gain on disposal of approximately HK$48.2 million. Immediately
following the disposal, the Group ceased its property development
business segment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On the other hand, the Group has commenced to provide project
management services in the PRC since July 2020. For the year ended
31 March 2022, the turnover of the Group’s project management
business amounted to approximately HK$44.8 million (fifteen months
ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$45.5 million) and the gross
profit of approximately HK$36.5 million was recorded (fifteen months
ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$45.5 million). Segment loss
of approximately HK$13.1 million was incurred in this segment (fifteen
months ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$9.3 million).

Geothermal Energy Business

The Group acquired a group of companies, which are principally
engaged in developing and utilising geothermal energy in provision of
heating and cooling supply to various buildings located in residential
areas in the PRC, in March 2020. Currently, the major places of
business activities are in Xi‘an, Shaanxi Province and Henan Province
of the PRC. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the turnover of the
Group’'s geothermal energy business amounted to approximately
HK$18.4 million (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: approximately
HK$18.0 million) and the gross profit was approximately HK$4.4
million (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$0.8
million). Corresponding segment loss of approximately HK$6.9 million
was incurred in this segment (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$8.3 million).

Building Construction Contracting Business

The Group acquired a company, which is principally engaged in building
construction contracting on project basis in the PRC, in May 2020. For
the year ended 31 March 2022, the turnover of the Group's building
construction contracting business amounted to approximately HK$329.5
million (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$438.2
million) and the gross profit of approximately HK$42.1 million (fifteen
months ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$44.8 million) was
made. Corresponding profit of approximately HK$29.7 million (fifteen
months ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$31.6 million) was
achieved in this segment.
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EEE RO

Centralised Heating Business

The Group started the centralised heating business after becoming the
reorganisation investor of a company, which is principally engaged in
the business of providing the heat and steam supply services in the
licensed area of Yuncheng, Shanxi through centralised pipe networks,
in September 2020. The Group was further granted an exclusive
license for the provision of centralised heating service in Yuncheng
City for 30 years from 1 January 2021. For the year ended 31 March
2022, the turnover of the Group's centralised heating business
amounted to approximately HK$64.6 million (fifteen months ended
31 March 2021: approximately HK$29.2 million) and the gross loss of
approximately HK$0.4 million (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$0.5 million) was incurred. The Group recorded a loss
of approximately HK$7.7 million (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$4.0 million) in this segment.

OUTLOOK

In order to increase the profitability of the Group and enhance its
sustainability, the Group (i) will continuously improve its real estate-
related businesses layout while developing its existing main businesses;
(i) will keep seeking opportunities to diversify its income and growth
drivers, such as the metaverse related business mentioned below;
and (iii) will further expend its client base and enrich its products and
services mix by exploring possible intersegment development and
collaboration between the Group's different business segments.

In first quarter of 2022, the Group has announced that it would build
an ecological environment of the whole industry chain of metaverse
and develop the metaverse related businesses. With the advanced
development in technology, metaverse is universally regarded as the
next frontier in technology services. The emerging of the metaverse
has widened the spectrum of traditional industries by extending the
space for development and transforming the physical shape of the
ecosystem. The Directors considered that by leveraging the strength and
experience of the Group in real-estate related business and the Group's
exploration in the big data business, the Group would be able to provide
comprehensive and customized metaverse solutions, including but not
limited to designing, constructing and operating the metaverse offline
entertainment experience venue.

Looking forward, the global economic situation and market sentiment
is still vulnerable in the shadow of the continuing coronavirus pandemic
and the military and political conflicts among the world superpowers.
The Group will keep on reviewing and considering its existing resources,
including the experience, expertise and social network of the directors
and management of the Company, with the aim of further expanding
the current principal businesses and exploring possible development
in the metaverse related businesses. The Group firmly believes that
challenges and opportunities coexist in the current situation. The Group
will adopt prudent measures to control operating risks and continue to
expand its businesses by seeking new opportunities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LIQUIDITY AND CASHFLOW RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022, the equity and net current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$1,260.5 million (2021: approximately
HK$1,149.7 million) and HK$448.4 million (2021: approximately
HK$483.4 million) respectively. On the same date, the Group had
bank balances and cash of approximately HK$46.0 million (2021:
approximately HK$50.3 million) and the current ratio was 1.42 (2021:
1.53). As at 31 March 2022, the Group had (i) secured trust loans of
approximately HK$246.9 million (2021: approximately HK$237.3 million)
bearing fixed interest rate at 12% per annum and to be repaid in March
2023, (ii) secured bank loans of approximately HK$88.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$11.9 million) bearing fixed interest rate ranged from
3.8% to 5.6% per annum and to be repaid from November 2022 to
March 2023, (iii) secured short-term loans from an independent lender
of approximately HK$9.9 million (2021: approximately HK$20.2 million)
bearing fixed interest rate at 16.8% per annum and to be repaid in
March 2023, (iv) unsecured short-term loan from an independent lender
of approximately HK$3.7 million (2021: nil) bearing fixed interest rate
at 6% per annum and to be repaid in June 2022, (v) interest-free and
unsecured loan from a joint venture of approximately HK$0.1 million
(2021: HK$0.1 million) to be repaid in December 2021, (vi) interest-free
and unsecured advance payments from an independent third party and
subcontractor of approximately HK$13.7 million and HK$110.3 million
respectively to be repaid on demand (2021: interest-free and unsecured
advance payment from an associate and subcontractor of approximately
HK$16.6 million and HK$80.7 million respectively to be repaid on
demand).

As at 31 March 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately
0.20 (2021: approximately 0.18). The gearing ratio is measured on
the basis of the total amount of interest bearing and interest free
borrowings/advance payments over the amount of total assets. As
at 31 March 2022, the total amount of interest bearing and interest
free borrowings/advance payments and the amount of total asset
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$473.5 million (2021:
approximately HK$366.8 million) and approximately HK$2,340.9 million
(2021: approximately HK$2,072.9 million) respectively.

The Group has sufficient and readily available financial resources for
both general working capital purposes and existing business operation.
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PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, none of the Group’s securities
was pledged to brokers to secure the margin loan. As at 31 March
2022, certain flats of the investment properties held by the Group
were pledged to banks to secure the bank loans borrowed to the
Group (2021: the properties under development for sale in amount
of approximately HK$86.3 million (including the land use rights of
approximately HK$27.2 million) was pledged to an independent lender
to secure the trust loans borrowed to the Group).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group had no material contingent
liabilities.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group incurred
approximately HK$13.9 million (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$41.7 million) as capital expenditure mainly in respect
of plant and equipment situated in the PRC.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material capital commitment
(2021: nil).

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 March 2022, the Group held financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income of approximately HK$8.6 million
(2021: approximately HK$8.6 million) which represented unlisted equity
securities in Hong Kong. No financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss in relation to equity securities was held as at 31 March 2022
(2021: nil).

The Board acknowledges that the performance of the equities may be
affected by the degree of volatility in the stock market and susceptible
to other external factors that may affect their values. Accordingly, in
order to mitigate possible financial risks related to the equities, the
Board will continue to closely monitor the performance of its investment
portfolio (if any) from time to time.

As at 31 March 2022, the Company did not hold any significant

investments in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the
Company’s total assets.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

(i)

(ii)

On 10 August 2021, China Best Financial Holdings Limited, a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into share
transfer agreement with independent third party to acquire
42% of the issued share capital of Treasure Cart Holdings
Limited ("Treasure Cart”) at a consideration of HK$90 million
(the "Treasure Cart Acquisition”). The major subsidiaries of
Treasure Cart are principally engaged in the provision of financial
information, solutions and data analytical services to customers
in finance and property related field in the PRC. Before the
acquisition, Treasure Cart and its subsidiaries (“Treasure Cart
Group”) are associates of the Company with 25% equity interest
held. After the completion of the acquisition on 12 August 2021,
the Group held 67% equity interest in Treasure Cart and Treasure
Cart Group has become non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the
Company since then. Further details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 10 August 2021.

On 29 March 2022, Shenzhen Guohua Construction Industrial
Co., Ltd.* CRYIBEIZEZEEZHRAF) ("Shenzhen Guohua"),
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, and Beijing Taoli
Chunfeng Real Estate Property Development Co., Ltd.* (It
WhE=EREMEMRZEFRAST)("Beijing Taoli Chunfeng”), an
independent third party, among others, entered into an agreement
pursuant to which Shenzhen Guohua agreed to dispose, and
Beijing Taoli Chunfeng agreed to acquire and assume, 100%
equity interest in Jiangsu Meili Kongjian Construction Design
Development Co., Ltd.* CIEFERBEEREALTEXEREBRL
&) ("Jiangsu Meili Kongjian”) and the benefit of the aggregate
amount outstanding and owing by Jiangsu Meili Kongjian to the
Group, at the consideration of RMB126 million. The disposal was
completed on 31 March 2022 and the Group ceased to hold any
interest in Jiangsu Meili Kongjian accordingly. Further details are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 March 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other material acquisition or
disposal (including the acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and
associated companies) for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

On 11 May 2021, the Company proposed to implement the rights
issue (“Rights Issue”) on the basis of one (1) rights share (“Rights
Share(s)”) for every two (2) existing shares held on 16 June 2021 at
the subscription price of HK$0.2 per Rights Share. The closing price per
share of the Company was HK$0.365 at the same date. The net price
(after deduction of transaction and issue costs attributable to the Rights
Issue) per Rights Share is approximately HK$0.19. The Rights Issue was
conducted for strengthening the Group's capital base and financial
position. In particular, its proceeds would be utilised in developing
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existing businesses, financing mergers and acquisitions, and enhancing
general working capital. The Rights Issue was completed on 14 July
2021 with 508,428,313 Rights Shares allotted and issued and the net
proceeds were approximately HK$96.7 million. Details of the Rights
Issue were set out in the prospectus of the Company dated 17 June
2021 and the announcement of the Company dated 13 July 2021. As at
31 March 2022, the Group has utilised the net proceeds from the Rights
Issue of approximately HK$85.7 million. Details of the intended and

actual use of proceeds were as follows:

Intended use of proceeds
FRiSTRIAE E A&

ISR ERARERIRE XY A HER
BEURREA—REEES -HRENZE
T—EFtB+tHAREMR EE R KET
508,428,313 MHEE IR0 > FTISRIEF 2B
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SHBA_ S _—FB+tHZHERKRE
BEREAABRBA_E_—FtA+=H
ZRMR _E__F=B=+—H &%
B 28 A H A P18 RIE/F %84985,700,000
B -FBREBENERERERBRFBU
T

Actual use of proceeds up to 31 March 2022
BEEZE__F=R=+—HZREREERAR

(a) approximately HK$32 million would be applied to
centralised heating business;

(a) #932,000,0008 7o IS ERHIAZETS ;

(b) approximately HK$11 million would be used for
the settlement of unpaid investment sum to Tiandi
Youdamei (Beijing) Cultural Tourism Company Limited*
(RthAARE QbR XRAERRF);

(b) %911,000,000# 7o B MR A K E (ER) KA
RABEMRZMRERIEA ;

(c) approximately HK$34 million would be used for the
Treasure Cart Acquisition, and/or property related
business of the Group; and

(c) #934,000,00078 7T B Treasure Cartt#EEIE > &
S RAEBM Y ERERER &

(d) approximately HK$19.7 million would be used for
general working capital of the Group.

(d) #4919,700,000 B T BEAERZ —REEE S
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approximately HK$26 million was changed to settle the
partial consideration of the Treasure Cart Acquisition for
deploying the Group’s financial resources more effectively, and
approximately HK$6 million was utilised as intended,;
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approximately HK$11 million remained unused and will be
utilised as intended in 2022;
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approximately HK$34 million was utilised to settle the partial
consideration of the Treasure Cart Acquisition as intended; and

#934,000,00078 70 B2 € B IR B 2 Y Treasure Cartii g =
BZHBAIRE; &

approximately HK$19.7 million was utilised as intended.

#919,700,0008 T E R ERRE A °



Management Discussion and Analysis

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars. During
the year ended 31 March 2022, there was no significant fluctuation
in the exchange rates of Hong Kong dollars and US dollars whereas
Renminbi had an upward adjustment, resulting in an exchange gain
of approximately HK$21.6 million recognised as other comprehensive
income of the Group. The Group will take a prudent approach against
any impact arising from the fluctuation in exchange rates but currently
is not engaged in any derivative activities and not committed to any
financial instruments to hedge its balance sheet exposure.

EMPLOYEE AND HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 332 staff (2021: 402 staff).
The total staff cost incurred for the year ended 31 March 2022 was
approximately HK$81.4 million (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021:
approximately HK$111.3 million). The remuneration of employees
was determined with reference to the qualification and experience
of individual staff member, market circumstances and the Group's
performance. In accordance with the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), the staff of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting
function have adequate training programmes and budget.

Pursuant to a share option scheme adopted on 22 May 2012 and
terminated on 1 September 2021 (the “2012 Share Option Scheme”)
and a share option scheme adopted on 1 September 2021 (the “2021
Share Option Scheme”), the Board may grant options to, among
other, directors (including non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors) and employees of the Company and any of
its subsidiaries or associated companies or any suppliers of goods or
services to the Group, to subscribe for shares of the Company. During
the year ended 31 March 2022, no options were granted under the
2012 Share Option Scheme and the 2021 Share Option Scheme.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2022 (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: Nil).
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EEE RO

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
29 August 2022 to Friday, 2 September 2022 (both days inclusive),
during which no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
to be shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on Friday, 2 September 2022, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong (before 15 August 2022), or 17/F, Far
East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong (on or after 15
August 2022), no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 26 August 2022.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee currently comprises Mr. Ru Xiangan, Mr. Liu Tonghui, and
Ms. Yin Meiqun, the three independent non-executive directors of the
Company. A summary of duties and works of the Audit Committee is set
out in the "Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control
and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
in conjunction with the Company's external auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA
CPA Limited.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE OF THE
LISTING RULES

A new Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”) came into effect
on 1 January 2022 and the requirements under the new CG Code apply
to corporate governance reports for financial year commencing on or
after 1 January 2022. As this annual report including the corporate
governance report is for the year ended 31 March 2022, the CG Code
described herein is the CG Code in effect during the year ended 31
March 2022.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has fully complied
with the code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 of
the Listing Rules, with deviation from the code provisions A.6.7 and
C.2.5. Details of the Company’s corporate governance are set out in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining the
Group's risk management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and for reviewing the effectiveness of such on
an annual basis under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Corporate Governance Report

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholders’ value and safeguard shareholders’
interests. The Group’s corporate governance principles emphasize
a quality Board, effective internal control and accountability to
shareholders.

The Board believes that good corporate governance practices are
increasingly important for maintaining and promoting shareholder value
and investor confidence.

The CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules sets out the
principles of good corporate governance and two levels of corporate
governance practices:

(@) code provisions which listed issuers are expected to comply with or
to give considered reasons for any deviation; and

(b) recommended best practices for guidance only, which listed issuers
are encouraged to comply with or give considered reasons for
deviation.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles, code provisions and certain recommended best practices as
set out in the CG Code.

A new CG Code came into effect on 1 January 2022 and the
requirements under the new CG Code apply to corporate governance
reports for financial year commencing on or after 1 January 2022. As
this annual report including the corporate governance report is for the
year ended 31 March 2022, the CG Code described herein is the CG
Code in effect during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has complied
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code, save for the deviations
from the code provisions A.6.7 and C.2.5 which are explained in the
relevant paragraphs in this report.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to
review its corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
they comply with the CG Code and align with the latest developments
of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All directors should
take decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board sets policy direction and approves strategies/operational plans
to ensure effective functioning and growth of the Company, in the
interests of all shareholders.

Every director shall ensure that he/she carries out his/her duty in
good faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws
and regulations, and acts in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.

DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
matters of the Company, including: the approval and monitoring of
all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view to
ensuring that Board's procedures and all applicable rules and regulations
are followed.

Each director is normally able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the executive directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board has the full support of the executive directors and the senior
management to discharge its responsibility.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and to
the exercising of independent judgment.

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises five
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors. Save
as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report, members of the Board do
not have any relationship with any other director.

The list of all directors and their biographies are set out under the
section of “Corporate Information” and “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on page 2 and page 59 respectively
and in all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant
to the Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive
directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director for his/her independence pursuant
to the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 and
other requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

All directors, including independent non-executive directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience and skills,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functions. Independent non-executive directors are invited to
serve on the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees of the
Company.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are set out in the Company’s Bye-laws. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors. Details of the Nomination Committee and its
works performed during the year are set out in the “Board Committees”
section below.

Each of the directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which can
be terminated by not less than three months’ or one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, all directors of the
Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself for re-election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after appointment.

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Li
Haitao, Ms. Tao Lei and Ms. Yin Meiqun will be subject to re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Qin
Jie and Mr. Liu Tonghui shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the directors standing
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Pursuant to requirement in the code provision A.6.1, each newly
appointed director should receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction on appointment. Subsequently he or she should receive any
briefing and professional development necessary to ensure that he or
she has a proper understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities
and obligations under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal
and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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The Board recognises the importance of directors’ training and all
directors should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, all directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending training courses and/or reading
reference materials on the topics related to corporate governance and

regulations:
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Attending expert
briefings/seminars/

conferences
relevant to the
Reading regulatory business or
updates director’s duties
HEEMESH
EZREN
REEERTE EXERE
ZRITEN metE g3
Executive Directors BITES
Ms. Wang Yingqian (Chairman) FHETRE (FE) v v
Mr. Qin Jie (Chief Executive Officer) ENEE ((TEAEE) v v
Mr. Fan Jie LS v v
Mr. Li Haitao ?5’5‘%;5%%
(with effect from 1 December 2021) (BZFEZ—F+ZF—HE£Z) v v
Ms. Tao Lei Wﬁﬁﬁi
(with effect from 1 December 2021) (BZFEZ—F+ZF—HE£Z) v v
Mr. Liu Wei FBEE
(ceased on 3 February 2022) R —E- —F_H=HEF) 4 v
Mr. Chen Wei PRERE
(ceased on 3 February 2022) R —E- —F_H=HEF) 4 v
Independent Non-Executive Directors  HIZIEHMITES
Mr. Ru Xiangan miFw A 4 v
Mr. Liu Tonghui Bk v v
Ms. Yin Meigun ?%ﬁﬁi
(with effect from 1 December 2021) (BZFEZ—F+ZF—HE£%) v v
Mr. Liu Haiping 2 BREE
(ceased on 29 April 2022) (RZFEZZFF =+ HEEE) 4 v
MEETINGS =E
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance TRV BEEHEFHERR

During the year ended 31 March 2022,

regular Board meetings

were held for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, and considering and approving the overall strategies
and policies of the Company. Most important resolutions agreed in
Board meetings were made by all directors including executive and

independent non-executive directors.
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The attendance records of each director at the meetings of the
shareholders, the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Executive Committee
(for corporate governance functions) during the year are set out below:

FRBREFNRRIAE - EF/ FtE
BEg -HFMEET RLEEETAITEE
g EXELRREMR §F2BALRE
BT

Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend

BYE/RERLEZEHE
Audit Remuneration  Nomination Executive
Shareholders Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors BEENL fR® 2R  BiZBe HMZE8g¢ R4%E8E HEEE
(Note)
(Fit3E)
Executive Directors RTES
Ms. Wang Yinggian (Chairman) IBTRT(ZR) 0N 8/8  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 22 Not Applicable
TEH TEA TER
Mr. Qin Jie (Chief Executive Officer) R (7THAE%) 0 8/8 Not Applicable  Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable 171
TEH TEA TER
Mr. Fan Jie 37 Pk 171 8/8  Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 171
TEH TEA TER
Mr. Li Haitao FEELE (5-F"—% Not Applicable 3/3 Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 171
(with effect from 1 December 2021) +=H—HELH) TEHE TEH TEA TER
Ms. Tao Lei WELL (H-F-—4F Not Applicable 3/3 Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 17
(with effect from 1 December 2021) +=H—HELH) TEHE TEH TEA TER
Mr. Liu Wi b e S 0 0/5 Not Applicable  Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable
(ceased on 3 February 2022) ZHZRER) TEH TER TER TEH
Mr. Chen Wei EREE R -E_C 01 5/5  Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable  Not Applicable
(ceased on 3 February 2022) ZHZRER) TEH TER TER TEH
Independent Non-Executive Bif#TES
Directors
Mr. Ru Xiangan nEERE 0/1 6/8 2 22 172 Not Applicable
TEH
Mr. Liu Tonghui Ay EEE 0/1 8/8 2 22 212 Not Applicable
TEH
Ms. Yin Meiqun FEBLT (EZFZ—4 Not Applicable 3/3 Not Applicable  Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable
(with effect from 1 December 2021) +=5—HEEH) TER TEH NEA TER TER
Mr. Liu Haiping UBREE R -F_— 0 5/8 12 12 112 Not Applicable
(ceased on 29 April 2022) 5 =+5 B#E) TER

Note: Among meetings of the Executive Committee, one meeting was held for the
purpose of performing the corporate governance duties and the attendances of
the members of the Executive Committee at this meeting is disclosed under the
CG Code.

24 China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22

Mz RATEEG2ERZT AP —RERME
TEEEARBEMBT RWITEETMELRE
IEREZEZBRERBEETRIKE -



Corporate Governance Report

Under the code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, the independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Due to influence of COVID-19 pandemic, three
independent non-executive directors namely, Mr. Ru Xiangan, Mr. Liu
Tonghui and Mr. Liu Haiping (ceased on 29 April 2022), were unable to
attend the Company’s annual general meetings held on 1 September
2021.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors appraised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each director
also have separate and independent access to the senior management
whenever necessary.

The Chairman and the Company Secretary attend almost all regular
Board meetings and when necessary, other Board and committee
meetings to advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and other major
aspects of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping minutes of all
Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable period of
time after each meeting and the final version is open for directors’
inspection.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction which
involves a material conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder
or a director will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting and independent non-executive directors who,
and whose associates, have no material interest in the transaction are
present at the Board meeting.

The Company’s Bye-laws also contain provisions requiring directors to
abstain from voting (nor be counted in the quorum) at meetings for
approving transactions in which such directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The role of the chairman was performed by Ms. Wang Yinggian, who
provided leadership for the Board and was responsible for chairing
meetings, managing the operations of the Board and ensuring that all
major and appropriate issues were discussed by the Board in a timely
and constructive manner. She was also responsible for the strategic
management of the Group and for formulating the Group’s overall
corporate direction and focus.

The role of chief executive officer was performed by Mr. Qin Jie, who
was responsible for the overall management and operations of the
Group. He was also responsible for running the businesses of the Group
and implementing the Group’s strategic plans and business goals.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Executive Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of reference.
Save for the Executive Committee, the terms of reference of the
other Board committees are made available to shareholders on
the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(http://www.cbgroup.com.hk) respectively.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company'’s expenses.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises the following independent non-
executive directors.

EEERRS

BN ZEGHA TIEILFRITESEM

From From
1 April 2021 1 December 2021 From
to the date of to the date of 1 April 2021 to
this report this report 28 April 2022
= et 3
BH-ZS-—& BZSZ—% MA—BEE
mA—BEE +-B—HEE —E_C
EREBHA ¥R EBHH mAEZ+NHB
Mr. Ru Xiangan (Chairman) ##R &% (/) v
Mr. Liu Tonghui B rE it v
Ms. Yin Meiqun FEBLL v
Mr. Liu Haiping 2EREE 4

Among the committee members, one of them possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

e to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the staff of the Company’'s
accounting and financial reporting function, internal auditor (if
any) or external auditors before submission to the Board;

e  to review the relationship with the external auditors by reference
to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms
of engagement, their independence and objectivity, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of external auditors; and

e to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year to review the
half-yearly and annual financial results and reports, financial reporting
and compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control
and risk management review and processes and the re-appointment of
the external auditors.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under the
section “Meetings” in this report.
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The Company'’s annual results for the year ended 31 March 2022 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

B ZEECERARIBE_ZT "
—A=t+—HUEFEZ2FXE-

RHZEET

The Nomination Committee comprises the following directors. RREETEEH N ESEHM-
From From
1 April 2021 1 December 2021 From
to the date of to the date of 1 April 2021 to
this report this report 28 April 2022
BEZEZ—%
BZZZ—% BZEZ—% mA—HiEE
mA—HEE +ZB—HEE —E-C
R EBH RS BHER mA=+NH
Executive Director BITES
Ms. Wang Yinggian EFREFTLT (EFE)
(Chairman) v
Independent Non— BIERITES
Executive Directors
Mr. Ru Xiangan mERikt 4
Mr. Liu Tonghui 2Rt v
Ms. Yin Meiqun FEBELLT v
Mr. Liu Haiping AABRTE v

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board and make
recommendations regarding any proposed changes;

to develop and formulate relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors and senior management;

to identify suitable candidates for appointment as directors and
senior management;

to make recommendations to the Board on appointment or
reappointment of and succession planning for directors and senior
management; and

to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors.
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to achieve diversity of the Board. The Nomination Committee
carries out the process of selecting and recommending candidates
for directorships and senior management by making reference to the
skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time
commitments of such individuals, the Company’s needs and other
relevant statutory requirements and regulations. An external recruitment
agency may be engaged to carry out the recruitment and selection
process when necessary.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year to
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board
and made recommendations to the Board in accordance with the
Nomination Committee’s written terms of reference. The Nomination
Committee considers that board appointments are based on merit and
candidates are considered against objective criteria, having due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee
shall discuss and where necessary, agree on the measurable objectives
for achieving diversity on the Board and make recommendation to
the Board. The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as
applicable) such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives
that are appropriate to the Company’s business and Board succession
planning, as applicable.

The Company has also adopted a director nomination policy setting out
the procedures and criteria to be used by the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors to ensure
that the Board maintains an appropriate mix and balance of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives to the requirements
of the Company's business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to the director
nomination policy and the board diversity policy to nominate suitably
qualified candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as directors at general
meetings or appoint as directors to fill casual vacancies or as an addition
to the Board.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises the following independent
non-executive directors.

MEE S
FHMEEGmU TBIIFNTEEMER

From From
1 April 2021 1 December 2021 From
to the date of to the date of 1 April 2021 to
this report this report 28 April 2022
BZZZ—%&
BZE - B MA—BEE
MA—HiEE +-B—HEE -
EREAH RS B HA mAZ+/\H
Mr. Ru Xiangan (Chairman) #2544 (£/E)
Mr. Liu Tonghui B rE st
Ms. Yin Meiqun FEBLL v
Mr. Liu Haiping 2ER&E v

The Company has adopted the model set out in the code provision
B.1.2(c) of the CG Code as its Remuneration Committee model. The
primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages of the executive directors
and the senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of
his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration,
which remuneration will be determined by reference to the individual
performance and the operating results of the Company as well as the
market conditions and practice.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets for reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure and determination or making
recommendation of the annual remuneration packages of the executive
directors and the senior management and other related matters
when needs arise. The Human Resources Division is responsible for
collection and administration of the human resources data and making
recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for consideration.
The Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman and/or the
Board about these recommendations on remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year to
review the remuneration packages of the directors and the senior
management and made recommendation to the Board in accordance
with the Remuneration Committee’s written terms of reference.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

EEERRS

HITEET

The Executive Committee comprises the following executive directors. HITEEZTAHUTHITESHM
From From
1 April 2021 1 December 2021 From
to the date of to the date of 1 April 2021 to
this report this report 2 February 2022
BZZZ-—%&
HoE—-—%& H-ZE_-—% mAE—BEE
mA—HEE +-A—HBEE —EZC
IR E B HA TEREHER —BAZH
Mr. Qin Jie (Chairman) (Note) =INFcE (/&) (K13t) v
Mr. Fan Jie a7 e v
Mr. Li Haitao FEERE v
Ms. Tao Lei MEz T v
Mr. Liu Wei (Note) 2B (5) v
Mr. Chen Wei BRI E v
Note: T -

With effect from 3 February 2022, Mr. Liu Wei ceased to be the chairman of the

Executive Committee and Mr. Qin Jie was appointed to fill the vacancy.

The Executive Committee has been conferred upon with the general
powers of the Board (except those matters specifically reserved for
the Board) to manage and oversee the operations of the Group and
has been assigned with the responsibilities to perform the corporate

governance duties including but not limited to:

o to develop and review the Company's policies and practices on

corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the

Company;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

e to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the directors and

employees;

o to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

. to conform to any requirement, direction,

regulation that may

from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the

constitution of the Company or imposed by legislation.

During the year, the policies of the corporate governance of the

Company were reviewed by the Executive Committee.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2022 and fifteen months ended 31 March 2021 as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in
note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of
the members of the senior management (other than directors) by band
for the year ended 31 March 2022 is as follows:

BEERE K EEERYHEM

BHE - F#=ZBA=1t—HLEEEKRH
F_E_—F=RA=+—HULH+EEAH
EEFHMES BRELTRAMEE S
EHIRE  BRAENENGEEMBREN
5E140

REBEEETUNZTREXEBASR BE
TECTHF-A=+—HILFESHREE
B8 EERN < #HMARWT

Number of
individuals
Remuneration band B FER AE
HK$1,000,001 to HK$ 1,500,000 1,000,001 21,500,000 7% 1

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made on all directors and
the directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that such financial
statements give a true and fair view and that relevant statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied with.

The management of the Company provides such explanation and
information to the Board so as to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of the Company
which were put to the Board for approval.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on page 75.
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An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited, and its affiliate, for the year ended 31 March 2022
is set out as follows:

EEERRS

BE_Z__HF-A=+—HLEE 'K
ABBRHBEAMTPEZEESHMEBAARA
BRHBBABSFMEME DM
T

Fee paid/
payable

for services
rendered
BRAFTiR
R e,
e8I E A
HK$'000
FET

ZEARTS
AR BIAR TS
HAs% T

Audit services
Interim review services
Other ad-hoc assignments

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems, and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems. The systems and internal controls can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss, as they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives.

The Group has established an on-going process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks of the Group. Business
units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risks
associated with their respective units. The results of evaluation will
be reported to management through regular internal meetings. Each
year, management prepares the risk assessment report listing the risks
identified and management’s assessment on the impact to the Group.
The Board discusses findings in the risk assessment report and evaluates
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system
in Board meeting, and resolves any material internal control defects.
The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, and the Company considered
them effective and adequate.
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The key elements of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems include the following:

o the organisational structure is clearly defined with distinct lines of
authority and control responsibilities;

o a comprehensive financial accounting system has been established
to provide for performance measurement indicators and to ensure
compliance with relevant rules;

o the senior management shall prepare annual plans on financial
reporting, operations and compliance aspects by reference to
potential significant risks;

o unauthorised expenditures and release of confidential information
are strictly prohibited;

o specific approval by executive director prior to commitment is
required for all material matters; and

o the management shall review and evaluate the control process and
monitor any risk factors on a regular basis and report to the Audit
Committee on any findings and measures to address the variances
and identified risks.

The Group handles and disseminates inside information with due care.
Staff is required to comply with the confidentiality terms inside the
staff manual. Only personnel at appropriate level can get reach of price
sensitive and inside information. The Company regularly reminds the
directors and employees about compliance with all policies adopted by
the Company regarding inside information including the Model Code
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules in relation to dealings in
securities of the Company.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and established
to ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal,
relevant rules and regulations are adhered to and complied with, reliable
financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

Under the code provision C.2.5 of the CG Code, the Group should have
an internal audit function. However, due to the size of the Group and
for cost effectiveness consideration, the Group currently does not have
an internal audit function. Instead, the Audit Committee is responsible
for a review on the internal control system annually. The review covers
major financial, operational controls in rotation basis and also the risk
management functions. No significant deficiency was identified under
current year’s review and the systems were operating effectively and
adequately. The Group continues to review the need for an internal
audit function annually.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) is in place
setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to
apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

The Board shall take into account of, including but not limited to, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

e  the Company's actual and expected financial performance;
o retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group;

o the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group's contracting parties;

o the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

e any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.

The Dividend Policy shall be reviewed when necessary, and can be
revised by the Board from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of the Company Secretary is held by Mr. Ho Yu. His
biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” section on page 59. Mr. Ho reports to the Chairman of
the Board from time to time. All directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that board procedures, and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. During the year,
Mr. Ho undertook not less than 15 hours of professional training to
update his skills and knowledge.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Group also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information which enables shareholders and investors to make
a properly informed investment decision.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong for any
inquiries.

To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.cbgroup.com.hk, where extensive information and updates
on the Company’s business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

The Board confirmed that, during the year, there were no significant
changes made to the Company’s Bye-laws affecting its operations and
reporting practices.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Under the Company's Bye-laws, the Board, on the requisition of
shareholders of the Company holding not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company by sending a written notice to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong, shall convene a special general meeting to address specific
issues of the Company within 21 days from the date of deposit of
written notice. The same requirement and procedure also applies to any
proposal to be tabled at shareholders’ meetings for adoption.

Specific enquiries by shareholders requiring the Board’s attention can be
sent in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

In addition, the Company maintains contact with its shareholders
through annual general meetings or other general meetings, and
encourages shareholders to attend those meetings.

Notice of general meeting is sent by mail to the registered shareholders
of the Company. Agenda and resolutions are set out in the notice of
general meeting. A proxy form for use at a general meeting is enclosed
with the notice. Shareholders who do not intend or are unable to be
present at the meeting should fill out the form and return the same to
the share registrar and transfer office of the Company, so as to appoint
a representative, another shareholder or the chairman of the meeting as
their proxy.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group is pleased to present its Environment, Social and Governance
Report (the “ESG Report”) for the year ended 31 March 2022 (“Year
2021/22") to demonstrate its commitment to sustainable development
in aspects of environment, social and governance (the “ESG").

SCOPE OF REPORTING

The Group is principally engaged in: (i) trading of goods; (ii) the finance
leasing business; (iii) the money lending business; (iv) the securities
and futures brokerage business; (v) international air and sea freight
forwarding and the provision of logistics services; (vi) trading of
securities; (vii) property investment; (viii) the property brokerage services;
(ix) customized technical support services; (x) the property development
and project management business; (xi) the geothermal energy business;
(xii) the building construction contracting and (xiii) centralized heating
business, in Hong Kong, the PRC and other jurisdictions. The social
data in this ESG Report covers the entire group, and the environmental
data covers the business operations of the Company in Beijing, Henan,
Shaanxi, Hebei, Shanxi and Hong Kong.

After the Group acquired a group of companies which are principally
engaged in the provision of financial information, solutions and data
analytical services to customers in finance and property related field
in the PRC in August 2021, the Group combined such newly acquired
business with its building architecture and interior design service
business, so as to provide customized technical support services to
customers in the PRC.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”)
as set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules, which covers two subject
areas, Environment and Social. Please refer to the Corporate Governance
Report in the annual report of the Company for details of corporate
governance of the Group.

This ESG Report follows the four reporting principles in the ESG
Reporting Guide, including (i) Materiality: the Group has identified a
number of issues which cover ESG, and invited stakeholders to assess
the materiality of such issues in the Year 2021/22. For details, please
refer to the section headed “Materiality Assessment” in this ESG Report;
(i) Quantitative: this ESG Report details the standards, methodologies
used and source of conversion factors used for the KPIs related to
emissions and energy consumption; (iii) Balance: both positive and
negative impacts brought by the business are presented with high
transparency; and (iv) Consistency: unless otherwise stated, this ESG
Report uses the same methodologies and KPIs as disclosed in previous
ESG reports of the Group to facilitate comparability at any time. For
the Year 2021/22, this ESG Report is disclosed under the “Comply or
Explain” provision as set out in the ESG Reporting Guide.
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GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group's ESG issues. For
the Year 2021/22, the Board and the management evaluated from time
to time the impacts of ESG-related risks towards the operation and
formulated ESG-related policies in dealing with relevant risks. The Board
ensures that the management has all appropriate tools and resources to
oversee the ESG issues. The Group highly values the opinions of each
stakeholder and regards them as the cornerstone for the development
of the Group. For the Year 2021/22, ESG governance and ESG related
issues were reviewed at regular meetings.

The Board’s ESG management approach and
strategy for material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations of different
stakeholders on the ESG issues, materiality assessment is conducted
annually by the Group. The Group ensures various platforms, and
channels of communication are used to reach, listen and respond
to its key stakeholders. Through general communication with the
stakeholders, the Group is able to understand the expectations and
concerns from its stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group
to make more informed decisions, and to better assess and manage the
resulting impacts of the business decisions.

The Group has evaluated the materiality in ESG aspects through the
following steps: (i) identification of ESG issues by the Group; (ii) key ESG
areas prioritization with stakeholder engagement; and (iii) validation and
determining material ESG issues based on the results of communication
with the stakeholders.

Engaging these steps can enhance the understanding of the degree of
importance of the Group's stakeholders to each material ESG issue, and
can enable the Group to plan the sustainable development direction
more comprehensively in the future.

The Board’s review progress against ESG-related
objectives and targets

The performance and the implementation progress of the ESG-related
objectives and targets should be carefully reviewed by the Group from
time to time. If the progress falls short of expectation or changes
of business operations, it may be necessary to make changes and
communicate about the objectives and targets with key stakeholders
such as employees, customers and suppliers.

The Group has set future strategic goals to enable the Group to develop
a realistic path and focus on the development direction for achieving its
visions. The ESG working group will carefully examine the attainability
of the targets which should be weighed against the Group’s philosophy

and goals.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group stays in close contact with it stakeholders, including
investors, governments and regulatory bodies, employees, customers,
suppliers, society and the public. Through constructive communications,
it welcomes different opinions from stakeholders and strikes a balance
among their interests, so as to determine the long-term development
direction for its business. As for the main expectations and appeals of
stakeholders, the Group has established corresponding mechanisms and
communication channels as follows:

HERERKRS

FhESA

AEEEFNEQREREE BNFREEE
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Stakeholders Expectations and appeals Communication and feedback
& HASZ MR R B i BB R
Investors e Financial results e To improve profitability
BEE BT RERNED
° Corporate transparency ° Regular information disclosure
EFEPE AEEEKE
° Sound risk control e To optimize risk management and
2 B P internal control

Governments and regulatory e Compliance with laws
bodies and regulations
B BB E AR BETAA
e  Tax payment in accordance
with laws

RIENTIR

Employees e Career development platform
EE ’ BEERTE
o Salary and benefits

HENER

e Safe working environment
Z2 TFIRIR

Customers e Customer information security
=5 ERERZER
e Customer rights and interests
protection
EREDRE
e Good service guarantee

R RFBIRIE

Suppliers O Integrity cooperation
@%ﬁ HMIEE1F
*  Business ethics and credibility
BRERRGE

Society and the public *  Environmental protection
HERAR HERR

° Employment opportunities

PERE

BERBEERANEEE

° Compliance operation
BREE

e Tax payment in full and on time

R B BT

° Promotion mechanism
=ars 1l

o Competitive salary and employee
benefits

A5 ZENREMANE TER

e To provide trainings for employees and
strengthen their safety awareness
AETRHEEN MBS T RE2RE

= uﬁt

° Customer privacy protection
RIEE R AR

e Compliance marketing
BiEHE

e To provide reliable energy products and
services

R P S B BE TR K AR 75

e To build a responsible supply chain
TEaEENHERE

e To perform the contract according
with laws

RERITER

° To put into use environmental
protection and energy saving
equipment
RIREIAERER AR

e  To provide employment opportunities

RMLERA
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

According to the ESG Reporting Guide, the Group collects and identifies
the issues of concern of major stakeholders through questionnaire
survey and interview, analyzes and sorts the issues to determine the
Company’s important issues in ESG for relevant disclosure. The results
of the materiality assessment will be used to guide the Group in
formulating future environmental, social and governance plans and
objectives, in a bid to creating sustainable value for stakeholders.
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Based on the communication with various stakeholders, the Company ATRFEHEKZIFMHENEE B HNE
has identified the following issues as well as their respective priorities: BAREEUHFRTE
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ENVIRONMENT

To adhere to its commitment to sustainable development and to comply
with the requirements under relevant laws and regulations related to
environmental protection, the Group has been dedicated to reducing
the impact of its operating activities on the environment.

Emissions

The development and utilization of geothermal energy of the Group
may have some environmental impacts, including but not limited to:
(i) thermal pollution; (ii) air pollution; (iii) water pollution; and (iv)
soil pollution. The Group has conducted an environmental impact
assessment with reference to the requirements of the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China.

In the Year 2021/22, the key environmental performance indicators of
the Group's emissions are set out as follows:
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For the fifteen
months ended

Environmental indictors Unit Year 2021/22 31 March 2021

#ZE2021%F
3831HL

IRIBIEIR B 2021/225F & 1588

Air emissions (Note 1)

EEm kg (Hz—)

Emissions of Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 90.60 186.19

KA1 (NOx) BERX T

Emissions of Sulfur oxides (SOx) kg 0.47 0.36

&%) (SOx) B T

Emissions of Particulate matter (PM) kg 0.74 1.39

R (PM) BERK T

Greenhouse gas emissions

BERBEHEK

Direct emissions (scope 1) kg COze 13,179 64,604

BiFEEWR (#E—) Tr_aRkEE

Indirect emissions (scope 2) (Note 2) kg COze 8,077,053 5,459,998

M @E@E =) (=) Tr_aRkEE

Other indirect emissions (scope 3) kg COze 264,207 62,902

HihfEgm @E=) Tr_aRkEE

Total greenhouse gas emissions kg COze

(Note 2 & 3) 8,354,439 5,587,504

BERBHREE W —R=) Tr_fRkEE

Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions kg COze per employee

(Note 2) 25,164 13,899

BERBHREE Wz ") Tr_SIEREE

BREE
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IR - HEREGRS

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

The emission factors used in the calculation of air pollutants are sourced

from the EPD Vehicle Emission Calculation model and the Vehicle Emission

Modeling Software of the United States Environmental Protection Agency.
These factors are calculated on the assumption that the relative humidity is
80% and the temperature is 25 degrees Celsius with an average speed of 30
kilometers per hour and include running exhaust emission only.

The data of emissions for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2021 has been
restated to reflect the actual emissions.

Greenhouse gas emissions (direct and indirect) and the removals can be

categorized into the following three separate scopes:

scope 1:

scope 2:

scope 3:

Greenhouse gas emissions that attribute to business owned or
controlled by the Group (primarily from the fuel consumption of
vehicles) and the greenhouse gas emissions removals from newly
planted trees.

Greenhouse gas emissions occurred in the production process
resulting from generation of electricity purchased by the Group
from electric power company.

All other indirect greenhouse gas emissions generated outside the
Group, including (i) methane gas generated at landfill by disposal
of paper waste; and (ii) indirect emissions due to electricity
used for processing drinking water/sewage water by external
institutions.
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The Group’s five-year target is to reduce the air emissions and the
greenhouse gas emissions intensity by 5% respectively based on the
Year 2021/22 baseline by the Year 2026/27.

Emission reduction

IRIE - ERERRS

AREBWSFEHHBIZEN2026/27F E /IR
B2021/22FEENEERERIENREAEE
REEBEMZE DRI/ 5% °

Environmental KPIs targets Benchmark year Status

IRIGRARERIER gz F=E BESF Ak R&

Intensity of NOx emissions Reduce by 5% Year 2021/22 In progress
by the Year 2026/27

NOBFRZ 122026/27F E AR5 % 2021/22F & EiTH

Intensity of SOx emissions Reduce by 5% Year 2021/22 In progress
by the Year 2026/27

SOFFREE 12202627 F E AR5 % 2021/22F & EiTH

Intensity of PM emissions Reduce by 5% Year 2021/22 In progress
by the Year 2026/27

PMBERE & 12202627 F E AR5 % 2021/22F & EiTH

Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions Reduce by 5% Year 2021/22 In progress
by the Year 2026/27

BERBEHREE 122026/27F E AR5 % 2021/22F & EiTH

The Group adheres to the principle of “Three Simultaneously”, i.e. the
environmental governance design should be designed, constructed and
put into operation simultaneously with the main part of a project. The
Group's construction causes environmental impact during construction
and operation, and the main pollution generated and protection
measures taken include pollution and protection during construction
and after use.

In order to reduce the dust pollution at the construction sites, the
Group sprinkles water at regular time on the construction sites every
day to prevent dust generation, and increases the volume and frequency
of sprinkling water on windy days. Solid wastes produced during the
construction period are mainly domestic waste and waste residual soil
generated during construction, which will be collected in dustbins and
then sent to refuse disposal plants by sanitation workers for disposal.
And the waste residual soil will be cleaned up and transported in time.

The wastewater generated during the construction period is mainly
domestic sewage and wastewater generated from construction
activities. The construction wastewater mainly contains sediment
and suspended matter, which will be collected first and then treated
before discharged to the sewer pipe. The wastewater generated during
operation is mainly the heat pump room cleansing wastewater and
system leakage wastewater. The wastewater will be discharged from the
new pipe to regional existing storm water system.
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For the fifteen
months ended

Waste Unit Year 2021/22 31 March 2021
#ZE2021%F

383181k

BEY) B 2021/225%E 1588
Total hazardous waste produced kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
FREX B EREEYES T2 i@ A i A
Hazardous waste intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable
FIE4X B EREEMEE T/ S4EE i@ A i A
Total non-hazardous waste produced kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
FRE4XREEEYES T2 i@ A i A
Non-hazardous waste intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable
FIE4XBREEEYEE T/ S4EE i@ A i A

As the Group only generated insignificant amount of non-hazardous
waste in its business activities for the Year 2021/22, relevant data
were not quantified. Non-hazardous waste mainly includes domestic
waste and waste residual soil generated during construction, which
will be sent to refuse disposal plants by sanitation workers for disposal
regularly. In addition, there were no relevant data as no hazardous
waste was generated in the Group's operation. If any hazardous waste
is required to be disposed of, the Group will engage professional
institutions to dispose of it.

For the Year 2021/22, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance of any relevant laws or regulations relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({FF
EAREMEIRIERZEL)) and the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution ({7 ZE A
EHMBEARSEYIAE)). In addition, no major fines or sanctions
relating to the non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
have been received for the Year 2021/22.

The Group aims to maintain zero production of hazardous waste and
minimal production of non-hazardous waste by the Year 2026/27.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Use of Resources

The Group recognizes importance of environmental sustainability and
endeavors to minimize the impact of business on environment through
adopting numerous energy-saving and conservation initiatives. The
Group's policy is to ensure compliance with applicable environmental
laws and regulations and minimize its environmental footprint
through efficient use of resources and adoption of pro-environmental
management. The Group's eco-friendly measures at the office are as
follows:

e  staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-conditioning in the
meeting rooms and computers at work stations when not in use;

e whenever possible, documents are handled electronically other
than by using physical papers;

° staff is reminded to save water;

e  staff is encouraged to reuse paper printed only on one side and
duplex printing and copying. Data on printing and copying is
regularly reviewed to assess efficiency of paper usage;

° recycled office supplies are provided whenever possible; and

e  conference calls instead of face-to-face meetings are arranged
where possible.

In addition, a series of energy conservation and emission reduction
measures has been adopted for the Group's businesses of heating and
cooling supply by geothermal energy and centralized heating in order to
reduce the use of resources effectively.

To save electricity, the Group added transducers to electrical equipment
in the plants, which effectively adjusted the power of motors and
enabled them to operate at variable speeds, so as to achieve the goal of
energy saving.

The Group introduced advanced environmental facilities to construct
dry coal sheds in the plants, which could avoid natural losses caused
by wind and rain and therefore reducing environmental pollution. Such
construction also effectively prevented coal clogging in boilers due to
wet coals caused by wind and rain, and eliminated the fluctuation of
environmental data due to the unstable bottom temperature of boilers.

The Group set up a slag cooling system in the plants to recover waste
heat, improve the thermal efficiency of boilers, and reduce energy
consumption. Slag coolers facilitated the temperature of heated slags to
decrease from 900°C to below 100°C, i.e. approximately 2.5 GJ of heat
being recovered per hour based on the calculation of 12 tonnes of slags
being disposed per hour. Without considering heat loss, the amount of
heat collected from slags per hour approximate to that of about 150kg
of coals, which indirectly improved the surrounding environment.
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In order to enhance employees’ awareness of energy saving and
emission reduction and management’s sense of responsibility and
mission of fulfilling such goals, the Group organized trainings on every
Saturday to continuously teach them knowledge, good methods and
tips, make modest improvement to unreasonable practices, and keep
to make technological innovation, thereby making advancement in the
work of energy saving and emission reduction to improve efficiency.

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group’s use of
resources for the Year 2021/22 are set out in the table below:

FEERTIRSBIHEERMPEEHE KR
BARFBEEEASHEFHERENEER
B R SE/AABIEI FETRER A
# o BIlF A E N NEPT BASENM A
EIT/NBUNG  AET M TR R RN AE
BB TER AR E R RE W e

1202122 E > AEBEREANRRIR
BB ISR BT ¢

For the fifteen
months ended

Environmental indictors Unit Year 2021/22 31 March 2021
HE20215F
383181k
IRIGIEIR Efl 2021/225E 1518 B
Total energy consumption by type
BB SHRERERES
Electricity purchased for consumption
(Note 1) kWh 8,912,647 6,058,654
BEENHEE Wit—) T REF
Fuel consumption of vehicles (Note 2) kWh 48,831 235,386
BEARIFEE (Wi Z) TR
Total energy consumption (Note 1) kWh 8,961,478 6,294,040
RERHFEARE (W5t —) T EE
Energy consumption intensity (Note 1) kWh per employee 26,992 15,657
SERHERE (Wit —) TERE S4RE
Water resource
KEIR
Total water consumption m3 298,272 32,858
wmIEKE K
Water consumption intensity m3 per employee 898 82
FEKBE YHEK/BRHREE
Packaging materials used (Note 3)
BERMEMERE H2=)
Packaging materials used for finished
products kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
SLpY om P A B8R ML Fr B EMA
Packaging materials intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable
FRAaEMERE F=/84EE8 B B
Energy sold to third parties
M=% HERNLER
Total heating (geothermal energy) kWh 63,979,723 39,540,033
BRR OZREE) B8 TR
Total steam tonnes 100,174 178,338
HEIREE 4
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Note 1:  The data of energy consumption has been restated for the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2021 to reflect the actual emission volume.

Note 2:  The Group uses the conversion factor of the Energy Data Manual issued by
the International Energy Agency to convert units of data collected (gasoline
and diesel) into KWh.

Note 31 No packaging material was consumed for the Year 2021/22 as the Group's

business does not involve the use of packing materials.

The Group started the centralized heating business after becoming the
reorganization investor of a company, which is principally engaged in
the business of providing the heat and steam supply services in the
licensed area of Yuncheng, Shanxi through centralized pipe networks,
in September 2020. The Group's electricity purchased for consumption
for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2021 only included the data
of the centralized heating business for 5 months, while the data of the
Year 2021/22 included the electricity purchased for consumption of this
business for 12 months, so there was more electricity purchased for
consumption.

During the Year 2021/22, the Group did not encounter any difficulties in
obtaining suitable water sources.

The 5-year target of the Group is to reduce the total energy
consumption intensity and water consumption intensity by 5% by the
Year 2026/27, respectively, based on the Year 2021/22 benchmark.

IRIE - ERERRS

Mist—: #HZE2021F3831HLE1SERERNEEEH
BELEY) URMEBEI RS-

WEZ . AEERAEERERE S HNAREIEFM
SRR TIEAT SN SR G hRah B
BAERATRE

WE=: ARAEBEF AT RGERER WP

2021/22F B FOHFE B EM K

AEBMN2020F98 A — B LFEZE
BRKRERIHFENXLETEBEPERR
HEAREREBRBFEZENRIDZEAR
BEEB HBEERHAER - AEEEHE
2021383 1HIESEANEEE HEE
REETERHRERSER D EIR M
2021/ 22F ERBIETZEBI12ERMHH
BEENEE WEEENEERZ

1R2021/22F E > AEBEEKREGER KRS
E KRB ENERI R 2 -

AEBMWSERBIZEN202627FEE /IR
HB2021/22FEENEB DB MERE R HFE
BERFEKBERL5%

Environmental KPIs Reduction Target Benchmark Year Status

IRIBRARERIER B4y B 17 HEF R &

Total energy consumption intensity Reduce by 5% by the Year Year 2021/22 In progress
2026/27

REERHERE 122026/27F ERIEIE5% 2021/225 #EiTH

Water consumption intensity Reduce by 5% by the Year Year 2021/22 In progress
2026/27

FEKBE 122026/27F ERIEIE5% 2021/225 #EITH
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Environmental and Natural Resources

Featured with energy conservation, low carbon, and environmental
protection, developing geothermal heating is in compliance with
national policies. Such features determine that geothermal heating can
be a realistic choice to replace fossil energy such as coal on a large scale
and optimize the energy structure.

As a clean renewable energy, geothermal energy has the following
advantages: (i) geothermal central heating can achieve regional
modularized central heating without laying a large area of centralized
heating network, and its heating cost is lower as compared with that of
fossil energy; (ii) geothermal resources are environmentally friendly and
clean and renewable, and do not produce waste gas or waste residue,
which is of great significance for the reduction of haze and smog and
suspended particles; and (iii) through the technology of geothermal
reinjection into the same reservoir bed, the heat-extracted tail water is
recharged into the same reservoir bed to achieve the renewable use of
geothermal resources.

While the National Development and Reform Commission, the National
Energy Administration and the Ministry of Land and Resources jointly
published the “Thirteenth Five-year Plan on the Development and
Utilization of Geothermal Energy” ({#IZASERFEEF] AT+ =FJ322])) on
23 January 2017, which proposed to “innovate the geothermal energy
development and utilization mode, actively develop the geothermal
energy market, and comprehensively promote the effective utilization
of geothermal energy in accordance with the general requirements
of advanced technology, environmental friendliness and economic
feasibility”, and mentioned that advantages such as “promoting
hydrothermal geothermal heating based on the combination of
centralized and decentralized methods, and replacing traditional heating
with clean energy heating under the guiding principle of taking heat
but not water”. Those advantages will be beneficial to the sustainable
development of the Group’s business.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group’s projects for supplying heat are mainly applied in Hebei,
Shanxi and Shaanxi, etc. In order to improve the environmental quality
of these regions, the Group has constructed geothermal energy heating
projects to control the use of fossil energy and reduce emissions of
carbon dioxide and suspended particles, so as to improve the regional
environmental quality. These constructions bring both higher economic
benefits and important social benefits.

Climate Change

The continuous emission of greenhouse gas leads to climate change. In
response to climate change, the Group refers to the framework of the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) of Financial
Stability Board to assess climate-related risks. There are two main types
of risks, which are: (i) physical risks associated with climate change
impacts; and (ii) transition risks associated with low-carbon economy.

The climate-related risks identified by the Group are mainly structural
damage to buildings caused by the increase in frequency of extreme
weather events and flooding due to changes in rainfall patterns. Such
climate change may affect labor management and planning, and also
increase the risk of work-related injuries for the employees. In addition,
there is a risk that the Group's infrastructure and machines may be
damaged by climate change, and facilities damage will affect operations
and lead to an increase in operation costs.

In response to the above climate-related risks, the Group has purchased
employee injury insurances for all employees. Such insurances cover
expenses for employees’ injuries due to weather conditions. The Group
has also purchased relevant property insurance for all construction
projects, operating projects and the Group’s key fixed assets to cover
property losses due to weather conditions and reduce maintenance costs
that may be required.
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SOCIAL

The Group believes that employees are its greatest asset which is crucial
to its continuous development. The Group establishes and operates
prudent human resources policies and practices strictly in compliance
with laws and regulations in respective jurisdictions where the group
entities are carrying on business. The Group updates and improves these
policies and practices regularly by taking into consideration the health
and well-being of its employees. All employees are kept abreast of any
updated policies and practices through internal memoranda.

Employment

Total workforce by gender

iteg

AEERD BINREENEE  HHEEF
BEREHEEZ - AEERREEEEE
EREEBRERBZEENEARER
HEMRBREZENADERBERKRIED -
AEBTEHEMNTEELEBRKIED
THETHREMBUAEZSEERN -FTEE
THAEBABHESE T BELEERMN
TBHIBYE M E R o

12 1%

Total workforce by age group

BERNESNETHAH BRERERNIDNETHAH
Female —— Above 50 — Under30
g3 5058 L 30T
13% 14% 11%
g 30-50
87% 30-50%%
75%
Total workforce by employment type Total workforce by geographical region

RERSREISNETRH

Parttime ———
TR
2%

Full time The PRC
2H R
98% 90%
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

As of 31 March 2022, the Group had 332 employees. The following
table sets out the Group's employee turnover rate by category for the
Year 2021/22:

Employee turnover rate (Note 1)

BERKLEE (MisE—)

IRIE - ERERRS

HZE2022F3831H AEEA332ME
B o REBP2021/22F ER T EEERIE 5
MEERKLEXZEHIT -

Year 2021/22
2021/225%E

By gender

g lE (b

— Male
B

— Female

g3

By age group
FEaR AR 2D
— Under 30
30 AT
- 30-50
30E505%
— Above 50
5058 A £

By geographical region
it 32 & 15 8
- Hong Kong
BHE
— The PRC
FRE

Note 1:  The employee turnover rate by category is calculated by dividing the total
number of employees lost in that group by the number of employees in the

corresponding group.

The Group offers competitive remuneration and employee benefits
to attract talented staff and use a performance-based remuneration
system to motivate and reward them in line with their contributions to
growing its business. An employee’s remuneration is determined with
reference to performance and market benchmarks. Salary levels are not
differentiated by gender. Salaries and benefits are in accordance with
local minimum wages or above. All employees are treated fairly and
equally, and their rights and interests are also protected.

The Group provides and maintains various statutory benefits for its staff,
such as mandatory provident fund, medical and work injury insurance,
sick leave, funeral leave and maternity leave, etc. It regularly reviews
packages and career advancement opportunities, particularly for key
positions, to ensure continuing market competitiveness.
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The Group establishes objective basis of key qualities and requirements
for candidates in its hiring processing and assess the suitability of the
candidate to avoid risks of discrimination or bias. Job openings are
also offered to all qualified employees with good work records, so as
to promote career advancement among employees as well. Consistent
criteria are applied to assess both internal and external candidates
regardless of age, sex, race, nationality or physical disabilities to ensure
fair judgment and avoid any risk of favoritism or discrimination.

All work are reasonably assigned and should be performed voluntarily
by employees, and fair and reasonable working hours are arranged to
respective staff in accordance with various job needs. All employees
may resign upon reasonable notice and should not be dismissed for
unreasonable grounds.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare for the Year 2021/22. The Group strictly complies with local
laws and regulations relating to employment, such as the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Employment Contracts. In addition, there was no
circumstance of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations for the Year 2021/22.

Health and Safety

The Group's business includes the exploration and development of
geothermal resources and geothermal energy heating projects, which
mainly involve two types of hazards, one is the hazards or adverse
effects caused by natural factors, generally including earthquakes,
poor geology, high temperature in summer, low temperature in winter,
lightning strikes and other factors; and another one is the hazards
arising from the production process, including harmful dust and poison,
fire and explosion accidents, mechanical injuries and electrical injuries,
burn injuries due to high temperature, falling injuries and other factors.

To protect employees from the impacts of occupational hazards, the
Group requires that the project must be designed in accordance with
the "Hygienic Standards for the Design of Industrial Enterprises (GBZ
1-2010)"((TE B ERFHERE) (GBZ 1-2010)) and the “Code
for Design of Industrial Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning (GB
50019-2015) "((TEREBRA LT RBEHRTFHRE) (GB 50019-
2015)) to prevent heatstroke. Measures such as heat insulation,
ventilation, and heating shall be adopted in accordance with the
requirements of the specification in the design to ensure a good
working environment for the operation, maintenance and production
personnel.
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The Group has also carried out the design of overvoltage protection and
grounding of equipment in accordance with the requirements of the
"Technical Regulations for Design of Overvoltage Protection for Power
Equipment” (B /1% H1AE B RERSTRTERE)) and the “Technical
Regulations for Grounding Design of Power Equipment”{ (& 7J:% 1%
MRS MTARIZ ) ), which include the design of anti-static for outdoor
equipment. Moreover, outdoor equipment such as pumps and other
equipment should be installed with lightning rods as direct lightning
overvoltage protection facilities.

In addition, the noise generated by the heat pump units and circulating
water pumps operating in the exploration and development of the
project may cause hearing damage to the staff. Therefore, the Group
provides effective personal protection measures for the staff working in
noisy operation positions and also requires them to wear ear plugs, ear
muffs, etc. while patrolling or operating, so as to minimize the exposure
to high intensity noise environment and reduce the risk to human body
as far as possible.

For the Year 2021/22, number and rate of work-related fatalities and
lost days due to work injury are set out as follow:

Work-related fatalities

EIET

Year 2021/22

2021/22% E

IRIE - ERERRS

AEETRRB(ENRBBERFRERS
BAMARIE) KRB R FHIBMR T RMRIE)
NERETBERFRENIZHMARE > H
PEEEIRFEOHFERS > BEIR
BUIKREEBEBREH FHEEREBRE
BRREERR I ©

BN > T8 B 8h £R Ko i 38 R B AT HYEA TR 1K AR
MBERAREENBRS D ETHB TEM
BHBRE-FHIt *EBREEFERE
BWITIFAESRMEEMBVEADEE > 75
BRMPIEETRENIREROAMEE
E-HEH BUSERVESREREIRE
THEE REHAENES-

122021/22F E > AITRRT ABKRIFETEY
RATHEROIERHIIEHNT

For the
15 months ended

31 March 2021 Year 2019
HZE2021F
383181
1518 B 20195 &

Number of work-related fatalities
AT ERAEMIE T BI AR
Rate of work-related fatalities (%)

ETIERAHMIETRIEER (%)

Lost days due to work injury
RTHEXEXTEBRH

Year 2021/22
2021/225 E

Lost days due to work injury

HIGEANIIFEH

For the Year 2021/22, there were no work-related accidents, therefore,
there were no lost days due to work injury and no work-related
fatalities.

For the Year 2021/22, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that has a significant
impact on providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards. The Group strictly complies with
the local laws and regulations relating to health and safety, such as
the “Safety Production Law of the People’s Republic of China” ({Fh2E
AREMBEZZ2EE.)) and the “Regulation on Work-Related Injury
Insurances of the People’s Republic of China” ((FREAREME TS
RE21EH)) . In addition, there was no circumstance of significant fines
or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations for the Year 2021/22.
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Development and Training R EEI

The Group encourages employees to attend appropriate courses to KNEBETHBE T2NMABRIEIIZERE R
enhance their competence for performance improvement and career FRIBHNERBEZER T AEETIR
development. They are also encouraged to attend appropriate external SXENE T 2B & @RS T EIHRAETR >

job-related courses or to acquire higher professional qualification to HESFSHNEEER B HENIRE

enhance their competence and performance. All new employees are M eFFEFEEMNELFIE S ABIRUFE
briefed by the department heads to ensure the employees are aware and RIESMBRANEAEENBEEKE
familiarize themselves with the Group’s values and goals and to ensure 12> FERES THREN AEBNES -

the employees understand their role in the Group.

Year 2021/22
2021/225 E

Average training hours per employee (hours)

SRRERE TR ()

Average training hours employees completed by gender
B RE 3R 8 197 R AR B
— Male (hours)
S ()
— Female (hours)

Lt UNE)

Average training hours employees completed by employee category
RESEHNISNEE FHTERZINRH
— Senior Staff (hours)
= &R VINEF)
- l\/IiddIe Staff (hours)
AR (NBF)
— Junior Staff (hours)

AR VB

Percentage of employees trained (Note 7)

RiEEB AL (W57 —)

Percentage of employees trained by gender (Note 2)
RN SNRNRBEB DL WZE )
- Male
St
- Female

g3

Percentage of employees trained by employee category (Note 2)
RESENISNZIREBT S WD)

Senlor Staff

= 4R

- l\/IiddIe Staff

AR
— Junior Staff

AR

Note 1:  Percentage of employees trained is calculated by dividing the number of  Mfsk— :

trained employees by the number of employees.

Note 2:  Percentage of employees trained by employee category is calculated by Mz — -

dividing the number of employees trained in that category by the number of
trained employees.
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Labor Standards

The Group from time to time reviews its employment practice and
the Group’s guidelines on staff recruitment to ensure that it is in full
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations on the prevention of
child labor and forced labor in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group adopted stringent requirements in selecting employees. We
require job applicants to provide information such as identity cards,
proof of highest academic qualifications, professional certificates and
proof of separation from previous employment for identity verification
during recruitment. In the event that child labor or forced labor is
employed within the Group in violation of regulations, the Group will
immediately terminate the labor contract and, after identifying the
reasons, impose appropriate penalties on the non-compliant employees.

For the Year 2021/22, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance of the laws and regulations relating to the prevention of
child labor or forced labor. The Group strictly complies with the local
laws and regulations related to labor standards, such as the Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Provisions on Prohibition of
Child Labor. In addition, there was no circumstance of significant fines
or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations for the Year 2021/22.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has established internal control procedures for the selection
of suppliers. The Group requires that: (i) environmental certificates
shall be verified before the shortlisting of suppliers and environmental
ratings shall be approved by professionals; (ii) only those suppliers who
have been shortlisted in the resource pool are allowed to participate
in the bidding process; and (iii) during the bidding process, assuming
that all suppliers meet the technical requirements, the expert panel
shall rate their environmental ratings and environmental solutions, with
the supplier with the highest rating being the preferred supplier and
the supplier with the second highest rating being its reserve supplier
(selected only if the preferred supplier waives to continue to perform the
bid).

“Energy saving and environmental protection” is our highlight in
rendering services and selling products, which also echoes with the
environmental protection concept of our customers. Therefore, the
Group will give priority to those suppliers with eco-friendly products
to differentiate our products from those of other competitors, so as to
achieve differentiated marketing.

While the Group has established good relationships with its suppliers,
the Group also offers equal opportunity to all potential business
partners. Selection criteria such as quality and price of products,
supplier’s reputation, background and experience are key factors to
the Group’s procurement decisions. Furthermore, the Group expects its
suppliers to strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations.

For the Year 2021/22, the number of suppliers by geographical region is
as follows:

Geographical region
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Product Responsibility

The Group is responsible for its products and services and does not
engage in unfair business activities of any kind. Fraud, misleading
information, or any acts that destroy customer confidence or infringe
customer rights are strictly prohibited. The Group has also strictly
complied with relevant products and services related regulations.

For the commodity trading business, the Group has established
procedures for the recycling of products. After recycling, the Group tests
the products for environmental attributes and assesses whether the
products meet the future technical conditions for recycling purposes as
far as possible. For the Year 2021/22, the Group has not received any
products subject to recycling for safety and health reasons from our
customers.

For customers’ complaints, the Group will conduct corresponding
follow-up procedures in accordance with internal procedures and
guidelines. Upon receiving a customer’'s complaint, we will promptly
contact the customer to understand the cause and discuss the solution
with the customer, conduct on-site and telephone communication
for preliminary resolution of the customer’s request and take relevant
investigation accordingly. In addition, we will carry out technical updates
or renovations based on environmental conditions for problems that
arise. The Group believes that complaints are a valuable opportunity
for it to obtain feedback from the community and customers, so as to
identify the need for service and policy improvement. The Group has
not received any complaint about its products and services for the Year
2021/22.

The Company’s data protection and privacy policy is that while
collecting, processing and using personal data of the Group's customers
in its financial service sector, appropriate measures are taken to protect
such data from unauthorized access and abuse. Personal data is
collected only for lawful and relevant purposes. Employment contracts
stipulate employees’ duty in safeguarding confidential or sensitive
information that they have had access to during their employment.

The Group is committed to protecting intellectual property rights which
are of great importance to its business. The Group has developed
a method for the management of computer software copyrights to
strictly regulate its copyright application procedures. The Group has also
established a copyright list to record information such as application
numbers, application dates and deadlines of its software copyrights.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

For the Year 2021/22, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to the health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to the products
and methods of redemption. The Group strictly abides by the local laws
and regulations related to product liability, such as the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance, the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Trademark Law of the People's Republic of China and the
Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China. In addition, no significant
fines or sanctions have been reported for the Year 2021/22.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to uphold high standards on anti-corruption.
Adequate guidelines are implemented to ensure that all employees
(including directors) adhere to high standards of business and
professional and ethical conduct. All employees are encouraged to raise
any related concerns to the senior management in a strictly confidential
manner. Any matters of genuine concern are to be thoroughly
investigated and actions will be taken accordingly.

For the Year 2021/22, the Group provides its directors, senior
management members and relevant employees with training packages
for directors and professionals prepared by the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (ICAC). The training packages cover the corruption
risks faced by directors, senior management and professionals of a
company during the preparation for listing, ordinary business operation
and takeovers and mergers, and dissect issues such as corruption, fraud,
conflicts of interest, cross-border bribery, backdoor listing and insider
trading.

To the best knowledge of the Company, the Group has been compliant
with all relevant anti-money laundering laws. The risk of establishing
relationships with individuals or organizations engaged in money
laundering or terrorism activities are minimized by the implementation
of "know your customer” and assessment processes. The Group has
robust internal control procedures in place to provide reasonable
assurance against fraud. For the Year 2021/22, the Group has not been
involved in any corruption lawsuits.

The Group holds license or approval required for the provision of money
lending services, finance leasing services and regulated activities under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The management supports a
culture of integrity, zero tolerance for bribery and ensures that business
is conducted in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

For the Year 2021/22, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. The Group strictly abides by the local laws
and regulations related to anti-corruption, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance, the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China.
In addition, no significant fines or sanctions have been reported for the
Year 2021/22.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Community Investment

The Group is fully aware of the importance of interacting with the
wider community in fulfilling corporate social responsibility, and has
been eager to take initiatives in making cash donations to charitable
organizations and supporting the local communities and neighbors.

The Group would explore the possibility of finding suitable partners
and make contribution to community and environmental protection
programs which facilitate positive changes. The Group would also from
time to time encourage its staff to support community service activities.

In the Year 2021/2022, the world has been affected by the COVID-19
pandemic. In order to ensure the health and safety of our employees,
the Group suspended our organization and participation in community
activities this year, and will consider to resume the relevant activities
once the COVID-19 pandemic is under control.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Yingqian (Chairman), aged 58, has been appointed
as non-executive director of the Company since June 2018 and
redesignated as executive director since October 2019. She holds a
bachelor degree of Economics from Renmin University of China (FRE]A
ERA2)and a qualification of intermediate economist issued by Ministry
of Personnel of the PRC (FAZE AR FEFMEI AFEF) . Ms. Wang worked in
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Beijing Municipal Branch (FR[E]
TER1TIER™217) from 1985 to 2006 and was the deputy general
manager of its corporate banking department from 2005 to 2006. She
worked in Bank of Communications Beijing Municipal Branch (3238 %R
1736 ™% 17) from 2006 to 2016 and served as its vice president from
2010 to 2013 and was a director of Bank of Communications Financial
Leasing Co., Ltd. (RiIRERAEBREEAE]) from 2010 to 2012. For
the period from April 2017 to March 2019, Ms. Wang was an executive
director of Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited (currently known
as Hong Kong Chaoshang Group Limited), a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2322). For the period
from March 2016 to January 2020, she was the supervisor of Fortunes
United International Leasing Co., Ltd. (BH#cBEEREHEEERA
B]), a company established in the PRC. She has also been appointed as
(i) an independent director of ABC Life Insurance Co., Ltd, a subsidiary
of Agricultural Bank of China Limited (stock code: 1288) since March
2018, and (i) an independent director of Bloomage Biotechnology
Corporation Limited since March 2019, the shares of which has been
listed on the Science and Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688363) since November 2019. Ms. Wang
has over 30 years of experience in the commercial banking industry and
have extensive experience in project management and financing.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Qin Jie (Chief Executive Officer), aged 55, has been appointed
as executive director since January 2020. He graduated from Beijing
University of Civil Engineering and Architecture* (JIREHE KX
2) (formerly known as Beijing Institute of Architecture and Civil
Engineering* (A REE T L)) with a bachelor's degree in
engineering in 1990 and obtained the qualification of senior engineer
in December 2000. Mr. Qin has nearly 30 years of experience in the
real estate construction management industry. He served as the chief
engineer of COSCO Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (FRizE#
EREARAT) (stock code: 3377) (currently known as Sino-Ocean
Group Holding Limited G2/¥EBHZERBRAT)), which has been
listed on the Stock Exchange since 2007, from 2002 to 2004. He was
the project general manager, general manager of the intercity company
and regional deputy general manager of the eastern China in Neo-
China Group (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 563) (currently known as
Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group Limited (=75 2£ 1, /5 B
BEEABRAT)), which has been listed on the Stock Exchange since
1993, from 2004 to 2009. He was also the general manager of the
Beijing company and the Shijiazhuang company in Dalian Wanda Group
Co., Ltd.* (KEBEEERMHBRAE)from 2009 to 2011, and the
president of Newbeacon Group Limited* (i E ZlEEARAE) from
2014 to 2017. Mr. Qin is also the general manager and/or director of
several subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC.

Mr. Fan lJie, aged 47, has been appointed as executive director of
the Company since January 2017. He holds a Master’'s Degree in
Business Administration in Tsinghua University School of Economics
and Management and a Bachelor’'s Degree in International Economic
in Renmin University of China. Mr. Fan has over 20 years of experience
in strategic marketing and project management. He has been with
Zhongrong Trust as the Managing Director of the Trust and Investment
Department since 2014. Mr. Fan was a corporate partner and the vice
president of the Strategic Marketing Division of Adfaith Management
Consulting Inc* bR IEBE#IR P EE AR B RAE) from 2009 to
2014 and an assistant to the general manager for medical business in
an enterprise located in Jiangxi Province, the PRC, from 2003 to 2005.
In 2000 to 2002, he was appointed as the sales and distribution officer
of the Department of Medical System of an international conglomerate.
Prior to 2000, he worked as a marketing leader in the Nanchang
Office of a renowned food and beverage company for about three
years. Currently, Mr. Fan is the Managing Director of the Strategic
Development Department of the Group and the director of several
subsidiaries of the Company.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Li Haitao, aged 49, has been appointed as executive director
of the Company with effect from 1 December 2021. He graduated
from Renmin University of China in 1997 and majored in international
finance. Mr. Li has over 20 years of experience in real estate
development industry, specializing in real estate policies analysis,
land development, project management and team building. He has
successively held various management positions since he formally
entered the industry in 1997, including the deputy general manager of
Beijing Kehua Hongye Real Estate Co., Ltd.* (AL R} EE B % R ith & A F])
from 2000 to 2003; the general manager of the project development
department of Beijing New Shine Investment Group Company Limited*
(UERFMKREEBEFRAE) from 2003 to 2007; the deputy general
manager of project development of Yihai Group from 2007 to 2009;
the deputy general manager of Beijing company of Beijing Changdao
Xingye Real Estate Co., Ltd.* QR REHEREMERKZEF R A E) from
2010 to 2012; and the deputy general manager of Beijing Taihe Jiayuan
Real Estate Co., Ltd.* QIR AEZEEMERZEAREELE) from
2012 to 2019. Mr. Li joined the Group in 2019 and is responsible for
the operation of several subsidiaries of the Company. Currently, Mr. Li is
also the general manager and/or director of various subsidiaries of the
Company established in the PRC.

Ms. Tao Lei, aged 35, has been appointed as executive director
of the Company with effect from 1 December 2021. She is a PRC
certified public accountant, a registered tax advisor, a registered asset
appraiser and a tutor for master's degree in professional accounting
(MPAcc) at Beijing International Studies University. She graduated from
Tianjin University of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’'s degree
in accounting and information management in 2008 and obtained a
master’s degree in corporate management (international accounting)
from Beijing International Studies University in 2011. From 2011 to
2013, Ms. Tao worked as a senior auditor of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
and had provided services for Hong Kong listed companies such as
Shougang Concord International Enterprises Company Limited, Capinfo
Company Limited, Air China Limited and Beijing Jingneng Clean Energy
Co., Limited. From 2013 to 2020, Ms. Tao served as the group financial
controller of Sun.King Power Electronics Group Limited (currently known
as Sun.King Technology Group Limited) (a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 580). She joined the Group in
2020 and is responsible for the investment and financing.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ru Xiangan, aged 53, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company since October 2016. He holds an
Executive Master’'s degree of Business Administration in Tsinghua
University and a Bachelor’s Degree in Accounting in North China
University of Technology. He is a certified public accountant in the PRC
and has over 20 years of experience in accounting and finance and over
10 years of experience in insurance. Since January 2021, Mr. Ru has
been appointed as the vice president and person in charge of finance
of Guangdong TusCity Development Investment Group Limited* (&
BraRl R ERERKREEBARAT)and as an independent director of
Hubei Wuchangyu Co., Ltd.* GH#IEE & 8% B R A Bl) which is listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600275). From 2016 to
2020, Mr. Ru was the chairman and general manager of Chang An
Insurance Brokerage Limited* (RZRRIHEEB R AT . He was serving
as the head of the audit department in Chang An Property and Liability
Insurance Limited* (REZEERBEABRAE) ("Chang An”) from 2014
to 2017, prior to which he was appointed as the general manager of
the Zhejiang branch from 2013 to 2014 and the general manager of
the accounting department and the financial chief from 2007 to 2013.
Before joining Chang An, he served as the general manager assistant
in Beijing Zhongjing Surety Company* bR RREBEEFRAE), the
chief financial officer in Heng Tong Group* (B85 ), the deputy
chief financial officer in Beijing Beichen Innovation and Technology City
Limited* Qb RICRAIFT SR IHAF), the financial manager in San
Jiu Auto Group* (ZLVAEBZEERAT), and the deputy financial
chief in Beijing Building Materials Factory* (3t R 24 & R AR .

Mr. Liu Tonghui, aged 59, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company since April 2016. He obtained a
bachelor’s degree in international politics and a master degree in
international relations from Tokyo International University in 1995
and 1997 respectively. He has over 20 years of extensive experience
in investment activities and business management. During the period
between 1997 to 1998, he served as the representative of Nippon
Howaito Cooperation* (HZA# HH &KL &+1)in China. He had been
working as the deputy general manager in each of Shouchuang Longji
Company Limited* (ERIBEERMHBRAE) from 1998 to 2004 and
Huajian Dongfang Software Company Limited* GEREBEHHUHARE
1E£/A 7)) from 2005 to 2008, respectively. He was the general manager
of Tangshan Haigang Xingerui Company Limited* (B LB RIHE
FREEAE) from 2009 to January 2019 and the assistant president of
Unisplendour Corporation Limited * (528 B RAF]) from 2012 to
June 2019, which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000938). Since June 2019, he has been appointed as the executive
director of Qingkong Technology Services (Shenzhen) Company Limited*

(BEREMRE (RYI) BRAT).
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Ms. Yin Meiqun, aged 51, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 1 December
2021. She graduated from Shenyang University of Technology with
a bachelor’s degree in accounting in 1993 and obtained a master’s
degree in management science and engineering from Harbin University
of Science and Technology in 2001 and a doctor’s degree in accounting
from Renmin University of China in 2005. She is a PRC certified
public accountant, a council member of the Accounting Society of
China, a member of the Accounting Education Committee of the
Accounting Society of China and a member of the Expert Committee
on Management Accounting of China* (TEHIEEGHEXREED).
She was a member of the People’s Congress of the Chaoyang District of
the Beijing Municipality from November 2011 to October 2017 and has
served as a representative of the Beijing Municipal People’s Congress
since November 2017. Ms. Yin has nearly 30 years’ experience of
teaching in colleges. From July 1993 to June 2007, she taught at Harbin
University of Science and Technology. From July 2007 to August 2021,
she taught at Beijing International Studies University and successively
served as the finance director, auditing director of the university and
the dean of School of Business. She was re-designated as the head of
department, a professor and a doctoral supervisor of the Department of
Finance and Accounting of China University of Political Science and Law
in September 2021. She has been serving as (i) an independent director
of Beijing Life Insurance Co., Ltd. since March 2018, (ii) an independent
director of Shandong Chenming Paper Holdings Limited (a company
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock
Exchange respectively, stock code: 1812 and 488) since June 2019, and
(i) an independent director of Shanggiu Ding Feng Wood Co., Ltd.* (7
ERREKRERNHABRASE) (@ company listed on National Equities
Exchange and Quotations (also known as the New Third Board), stock
code: 873459) since May 2021.

Senior Management

Mr. Ho Yu, aged 47, has been appointed as the company secretary and
chief financial officer of the Company since May 2013. Mr. Ho received
a master’s degree of Accounting from Curtin University of Technology,
Australia. Mr. Ho is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ho
was the company secretary and/or financial controller for two companies
listed on the Stock Exchange.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 80 of the annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Particulars of a discussion and analysis on the activities specified in
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong
Kong), including a fair review of the Group’s business, a discussion on
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of
important events affecting the Company that have occurred since the
end of the financial period and future development in the Company's
business and analysis using financial key performance indicators, are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Message”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report” and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.
The above sections form an integral part of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and suppliers are keys
to its sustainable growth and development. The Group is committed to
establishing a close and caring relationship with its employees, providing
quality services to its customers and enhancing cooperation with its
suppliers.
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Employees

Employees are crucial assets of the Group. The Group strives to
enhance employees’ sense of belonging and loyalty to the Group. The
Group provides a fair, healthy and safe workplace, promotes diversity,
provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career development
opportunities based on their merits and performance. The Group
also aims to commit resources to providing employment training and
development opportunities so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at the same time,
improve their skills and performance in their respective positions and
build up confidence and self-esteem. The Group also values and is open
to receiving feedback from employees with an aim to foster a good and
long-lasting relationship.

Customers

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide products and services in a
way that satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
strives to enhance the relationship with customers by continuous
interaction and communication with customers so that the Group can
respond proactively to cater for customers’ needs. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints to
ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and timely
manner. During the year under review, the Group has maintained good
relationship with its customers.

Suppliers

The Group is also dedicated to developing a good relationship with
suppliers and contractors as long-term business partners to ensure
stability of the Group’s business. The Group reinforces business
partnerships with suppliers and contractors by ongoing communication
in a proactive and effective manner so as to ensure quality and timely
delivery. During the year under review, the Group has worked closely
with its suppliers and maintained good relationships with them.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda and therefore the Company
is subject to relevant laws and regulations in Bermuda. In addition, the
Company is registered as a non-Hong Kong Company under Part 16
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) and
therefore is subject to the relevant provisions under the Companies
Ordinance.

The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and therefore the
Company is subject to the governance of the Listing Rules including the
disclosure requirements and corporate governance provisions therein.
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Under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), the Company is
required to maintain a register of interests in shares and short positions
and a register of directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions and is obliged to disclose price sensitive or inside information.

The Group is principally engaged in (i) trading of goods, (ii) the finance
leasing business, (iii) the money lending business, (iv) the securities and
futures dealing and related consultancy services, (v) international air and
sea freight forwarding and the provision of logistics services, (vi) trading
of securities, (vii) property investment, (viii) the property brokerage
business, (ix) the building architecture and interior design business and
data analytical business, (x) the project management business, (xi) the
geothermal energy business, (xii) the building construction contracting
business, and (xiii) centralised heating business, in Hong Kong, the PRC
and other jurisdictions, and therefore is subject to the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, the PRC and other jurisdictions where the
Group entities are carrying on businesses.

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.
During the period, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s securities during the year ended 31
March 2022 (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, in the opinion of the directors, the Company had
no reserves available for distribution to shareholders (31 March 2021:
Nil).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Yinggian (Chairman)
Mr. Qin Jie (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fan Jie
Mr. Li Haitao

(with effect from 1 December 2021)
Ms. Tao Lei

(with effect from 1 December 2021)
Mr. Liu Wei

(ceased on 3 February 2022)
Mr. Chen Wei

(ceased on 3 February 2022)

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ru Xiangan
Mr. Liu Tonghui
Ms. Yin Meiqun
(with effect from 1 December 2021)
Mr. Liu Haiping
(ceased on 29 April 2022)

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Li
Haitao, Ms. Tao Lei and Ms. Yin Meigun will be subject to re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Qin
Jie and Mr. Liu Tonghui shall retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has any service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Each of the directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which can
be terminated by not less than three months’ or one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive directors are still independent.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'

EERFTETHRASRKRMG 18

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, ARG REEEZEGTRXE

UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the directors W _ZE - =B =+—H BZKFTE
and chief executives and their associates in the shares and underlying {THABMURKREZHMEANKTATKRE
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in BB % B 2 BR 1D K ABRA IR o0 > HEA IR IE
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the B HEHAEKEAEIS2IKEATETEFE
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange B iCfiFrscst > iR 2 ETEBER1TH
pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

ERRNB MRz Em XA

Long position in shares of the Company MRERBRNZEFE
Percentage of
the issued
share capital
Capacity Interest in shares of the Company
HEATEET
13 B 1R HE = =L
(Note)
Name of Director EENlA (Ff33E)
Mr. Liu Tonghui A e Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.66%
BEREAA
Mr. Qin Jie mARE Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.20%
BEREAA
Mr. Li Haitao FHERE Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.20%
BEREAA
Ms. Tao Lei MEZ+ Beneficial owner 2,692,000 0.18%
BEREAA
Note: The percentage is calculated on basis of 1,525,284,939 shares of the Company in Mzt : BRI ERAATINR_E__F#=A=+—H

issue as at 31 March 2022.

Z BEITHRD1,525,284,9390 A EFHH o

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the directors R EXFRIRBEEWN N _EBE__F=1
and chief executives, nor their associates, had any interests or short =+—H ' EBEZELRTBTRASHHE
positions in any shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of HZHME AR EKATIZETAEE LB 2

its associated corporations.
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SHARE OPTIONS
2012 Share Option Scheme

The 2012 Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution
on 22 May 2012. The 2012 Share Option Scheme was terminated after
passing the resolution by the shareholders on 1 September 2021. Upon
the termination of the 2012 Share Option Scheme, no further options
would be granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme but the options
granted prior to such expiry continued to be valid and exercisable in
accordance with provision of the 2012 Share Option Scheme. As at 31
March 2022, no outstanding options were granted but not yet exercised
under 2012 Share Option Scheme.

2021 Share Option Scheme

The 2021 Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution
on 1 September 2021 (the “Adoption Date”) and took effect from 2
September 2021 (the "“Effective Date”). The purposes of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme are to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to provide additional incentives or rewards to employees, directors,
consultants, business associates and advisers of the Group for their
contribution to the Group and to promote its success. The 2021 Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the Effective Date. The terms of the 2021 Share Option
Scheme are in compliance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

Eligible participants of the 2021 Share Option Scheme include the
following persons:

(@) any employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which
any member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(b) any directors, non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest;

(d) any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any entity in which any
member of the Group holds any equity interest;
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(e) any shareholder of or holder of any securities issued by any
member of the Group or any entity in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest; and

(f)  any other group or classes of persons or entities from time to time
determined by the Board as having contributed or may contribute
to by way of joint venture, business alliances or other business
arrangements to the development and growth of the Group.

The total number of shares of the Company available for issue under
the 2021 Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”) or the date of refreshing the Scheme Mandate Limit approved
by shareholders of the Company in general meeting. The maximum
number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options which may be
granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each participant (other than a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director as explained below) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their associates, are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors of the Company
(excluding any independent non-executive director who is the grantee
of the options). Where any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their respective associates (as defined under the Listing
Rules) would result in the Company's shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person(s) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant (a) representing in aggregate over 0.10 per cent of the Company’s
shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, such further grant of options is subject to approval by the
shareholders of the Company in compliance with the Listing Rules.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted in writing by a
participant within 21 days from the date of offer upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period for
the share options granted is determined by the Board, which period
shall not be more than 10 years from the date of acceptance.
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The amount payable of each share to be subscribed for under an option
in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion and must be at least the higher of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant (which must be a
business day);

(i)  the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

No option has been granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries,
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in this annual report. None of the related
party transactions constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, was a party and in which a director
of the Company or an entity connected with a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, none of the directors of the
Company had any interest in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2022.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the following
persons other than the directors or chief executive of the Company,
in the Company’s shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and which have
been recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO, were as follow:

EEEN

BE_Z__HF-RA=+—HLEE-#
B UNGFERERAETRBDEHBEBNEM
BEABDEFZEERITHRZ G-

FERRZIRMED RIS
22
ATECCEZAZH RO UTRAA
T AFFAFEERTBTHAR) R
AT RIPREB RS R E G BEXV
HEREIDBARAATRERDLH
RAASIRE RS RPEHHE336157
BraaMzgaRsanT:

Percentage of
the Company's

Name Capacity Interest in shares issued share capital
ERAT
e g 513 R fn s BEITRAT AL
(Note 4)
(Mizxa)
Wang Baoning (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 244,296,000 16.02%
ITRE (M&E1) REGIABES
Sunbow Int'l Enterprise Limited (“Sunbow”)  Beneficial owner 244,296,000 16.02%
(Note 1)
Sunbow Int'l Enterprise Limited (T Sunbow ) B#H#EA A
(Fszt1)
Yeung Yat Ping (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 115,935,000 7.60%
tB—5 (HEE2) REGIABES
Ping Pacific Limited (“Ping Pacific”) (Note 2)  Beneficial owner 115,935,000 7.60%
Ping Pacific Limited (M Ping PacificJ) (Mft3E2) EHEE A
Wang Yicheng (Note 3) Beneficial owner 90,720,000 5.95%

5 (PH5E3) BREAA

Notes:
(1) 244,296,000 shares are held by Sunbow. As Mr. Wang Baoning has the 100%

shareholding in Sunbow, by virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in all
the shares beneficially held by Sunbow.

(2) 115,935,000 shares are held by Ping Pacific. As Mr. Yeung Yat Ping has the 100%
shareholding in Ping Pacific, by virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in
all the shares beneficially held by Ping Pacific.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22

M5E -

(1) 244,296,000 8% 15 FHSunbowiF 5 c AR 1R &
FEEBEASUNbowZ 100% M » IRIEEZH KIS
&6 > BB IER Sunbow B B WA RH
AW -

(2)  115,935,0008& & 17 EAPing PacificiF A o AR —
S EBEAPIng Pacificz100% 84 > IBIEEH K
HAE 1R WARARERPing PacificB I iF A MFT
BRGPIESER



(3) 59,970,000 shares and 30,750,000 shares are held by Mr. Wang Yicheng and
Glorious Investment Enterprise Ltd respectively. As Mr. Wang Yicheng has the
100% shareholding in Glorious Investment Enterprise Ltd, by virtue of the SFO,
he is deemed to be interested in all the shares beneficially held by Glorious
Investment Enterprise Ltd.

(4)  The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,525,284,939 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2022.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short position in the issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 March 2022.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group’s sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
period is as follows:
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B AREZERRP RHEEGEEAEERH
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Percentage of the Group’s total

ERERLBENE L
Purchases Sales
REERR HERR
The largest customer RARER - 32%
Five largest customers in aggregate ARERGE - 81%
The largest supplier RAMER 27% =
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hAHEREEG ST 47% -

At no time during the year, have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float throughout the year ended 31 March 2022 and as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for
director’s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its
directors and senior management arising out of corporate activities. The
permitted indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the directors
as required by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622,
Laws of Hong Kong) when the report of the directors is approved in
accordance with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622, Laws of Hong Kong).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Events after the reporting period of the Group is set out in note 50 to
the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the auditors
of the Company, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Qin Jie

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Hong Kong, 28 June 2022

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22

EESFRERX

AABTEMHEERSREEE A EmMmE
HEEEBMEE Z ERFR FHBRE
EERBRBEBZEREEZBERRR
- BRNEFNm 2 EEFBERR
BEBEAF622E R EMERIHATOFERE
REERREBREEBEFFE622851F
RASE3N(NIFEB BRI EA Y -

HEHRREIR

AEBZREHEBRETEHNGETHBRE
M$z¥50°

1% B4 B

BHE - _FZH=+—HLFEZE
BB RECHARNDZBMPERZE
SN EHRERABDSEZ MPERE
S MEBAERABDSENERREE
FAELFRIVEERBEBEREERAT S

B

REREER

BARKE
BITEFRITHAEH

BE B _FXBZ+N\H



Independent Auditor’s Report

;L

ZHONGHUI

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA BEST GROUP HOLDING LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Best
Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 80 to 210, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March
2022, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March
2022, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2022 in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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vERYR A ClTE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of goodwill for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance
of goodwill of approximately HK$273,707,000 as at 31 March
2022 and the impairment loss on goodwill for the year ended
31 March 2022 of approximately HK$14,000,000 are material to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgements and is based on
assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the identification of the related cash generating
units;

—  Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the value-in-use
calculations;

— Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow
projections;

— Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
(including revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth

rates and discount rates);

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuers engaged by client;

—  Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for goodwill is
supported by the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Loans and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, other
loans and interest receivables, promissory note
receivable and contract assets

Refer to Notes 32, 26, 28, 33, 42 and 29 to the consolidated
financial statements

The Group tested the amount of loans and interest receivables,
finance lease receivables, trade and other receivables, other
loans and interest receivables, promissory note receivable and
contract assets for impairment. These impairment tests are
significant to our audit because the balances of loans and
interests receivables, finance lease receivables, trade and other
receivables, other loans and interest receivable, promissory note
receivable and contract assets of approximately HK$399,230,000,
HK$4,914,000, HK$624,359,000, HK$9,252,000, HK$90,000,000
and HK$370,760,000 respectively as at 31 March 2022 and the
impairment losses on loan and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables and trade and other receivables for the year ended 31
March 2022 of approximately HK$22,987,000, HK$10,296,000
and HK$548,000, respectively are material to the consolidated
financial statements. In addition, the Group's impairment test
involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

Assessing the Group's procedures on granting loans limits and
loans periods to borrowers;

—  Assessing the transaction history with the borrowers;
—  Evaluating the Group's impairment assessment;
—  Assessing aging of the debts;

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the borrowers, guarantors and
the value of collateral pledged,;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the borrowers; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
in the consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

ii. Loans and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, other
loans and interest receivables, promissory note
receivable and contract assets (Continued)

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for loans and
interest receivables, finance lease receivables, trade and other
receivables, other loans and interest receivables, promissory note
receivable and contract assets are supported by the available
evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company’s annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA’s website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/
auditing-assurance/auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Chi Hoi

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07268

Hong Kong
28 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

maRmkHEMEERRZR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 8t —&E _— _tF =5 =+—HIFFZE

Year ended 1 January 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
B=E TETRE
—ﬁzz —ﬂ HZE
JJ:EE =B=+—H
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
M 5E FAET FHET
Turnover =R 9 858,457 1,186,284
Revenue: Wz . 10
- Trading of goods —EEdm 345,620 571,418
— Provision of international air and sea —REEEMERE LEE
freight forwarding services R 1,242 1,975
- Consultancy income from finance leases —RdEHEREM A 2,296 2,689
— Interest income from finance leases —REBEREEFNEWA - 257
— Interest income from money lending —EEHEWA 23,763 25,366
— Brokerage commission and dealing income— %%%ETFH}_EZEI%U\ 1 1
- Consultancy income from securities and 385 R ERE K42 B R AR TS
future brokerage related services EE A 363 -
— Property brokerage commission income  —#JE &L EE A - 45,345
— Heating and cooling supply by geothermal —3t 24 BEHBE 8L )%
energy 18,410 17,994
— Construction contracting services fee —BERKERBEWA
income 329,451 438,187
— Heating supply and industrial steam —{HBE R TZEZ [ UWA
income 64,629 29,218
— Project management service income —IEE BERBHA 44,758 45,484
— Interior design service income —ERNRFTRBHA 10,024 4,559
— Rental income —HEETWHA 7,075 =
- Data analytical service income —BIE D ITARTS UL A 10,825 =
858,457 1,182,493
Operating costs: B
- Cost of trading goods sold — B EmmiHEmA (340,515) (563,903)
— Cost of providing international air and sea — 312 (I R 2= K i F 5 &
freight forwarding services AR 75 AY A< (810) (1,240)
— Cost of providing brokerage and dealing —i2H& 4L & B ERF A4
services (1) (M
— Cost of providing property brokerage — IR ELLRIEHA
services (2,077) (17,343)
— Cost of heating and cooling supply by ~ —#hZAFEHEEE R4 B2
geothermal energy (14,011) (17,187)
— Cost of providing construction contracting — 42 {7 2 & 61 IR 75 Al 2=
services (287,317) (393,344)
— Cost of providing heating supply and — IR EE ;e T2 AR AR
industrial steam (65,065) (29,696)
— Cost of providing project management — —iZ2{{IEE EMEIRFE A2
service (8,261) -
- Cost of providing data analytical services —3g (&R D T ARFS AL A& (8,566) -
— Cost of providing interior design services —i2HERRstIRFIEAMAE (1,346) =
(727,969) (1,022,714)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meiRmkEMEEERER

1177 [ |
For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

Year ended ! January 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
gE —EIEF
g —BA—H=
=A=+—H B —fF
IEEE =A=+—H
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET FET
Other income Hug A 12 10,632 50,789
Administrative and other expenses TEREMEEH (51,135) (85,769)
Staff costs BB 13 (81,398) (111,318)
Finance costs I 13 (37.357) (36,649)
Fair value gain on step acquisition of DTWERB AR Z
subsidiaries N EW = 4,198 =
Unrealised gain/(loss) on fair value change R &Y AN FEEE
on investment properties REEIRWNE, (B518) 20 6,572 (1,026)
Realised gain on financial assets AT EFAEERD
at fair value through profit or loss ETHEEZEERKER - 2,326
Unrealised gain on fair value change AT EFAEERD
on financial assets at fair value through ETHEEQATEES
profit or loss FEIR W 30 18,521 9,982
Gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries HERBATZ
W, (B518) 45 48,221 (5,351)
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—MBEQATDZWa - 11,409
Impairment loss on finance lease receivable FEUWREETE &G R EEE 26 (10,296) =
Impairment loss on trade and other [ LT BR R R ELfth FE W =R B
receivables B E 28 (548) =
Impairment loss on loans and interest EWERRH SR ERE
receivables 32 (22,987) -
Impairment loss on goodwill mEREERE 21 (14,000) (23,622)
Share of (loss)/profit of associates DMEBE AT (B8) 5F (406) 8,297
Share of (loss)/profit of a joint venture AME—EEE AT
(#518) /& # (1,593) 472
Loss before tax PRI AIES 18 (1,088) (20,681)
Income tax expense Frigtifa sz 15 (10,035) (15,728)
Loss for the year/period F/HHRNEIE 13 (11,123) (36,409)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
meEmkHMEEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 8t —&E _— _tF =5 =+—HIFFZE

Year ended 1 January 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
gE —Z2TZ2F
g —B—HBZz
=B=+—H B
IEEE =A=+—H
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M sE FAET FHET
Other comprehensive income (expenses) Efth 2 &z (Z 1)
Items that may be reclassified B EH R EEEm ZEHE .
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on MEBIINEBTES:
translation of foreign operations Z EREEE 21,583 33,152
Share of other comprehensive PMEHERE 2
income of associates Hih2mlam - 66
Translation reserve released upon deemed fRIEHEHE AT B
disposal of associates FRIREE R A 7 -
Translation reserve released upon HEWBARE
disposal of subsidiaries HRBREE R 1 (934) 23
Items that will not be subsequently HETFEEHTHEE
reclassified to profit or loss: EmZEE
Fair value loss on financial assets at AT EFAEM
fair value through 2ENEZEMEE
other comprehensive income NEEEEE = (2,590)
20,656 30,651
Total comprehensive income/ g /HHRzEikE
(expenses) for the year/period (Zi) 48%8 9,533 (5,758)
Loss for the year/period attributable to: LA FFE(LE HARES1E ¢
— owners of the Company I N/NSIEZ Y =N (6,349) (42,578)
— non-controlling interests —FEER RS (4,774) 6,169
(11,123) (36,409)
Total comprehensive income/ ElEE HAREERE
(expenses) for the year/period (ZH) #8%8 -
attributable to:
— owners of the Company I N/NSIEZ Y =N 12,325 (17,344)
- non-controlling interests —FEER RS (2,792) 11,586
9,533 (5,758)
Restated
KE7|
Loss per share SEE 17
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —E AR EE B (0.45) (3.65)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EEMBEIRAR

As at 31 March 20228 —&E - —_F=HF=+—H
2022 2021
—EgE_C —_EF"—
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Iz FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEMEE 18 286,958 274,640
Right-of-use assets FREEE 19 17,663 11,074
Investment properties SEME 20 129,026 117,582
Goodwill mmE 21 273,707 148,886
Intangible asset EmEEE 22 811 811
Interests in associates REENE 2w 23 24,572 77,901
Interests in joint ventures RNEERNB ¥R 24 5,192 1,677
Financial assets at fair value BAFEF AR
through profit or loss Z2EMEE 30 29,633 10,679
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFAEMEE
other comprehensive income Rz EMEE 25 8,640 8,640
Loans receivables B E= 32 30,113 17,000
Other loans receivables HiEWERR 33 - 3,559
Regulatory deposits EERE 205 205
Deferred tax assets FIERIBE E 36 9,410 9,042
815,930 681,696
Current assets RENEE
Inventory 75 27 4,430 3,915
Finance lease receivables W E R E RIS 26 4,914 15,947
Loans and interest receivables W ER KT B 32 369,117 393,898
Other loan and interest receivables HEWERKRFE 33 9,252 79,543
Trade and other receivables JFE Wi BR =k e ELAth FE U =R 18 28 624,359 371,181
Properties under development for sale BERIPEEYE - 86,282
Contract assets BHEE 29 370,760 296,061
Promissory note receivable FEWUR 2 Eis 42 90,000 90,000
Amounts due from a joint venture EWR—MEEE AT 2B 24 2,222 =
Bank balances and cash IRTTAERRIRSE
— trust and segregated accounts — B REILIRE 31 3,855 4,042
Bank balances and cash IRTTAERRIRSE
— general accounts ——fRER P 31 46,049 50,307
1,524,958 1,391,176
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
EEMERRR

As at 31 March 20220 — & - —F =/ =+—H

2022 2021
—E-- BT —F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
IS FET FET
Current liabilities REAaE

Trade and other payables FETRR A R E eI =R IB 34 655,202 577,436
Contract liabilities ABHEE 29 10,805 13,540
Lease liabilities HEaR 35 14,944 6,793
Trust loans LB 37 246,940 237,299
Short term loans RHE® 38 27,286 20,170
Bank loans RITEM 39 88,900 11,865
Amounts due to a joint venture EN—E&EEARZHRIE 24 123 119
Amounts due to an associate B —BME R T 2B 23 - 16,631
Tax liabilities GIREE=R 32,339 23,928
1,076,539 907,781
Net current assets MEIEEFRE 448,419 483,395
Total assets less current liabilities HEERTBERE 1,264,349 1,165,091

Non-current liabilities ERBMERE
Consideration payable FE B - 9,945
Lease liabilities HEAas 35 3,841 5,429
3,841 15,374
NET ASSETS BEFE 1,260,508 1,149,717
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 March 20222 —_&E - —_F=F=+—H

REMBRRR

2022 2021
—EgE_C —_EF"—
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
[ THET FHET
Capital and Reserves B2 B 5 1

Share capital [N 40 152,529 101,686
Share premium and reserves R im B R E 1,056,896 998,457

Equity attributable to owners of EN/NSIE XS DNy
the Company 1,209,425 1,100,143
Non-controlling interests JEER R 51,083 49,574
TOTAL EQUITY ErE 1,260,508 1,149,717

The consolidated financial statements on pages 80 to 210 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June
2022 and are signed on its behalf by:

Qin Jie

Director

EF

FYOBEF2I0B G BHREENRZ
T TEANBIHN\EBKREZRHERE
BT W TAMREE

Tao Lei
&
Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
:-\T\A*‘Eﬁnﬁﬁﬁ

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE
Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed  Translation Statutory  revaluation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
Bx  RMEE  BARER  AERE  ITEE REEGEE  ZHER it FEEREE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER THER TER TER TER
(Note i) (Note ii)
(ki) (e
At 1 January 2020 RZ5Z%%5-F-H 508,428 1,005,094 1,996 (44,053) 3,908 (30,520) (327,225 117,628 87) 1,117,541
Loss for the period HNEE - - - - - - (42,578) (42,578) 6,169 (36,409)
Other comprehensive income (expenses)  EARELMI 2T WA () :
for the period:
Exchange differences arising on HEENEERELERER
translation of foreign operations - - - 21,735 - - - 21,735 5417 33,152
Fair value loss on financial assets BATEHAEM2 ARG
at fair value through other SRHEEZATERR
comprehensive income - - - - - (2,590) - (2,590) - (2,590)
Share of other comprehensive income  HEBEATZ B2 ARG
of associates - - - 66 - - - 66 - 66
Translation reserve released upon HERBADRRRER RS
disposal of subsidiaries - - - 3 - - - 3 - 3
Total comprehensive income (expenses) A2 ENE (i) BE
for the period - - - 21,824 - (2,590) (42,578) (17,344) 11,586 (5,758)
Capital reduction (Note 40) FRAAIE (5E40) (406,742) S 406,742 S S S S S = =
Acquisition of subsidiaries hEHBAR - - - - - - - - 77,032 77,032
Capital njection by non-controlling FERRRIE
shareholders - - - - - - - - 548 548
Disposal of subsidiaries HERBAT - - - - - - - = 1472 (141
Consideration on disposal of HRFEEREE
an associate distributed to HE-BREATRE
non-controlling shareholder - - - - - - - - (24,934) (24,934)
Change in ownership interests in T’z‘%‘ BUEEHTH-HHEL
a subsidiary without change of control o - - - - - - (141) (141) 141 -
At 31 March 2021 101,686 1,005,094 408,738 (16,229) 3,908 (33,110) (369,944) 1,100,143 49,574 1,149,117
At 1 April 2021 RZZZ-£ME-H 101,686 1,005,094 408,738 (16,229) 3,908 (33,110) (369,944) 1,100,143 49574 1149717
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (6,349) (6,349) (8,774) (11,123)
Other comprehensive income (expenses)  EREMAENE () :
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on HEENEEREL ERER
translation of foreign operations - - - 19,601 - - - 19,601 1,982 21,583
Translation reserve released upon REHEREATRERERHE
deemed disposal of associates - - - 7 - - - 7 - 7
Translation reserve released upon HENBLAAGRRESBE
disposal of subsidiaries - - - (934) - - - (934) - (934)
Total comprehensive incomef(expenses)  FAZENE/ (i) BB
for the year - - - 18,674 - - (6,349) 12,325 (2,792) 9,533
Issue of rights shares (Note 40) BTHRBRG (i) 50,843 50,843 - - - - - 101,686 - 101,686
Transaction costs attributable to issue o~ EfTHEBREERFAA
new ordinary shares - (4,729 - - - - - (4,729) - (4,729
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBAT - - - - - - - - 4301 4,301
At 31 March 2022 RIBZZE=A=1-H 152,529 1,051,208 408,738 2,445 3,908 (33,110) (376,293) 1,209,425 51,083 1,260,508
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Note i:

Note ii:

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A EmEER

For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

The contributed surplus of the Group represents (i) the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 1996
and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange and (ii)
the credit arising from the capital reduction by cancelling the par value of the
paid-up capital of the Company on 2 September 2020.

In accordance with the People’s Republic of China (the "PRC") Company Law
and the PRC subsidiaries’ Articles of Association, a subsidiary registered in
the PRC, prior to any dividend distribution, is required to appropriate 10%
of its annual statutory net profit as determined in accordance with relevant
statutory rules and regulations applicable to enterprises established in the PRC
(after offsetting any prior years’ losses) to the statutory reserve. When the
balance of such reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior
years' losses or to increase capital. However, such balance of the statutory
reserve must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the capital after such
usages. The balance is reclassified to retained earnings at the date of disposal
of the subsidiary.

B 5 -

Bt & -

FEBZBABBRIBNERBDROK—ANN
FEEBHERZAARAE (M) TR
EHR RBEEFMBBENE AR Z RN EE
BEATMMBETZARBDROEBZER
RINVKRZBZZFENA_HBEBFHEELAT
BRRAEENREHBFTEENER-

RIEREARFEME (T E) A 8%k B
BrEZABERMR RPEZRMER
BEER D IKEMRKRE A RIS EEE AT
BI0% TN EE M - SFEEMATHIRES
RPEMIz CEBRZAMEERRRE
REE (BEHERSTRFEER MZEE
EBRIEEBREERMNS0%  AIFEZRTE
R RIE — 2 B SR TE A R A IEES ST Al
FEZBERIIEMBRE - AW EREERHE
BRZBRRBRERTERZ25% AEEFI1H
EWNBAREHENDEERERN -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AREFRER

For the year ended 31 March 2022 6F —

E__F=F=F—HIFFE

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22

Year ended 1 January 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
gE —ETEF
—E=Z= —B—HB%
=A=+—H 5" —
tFEE =A=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REER
Loss before tax FRIQAIES 18 (1,088) (20,681)
Adjustments for: T TFIBEELAE
Amortisation of intangible assets ML BEEEH - 4,067
Depreciation of property, ME-BERIBITE
plant and equipment 11,127 11,325
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 13,463 24,811
Gain on disposal of associates HEBE AT Z NG - (11,409)
Gain on lease modification mEET s (39) (26)
Finance costs N {a%: 37,357 36,649
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, HEME -BERREZ
plant and equipment 518, (W) 1,239 (300)
(Gain)/loss on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBABR Z (WE) EE (48,221) 5,351
Reversal of impairment loss on & U Al &5 FE & TR IE R (B B 1R )
finance lease receivables - (1,624)
Share of loss/(profits) of associates DMEBE AR, GEF) 406 (8,297)
Share of loss/(profits) of a joint venture HME—REEATEE (EF) 1,593 (472)
Unrealised (gain)/loss on fair value change & EYE AT EEEH
on investment properties #IN (W) B8 (6,572) 1,026
Realised gain on financial assets at fair BAFEFABRZEHMEE
value through profit or loss BERWE - (2,326)
Unrealised gain on fair value BAFEFABRZEHMEE
change on financial assets at REBEEE 2 RER WG
fair value through profit or loss (18,521) (9,982)
Fair value gain on step acquisition of DEWERB AR 2 AFEWE
subsidiaries (4,198) -
Interest income from bank, RERT - HEMERERK
other loans receivables and R R ER ZF] EWA
promissory note receivable (6,041) (15,468)
Government grant BT #EEh (3.886) (32,466)
Impairment loss on finance lease FEWRERERIBERERE
receivable 10,296 -
Impairment loss on trade and & U AR TR EL M FE W R IR (B E5 18
other receivables 548 -
Impairment loss on loans and FEWE R KR S RERE
interest receivables 22,987 -
Impairment loss on goodwill mmERERE 14,000 23,622




Consolidated Statement of Cash FIows

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & & —

—E - —#EC S+ —HIEE

Year ended ! January 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
BE —ECEE
—E=Z= —A—H=E
=Z=B=+—H T —fF
IEEFE =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FET
Operating cash inflow before EEESHF 2 KEREMN
movements in working capital 24,450 3,800
Increase in trade and other receivables JFE WA BR 0 e L th FE U =R IE 12 AN (206,396) (111,855)
Decrease in finance lease receivables & W Bk 5 AR & R IE R D 1,219 6,247
Decrease/(increase) in cash and bank R RIBTERRRLD 7 (8
balances—trust and segregated account —EERBIURE 187 (757)
(Increase)/decrease in loans and FEWE R RF B (g Bl
interest receivables (11,319) 11,056
Decrease/(increase) in other loans HthEWEREM B R,/ (1Em)
and interest receivables 76,684 (3,420)
Increase in trade and other payables FEE < B R0 B L A1 < =R TE 3G 1D 173,568 302,762
Increase in properties under development 3B PS5 EY) £
for sale (16,025) (31,818)
Increase in contract assets Aﬁ’]iﬁ}}fi il (74,699) (202,348)
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities SH8aE CEL) /1Em (2,735) 9,142
Decrease in regulatory deposits %EB{%H"\ - 1,500
Decrease in financial assets BAFEFABRZEMEERD
at fair value through profit or loss - 3,613
Increase in inventory FEEM (353) (1,248)
Cash used in operations MEXEBRAREE (35,419) (13,326)
Income tax paid [SENIFIECT (5.258) (9,941)
NET CASH USED IN REESFTARES R
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (40,677) (23,267)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FEHERER
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 8t —&E _— _tF =5 =+—HIFFZE
Year ended 1 January 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
gE —Z2TZ2F
—E=Z= —B—HB%
=A=+—H =
ItEE =ZA=+—H
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Mok FHET FHET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REES
Interest received from bank, other loans R B R1T - EthERE K
receivables and promissory note BREWAREE
receivable BUF R 5,483 19,515
Net cash outflow from acquisition WERB AR ZIRER
of subsidiaries PER (73,434) (152,579)
Repayment of consideration payables BEEMRE (47,259) =
Net cash outflow from acquisition WENB AR Z2RE
of subsidiaries accounted for as TR (ARIA
assets acquisition BEWE) 44 = (82,230)
Acquisition of associates WS AT = (1,187)
Cash outflow from investment in KE—BEaERRZ
a joint venture BE&mH (5,062) (1,187)
Refund of acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — I B AR 2B - 30,000
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from disposal HE—RBNBRREZRE
of subsidiary WA CRih) B A8 45 23,336 (4,159)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BEREE
plant and equipment SRS L] 176 300
Purchase of property, BEME BEKRKSB
plant and equipment (13,923) (41,733)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REZHFMAREFE
ACTIVITIES (110,683) (233,260)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES MEEE
Receipts of government grant BT B U A 3,886 11,015
Net proceeds from right issue AP 1S RIE 28 96,957 =
Advance from an associate RE—EHE AT - 9,311
Advance (to)/from a joint venture (|) /E—E&aE A5
B (2,222) 119
Payment of trust loans interest FHETLETFE (24,342) (26,458)
Payment of short-term loans TR EM (20,170) =
Payment of short-term loans interest FTEBAERFE (3,086) =
Payment of bank loans ZIRITEM (12,347) =
Payment of bank loans interest SIRITERFE (1,790) =
Net payment to non-controlling BIEERRRER ZREER
shareholders - (13,062)
New borrowing from trust loans KEEXERZIER - 237,299
New borrowing from short term loans REEBAERZMER 27,286 20,170
New borrowing from bank loans REWITERMZIMER 88,900 11,865
Capital injection from FFERRRAE
non-controlling shareholders - 548
Repayment of lease liabilities and interest {EEAESEKRFE (16,201) (32,402)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

MAREMAER

Year ended | January 2020

31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
HE TECTE
== —BA—H=
=A=+—H BT —F
IEEE =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
NET CASH GENERATED FROM MEEERRSZIRE R
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 136,871 218,405
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH HER\EEEEEEZ LD
EQUIVALENTS B (14,489) (38,122)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS WZZEZ—HMA—R~
AT 1 APRIL 2021/1 JANUARY 2020 —TEF—H—HZ
HeEkFEEEEIER 50,307 97,451
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate [EXEH) 7 5 & 10,231 (9,022)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RE/HRZHEEREAS
AT THE END OF YEAR/PERIOD, SEIER S LIRS GR R
represented by bank balances and cash REFER 46,049 50,307
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

1. GENERAL

China Best Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries (together with the Company
referred to as the “Group”) are set out in note 48.

Pursuant to a resolution of the board dated 19 June 2020, the
Company’s financial year end date has been changed from
31 December to 31 March commencing from financial year of
2020/2021. Accordingly, the consolidated financial statement
for the current year is from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2022. The
corresponding comparative amounts shown for the consolidated
statement for profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity, consolidated
statement of cash flows and related notes cover a fifteen months
period from 1 January 2020 to 31 March 2021 and therefore may
not be comparable with amounts shown for the current year.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

(a) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following new
and revised HKFRSs (which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS"), and Interpretations) issued
by HKICPA for the first time for the consolidated financial

statements.
HKFRS 4, 7, 9 and Amendments in relation to Interest
16 and HKAS 39 Rate Benchmark Reform

HKFRS 16 (Amendments) Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. FER#r
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

(a) New and amended standards adopted by

(b)

the Group (Continued)

The Group concluded that the application of the
Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRSs and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
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has had no material impact on the amounts reported and/or BESGEMBERERMERS

disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements.
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New standards and amendments to (b) =EE HRIZAIRMAIZ
standards issued but not yet effective for Z_—-FUA—HRKRZ
the accounting period beginning on 1 April SEHEIREEME N KRE
2021 and not early adopted by the Group Wz #ETHE A R ZEAIME ET
Zs

Effective for

accounting

periods

beginning

on or after

MU THEAK

Z®EBRZ
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HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts 1 January 2023

SRV BRSENETH e e =

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Classification of liabilities as current or non-current 1 January 2023

SR EAEIR (B5TAX) BEZRESIERBDE “E=5—F—H

HKAS 1 (Amendments) Amendments in relation to disclosure of accounting policies 1 January 2023

ERGEIE1R (B5TE) EE S BURRIR B Z BT “E-=£—F—H

HKAS 8 (Amendments) Amendments in relation to definition of accounting estimates 1 January 2023

BEGEERESH (BT X)
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

ERGTERE 125 (B5T4)
HKAS 16 (Amendments)
EEGEAF165 (B:TA)
HKAS 37 (Amendments)
BEAGTERE375 (BT K)
HKFRS 3 (Amendments)
ERAMBREERFEIFR (BFTA)
Amendments to HKFRSs
BEVBRGEN ZEE]
HK-Int 5
EHBREESR
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)
BEEVBRESENE10%K
BT ERFE285 (BFTA)

Annual improvements to HKFRS Standards 2018-2020 Cycle

EEAMBREEN - N\FE_Z_TFRMAZBEFNE —T”_"_F—F—H

Amendments in relation to Amendments to HKAS 1

EBGTENFIE (B 28] “E-=F—HF—H

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture

B st E B 2 BT ZEZ=-F—F—H
Amendments in relation to deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single transaction

HEXRE-—XZNEERGEHEMNRLEREZE
Property, plant and equipment: Proceeds before intended use
M- BB RRE  RERRAZMEHNE “E_"F—-F—H
Onerous contract-cost of fulfilling a contract
BEESH-BANE

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

1 January 2023

—®_=f-A—-8
1 January 2022

1 January 2022
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1 January 2022
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1 January 2022
1 January 2023

To be determined
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2. FERH:TREZESTS

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

(b) New standards and amendments to
standards issued but not yet effective for
the accounting period beginning on 1 April
2021 and not early adopted by the Group
(Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment on
the impact of these new standards and amendments to
standards but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new standards and amendments to standards would have
a material impact on its result of operations and financial
position.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments and
investment properties that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) to exercise its judgements in the
process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving
critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed
in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its financial
statements using accounting policies other than those adopted
in the consolidated financial statements for like transaction and
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are
made to that subsidiary’s financial statement in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with the
Group's accounting policies.

Control is achieved when the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s return.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Income and expenses of a subsidiary are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the result of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including
any components of other comprehensive income attributable to
them), and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest,
with any resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in
profit or loss attributable to the Group. When assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets and liabilities (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as
specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
incurred to effect a business combination are recognised in profit
or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the business combination
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes;

o assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance
with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement of
the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with the
share-based payment transactions of the Group are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance
with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 %2 — & — —F=H =+—HIFFEZ

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another standards,
are measured at acquisition-date fair value except for non-
controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured either at fair value
or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets on
a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent
consideration that is within the scope of HKFRS 9 is measured at
fair value at each reporting date, and changes in fair value are
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9. Other
contingent consideration that is not within the scope of HKFRS 9 is
measured at fair value at each reporting date and changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. During the measurement period (see
above), the provisional amounts recognised at the acquisition date
are adjusted retrospectively or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised as of that date, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability
to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate
in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the
carrying amount of the investment and is tested for impairment
together with the investment at the end of each reporting period
when there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Associates (Continued)

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of
the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the
consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. If
the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the
profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group's share
of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that associate and any related accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve. If an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues
to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the retained
interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Joint Ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group
and other parties undertake an economic activity through an
entity that is separate from the parties and subject to joint control.
Investment in a joint venture is stated at cost less impairment
losses.

FTETHHER®

HtEAE @

FEESG—EHREQDWBR DN
HHEEN AT EmESE  ME DGR
BrEREHINGEERHEBES I
BRNRFEHNZRENREEF
LA - HAEES G —BBHEQT
BERENABBEENZBE AT AR
o (BEEAEMEERENRIER)
AEBITGE-—THEIGE BFRIER
BEESERANBELS LR
M E AR HERESHN  BAERE
EREDEENFRED(EARERE
B® MERSSEDENZRF BN -

BRREBERFENZHE—BKE
REZBBERNHERBAFENL
REZBERDRENEARENAF
BRINVAERDGZBEATNEE
FEMNELEANERZBMEATNGRT
BEUREMEBMRFINSERHEE
MEZEHER - B —BHE
AFNKREERN —BEERFNK
B AEEEBERARDEZTABEE
WMEtEmEEm -

AERRHBEAT ZENZZHR
B G UEEBREE QTR
m A RT LU o BRIFA R 7 IR 58
BREPAFTEEEE LT RE TRIK
BHEGETTUHNBE - BMEQATNG
SR E R 2R /FL 28 LUER
BAREBPTRABRERM—-

BE QT
BERRRAEREHMTNSER
BUNRSTMBERHERBES ZBREL

EREBEERHZ—EBENRH-REE
NBZKRERM A BRERBEYR

EFEEEZERERAT 2021/225F 3R

101



102

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Joint Ventures (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method. The investment is
initially recorded at the transaction price (including transaction
costs) and is subsequently adjusted to reflect the Group's share of
profit or loss after the date of acquisition. The Group's share of the
profit or loss of the joint venture is recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss. Distributions received from a joint venture reduce the
carrying amount of the investment.

Identifiable assets and liabilities of a joint venture in an acquisition
are measured at their acquisition date fair values. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the joint venture's identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Goodwill relating to a joint venture is included in
the carrying amount of the investment unless fully amortised or
impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, the Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint venture.

The difference between the proceeds from the disposal of a joint
venture and its carrying amount as of the date of disposal is
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss as the gain or loss on
disposal of the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interests in joint ventures. Accounting policies of joint
ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost less

accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group's cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is
satisfied over time if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

—  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to
receive payment are established.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying
a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related Parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:
i has control or joint control over the Group;
ii.  has significant influence over the Group; or

iii. is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

i.  The entity and the Company are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

ii.  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

iii.  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

iv.  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related Parties (Continued)

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

v.  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

vi.  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

vii. A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

viii. The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Company or to a parent of the Company.

Fiduciary activities

The Group maintains segregated accounts with authorised
institutions to hold clients’ monies arising from its normal course
of the regulated business activities. The Group has classified the
bank balances—trust and segregated accounts within the current
assets in the consolidated statement of financial position and
recognised the corresponding account payables to respective clients
and other institutions on the grounds that it is liable for any loss
or misappropriation of clients” monies. The Group is not allowed to
use the clients’ monies to settle its own obligations. The cash held
on behalf of customers is restricted and governed by the Securities
and Futures (Client Money) Rules under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the
Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which case,
such exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme, Central Provident
Fund (“CPF"”) Scheme and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leaves and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period.
Taxable profit differs from (loss) profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment (classified as finance leases) held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purpose are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items of
plant and equipment less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Lease
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
The principal useful lives are as follows:

Land and buildings 2-3 years

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group’s incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets
of value below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

(i) Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

(i) Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks
and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as
finance leases. Amounts due from lessees under finance
leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the
Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group's net investment in the
leases.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property is measured
initially at its cost including all direct costs attributable to the

property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at its
fair value based on valuation by an external independent valuer.
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the investment
property are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 8t —&E _— _tF =5 =+—HIFFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible asset
Intangible asset acquired separately

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life that is acquired
separately is carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains
or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or
loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.

Regulatory deposits

Regulatory deposits are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost;

—  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income; and

—  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 8t —&E _— _tF =5 =+—HIFFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition of an
investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment.

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do
not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost
and the conditions of debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income unless the Group designates an
equity investment that is not held for trading as at fair value
through other comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or losses
arising from changes in fair values recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
are net of any interest income and dividend income. Interest
income and dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on
financial assets at amortised cost and lease receivables. Expected
credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the
respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the
expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade receivables, or if the credit risk
on that financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables) has not increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the
loss allowance for that financial instrument at an amount equal
to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that represents
the expected credit losses that result from default events on that
financial instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the
loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as
defined above.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 8t —&E _— _tF =5 =+—HIFFZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is recognised
as an expense in full at the grant date when the share options
granted vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at the fair values of the goods or services received,
unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case
the goods or services received are measured by reference to the fair
value of the share options granted. The fair values of the goods or
services received are recognised as expenses, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve), when the Group obtains
the goods or when the counterparties render services, unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets (other than impairment of goodwill set
out in accounting policy of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets (other than impairment of goodwill set
out in accounting policy of goodwill above)
(Continued)

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life is tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that it may
be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value, except for the Group’s share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions, value in use of
property, plant and equipment and intangible asset for the purpose
of impairment assessment, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into three
levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation technique for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis
by reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period
that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to assess
the fair values of the investment properties. In determining the fair
values, the valuer has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The Directors have exercised their judgements
and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Impairment of trade receivables, finance lease
receivables, loans and interest receivables,
other loans and interest receivables,
promissory note receivable and contract assets.

The policy for impairment of trade receivables, finance lease
receivables, loans and interest receivables, other loans and
interest receivables, promissory note receivable and contract
assets of the Group are based on the evaluation of collectability
and aging analysis of accounts and on management’s judgment.
A considerable amount of judgment is required in assessing
the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including the
current creditworthiness and the past collection history of each
customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the Group
were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability
to make payments, additional allowances may be required.
At 31 March 2022, the carrying amounts of trade receivables,
finance lease receivables, loans and interest receivables, other
loans and interest receivables, promissory note receivable and
contract assets were approximately HK$265,365,000 (2021:
HK$225,524,000), HK$4,914,000 (2021: HK$15,947,000),
HK$399,230,000 (2021: HK$410,898,000), HK$9,252,000 (2021:
HK$83,102,000), HK$90,000,000 (2021: HK$90,000,000) and
HK$370,760,000 (2021: HK$296,061,000) respectively, and net
of allowance for impairment of approximately HK$2,019,000
(2021: HK$1,453,000), HK$46,855,000 (2021: HK$34,988,000),
HK$66,453,000 (2021: HK$43,466,000), nil (2021: nil), nil (2021:
nil) and nil (2021: nil) respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the Group
to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than expected, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31
March 2022, the carrying amount of goodwill is HK$273,707,000
(2021: HK$148,886,000), net of accumulated impairment loss of
HK$66,604,000 (2021: HK$52,604,000). Details of the recoverable
amount calculation are disclosed in note 21.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Provision for current and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions. Significant
judgment is required in determining the provision for taxation
and the timing of payment of the related taxation. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax in the period in which such
determination is made.

At 31 March 2022, the Group has estimated unutilised tax losses
of approximately HK$539,676,000 (2021: HK$483,804,000)
available for offset against future profits. The Directors make
estimates on the future profit streams of the Group entities of
which tax losses are not utilised. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised of the remaining tax losses due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams for the year ended 31 March 2022 and
period ended 31 March 2021 (note 36).

Depreciation and useful lives of property, plant
and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the
estimated residual value. The Group assesses annually the residual
value and the useful life of the property, plant and equipment
with reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the use of these assets
and if the expectation differs from the carrying amount, such
differences from the carrying amount will impact the depreciation
charges in the year in which the estimates change. At 31 March
2022, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment was
approximately HK$286,958,000 (2021: HK$274,640,000), net of
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss of approximately
HK$34,610,000 (2021: HK$23,213,000).
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CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
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Categories of financial instruments ERTRZER
2022 2021
—E== B
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABERZ
profit or loss-mandatorily measured TREERGIFTE 29,633 10,679
Financial assets at fair value through other I ARAFEFAEMEE
comprehensive income WwmzEMEE 8,640 8,640
Financial assets at amortised cost (including IZ# M AtEZ SMEE
cash and cash equivalents) (BRERESKIRSEEER) 1,074,103 975,624
1,112,376 994,943
Financial liabilities A =N
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEER AT EZEMERE 1,018,451 873,465
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include regulatory
deposits, trade and other receivables, finance lease receivables,
loans and interest receivables, other loans and interest receivables,
promissory note receivable, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, amounts due from a joint venture, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, trust loans, short
term loans, bank loans, amount due to a joint venture and
amount due to an associate. Details of the financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate
risk and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Other than the subsidiaries established in the PRC,
Singapore and the United States of America of which
functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB"), Singapore dollars
("SGD") and United States dollars (“USD") respectively, the
functional currency of the Company and other subsidiaries
is HK$. Certain bank balances and cash are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the group
entities to which they relate. Foreign currencies are also used
to settle expenses for overseas operations, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
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denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are as REHZREENT
follows:

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
RMB AR 850 1,694
usD E7T 6,869 8,159
British Pound (“GBP") wE (TEe%E)) 2 3
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7. BAERISGESIEEHERHKE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Market risk (Continued) HiZ AR @)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) EEEE ®

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy but the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis was prepared for USD as HK$ is pegged
to USD.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is currently exposed to RMB and GBP foreign
currency risk.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
10% (2021: 10%) increase and decrease in functional
currencies of the relevant group entities, HK$ or RMB,
against the relevant foreign currencies. 10% (2021: 10%)
is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 10% (2021: 10%) change in foreign currency
rates.

A negative number below indicates an increase in loss (2021:
increase in loss) for the period where the respective functional
currency (HK$ or RMB) strengthens 10% (2021: 10%) against
the relevant foreign currency (RMB, GBP, or HK$). For a 10%
(2021: 10%) weakening of respective functional currency
(HK$ or RMB) against the relevant foreign currency (RMB, GBP
or HK$), there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
loss (2021: loss) for the year and the balances below would
be positive.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7. BiERISGESIEEHERKE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#&)
Market risk (Continued) % R kg (@)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) (i) BEERE #
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) HRHEDWT (B)
Effect on profit or loss
HigmzowE
2022 2021
—E=Z T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Strengthen against RMB by 10% (note a) @ AR ¥ F1E10% (Ffsta) (85) (169)
Strengthen against GBP by 10% (note b) R EEFE10% (FfsEb) - —
Notes: T -
(@)  This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on RMB bank (@) UWHEBEHRERAREIRTER
balances and cash at year end. RIREREBZ R
(b)  This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on GBP bank by WHFEHREREFRITEHRK
balances and cash at year end. ReREBZRARE-
(ii) Interest rate risk (i) FFE @ fE
The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation REBZIEBRITEHRAZRE
to variable-rate bank balances. It is the Group's policy to keep MAERE R AEB B KRAF
its bank balances at floating rate of interest so as to minimise E IRITERER R YA X5
the fair value interest rate risk. B UBAFENERERER
Ko
The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in REBTRABRERERFE (5
relation to loans and interest receivable (see note 32 for SRS HEHUMEKREHK
details), other loans and interest receivables (see note 33 for FE GEBERME33) ERRE
details), finance lease receivables (see note 26 for details), EHIE GFIERMEE26) ~EU
promissory note receivable (see note 42 for details), trust ARERE GFERWEE42) ~ 55
loans (see note 37 for details), short term loans (see note 38 EX GFBERM37) EHER
for details) and bank loans (see note 39 for details). GEERMI38) RIBITTEMNR ¥
BERMIFE39) MAZ A FEFRE
JEao
The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging ZF%.fEE%T AT 7] ) 2R
policy. However, the management monitors interest rate cAM BEEEERMNEXR
exposure and will consider other necessary actions when Bﬂﬂ M BN TERAT E AR EE
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated. % B = IR I E T FE T EN o
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7.
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Directors consider that the interest rate risk in relation
to variable rate bank balances is insignificant due to these
balances are either within short maturity period or the
outstanding balances are not significant.

(iii) Other price risk

As at 31 March 2022, the Group is exposed to other price risk
through its investment in unlisted equity securities. The Group
has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to other price risk at the end of the reporting
period.

If the value of the financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income had been 20% (2021: 20%) higher/
lower, the investment revaluation reserve for the year ended
31 March 2022 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$1,728,000 (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021:
HK$1,728,000) as a result of the changes in fair value of
these investments.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is not
representative of the other price risk for the investments in
listed equity securities as the year end exposure does not
reflects the exposure during the year.
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
a failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In respect of finance lease receivables, representing loan advances
to customers with pledged assets, individual credit evaluations
are performed on all customers. These evaluations focus on the
customer’s financial background, current ability to pay and the
financial status of the guarantor, and take into account information
specific to the customer as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customer operates. At 31 March 2022
and 2021, the finance lease receivables are secured with the leased
assets. All the finance lease receivables are aroused in the PRC.

In respect of loans and interest receivables, representing financing
advances to customers under the Group’s money lending business,
individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers. These
evaluations focus on the customer’s financial background and
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment in
which the customer operates.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the
industry in which customers operate also has an influence on credit
risk but to a lesser extent. The Directors consider the credit risk
under control since the management exercise due care in granting
credit and check the financial background of these customers on a
regular basis.

For loan and interest receivables, the Group has a high
concentration of credit risk on loans and interest receivables as
13% (2021: 13%) and 58% (2021: 55%) of the total loans and
interest receivables was due from the single largest customer
and the five largest customers in the money lending segment
respectively.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

For finance lease receivables, the Group has a high concentration
of credit risk on finance lease receivables as 100% (2021: 70%)
and 100% (2021: 100%) of the total finance lease receivables was
due from the single largest customer and the five largest customers
in the finance leasing segment respectively.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies. The Group’s concentration of credit risk by
geographical locations are mainly in the PRC, which accounted for
99% (2021: 99%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March
2022. The Group has concentration of credit risk as 38% (2021:
40%) and 88% (2021: 97%) of the total trade receivables were
due from the Group’s largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each
individual debtor at the end of the reporting period to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts.
In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group's credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following
information is used:

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower;
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same borrower;

—  significant changes in the value of the collateral or in the
quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

—  significant changes in the expected performance and behavior
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more
than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment, unless
the Group has supportable information which can demonstrate
otherwise. A default on a financial asset occurs when a debtor fails
to make contractual payments within 90 days when they fall due
and this debtor is unlikely to repay the amount due.

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally categorises a
receivable for write off when the Group determine that the debtor
does not have assets or source of income that could generate
sufficient cash flow to repay the amounts subject to write-off.
Where receivables have been written off, the Group, if practicable
and economical, continues to engage in enforcement activity to
attempt to recover the receivable due.

The Group uses two categories for loans and interest receivables,
finance lease receivables, promissory note receivable, other loans
and interest receivables and amounts due from a joint venture
which reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is
determined for each of the categories. In calculating the expected
credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category and adjusts for forward looking data.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7. S EIEEHERBE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

Category Definition Loss provision

Rl BE B iREE

Performing Low risk of default and strong capacity to pay 12 month expected losses
R ENRRERZ(MED® 1218 B fa Rk 18

Non-performing

Significant increase in credit risk

Lifetime expected losses

R ERARREZEIEM 2 HATEHRE IR
Other

loans Amounts

Loans and Finance Promissory and Deposits  due from

interest lease note interest  and other a joint
receivables receivables receivable receivables receivables venture Total

FEW—FE

BWERKR  EKHE FEY  HttEw #REkHEM 2 SEAT
FIE HERE EREE BXKAE ERRE ;i et
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FTER FTER TER TER TER TER
2022 _E_F 465,683 51,769 90,000 9,252 253,216 2,222 872,142
Loss allowance BEEA (66,453) (46,855) = = = - (113,308)
Carrying amount IREE 399,230 4,914 90,000 9,252 253,216 2,222 758,834

Other
loans

Loans and Finance  Promissory and Deposits

interest lease note interest and other
receivables  receivables receivable  receivables  receivables Total

EWERR  ERHE e Hifgew #ZeREM
FIE HEMRIEA AREE BREFE FEW B “st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAET FAET FAET FET
2021 2% 454,364 50,935 90,000 83,102 95,599 774,000
Loss allowance BERE (43,466) (34,988) = = = (78,454)
Carrying amount IREE 410,898 15,947 90,000 83,102 95,599 695,546
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7.

MEEREEBERBE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) €5))
Credit risk (Continued) EERE @
Amounts
Loans and Finance Promissory Other loans Deposits  due from
interest lease note and interest and other a joint
receivables receivables receivable receivables receivables venture Total
e —Fa
Expected credit BREHRE ERRE FEL HitfEl #REREM AERR
loss rate FEEEEGEE FE HERE ERER BRRAE  EKRE ] st
2022 _E_F 14% 91% - - - 13%
2021 B 10% 69% - - - 10%

All of these receivables after loss allowance are considered to
have low risk and under the'Performing’ category because they
have a low risk of default and have strong ability to meet their
obligations.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of its bank balances and cash and considers
the risk is minimal.

The maturity dates of all financial liabilities are repayable on
demand or within one year as at the end of each of the reporting
periods.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values due
to short-term or immediate maturities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period
for recurring measurement, grouped into Levels 1, Levels 2 or
Levels 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable
or unobservable in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2022:

8. AT(EHE ®
BB ERHE :

Fair value measurements using

FERAUTHARBZATENE

Level 1: Level 2: Level 3: Total
18 BIE: = it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements:  &EEATENE :
Financial assets at fair value BATEFABRZ SMEE
through profit or loss
- Contingent consideration —ERHARE
receivable - - 29,633 29,633
Financial assets at fair value through RAFEt AEMEE
other comprehensive income e ==
— Unlisted equity security —ELmRARES - 8,640 - 8,640
Investment properties KEME - - 129,026 129,026
Total recurring fair value REENTFEFSHEE
measurements - 8,640 158,659 167,299

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2021:

WoE-—E=A=+—BZATE
BB EREE :

Fair value measurements using

ERANTRARBZATESE

Level 1: Level 2: Level 3: Total
£ -y B! Kt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements: & EMEATEE :
Financial assets at fair value RAFEFABRZEMEE
through profit or loss
- Contingent consideration — RS ARE
receivable - - 10,679 10,679
Financial assets at fair value through AT EF AEMEE
other comprehensive income WamzEMEE
— Unlisted equity security —JEEHREE - 8,640 = 8,640
Investment properties S B - - 117,582 117,582
Total recurring fair value KEMATEFEREE
measurements - 8,640 128,261 136,901
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FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 8t —&E _— _tF =5 =+—HIFFZE

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. XFEEFAE®
Disclosure of valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value NEESEZ2HERNTRBASEZ
measurements: WEE
Level 2 fair value measurements BFEBATEE
Description Valuation technique Inputs 2022 2021
3 fR{ER M A SR == T —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets at Comparable Share price and
fair value through other Transaction Method marketability
comprehensive income discount 8,640 8,640
- Unlisted equity security  EEEXZZ 574 RER MG RE S
BATEst A AHMEE ek
Wz TMEE
—JFELIRAEFF
Level 3 fair value measurements BZEBATEFE
Effect on fair
value for
Unobservable increase of
Description Valuation technique  inputs Range input 2022 2021
WA
Em/ATE
H1E fh{ER FrRR A HE #E ZEE g T -F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FTET
Contingent Discounted payoff (i) Discounted rate 13% (i) Decrease
consideration with scenario (i) BRIR = (i) B 29,633 10,679
receivable RAEREIR IR
R HARE
Investment Income capitalisation (i) Monthly rental RMB165/m? (i) Increase
properties W B AL (ii) Rental yield 6% (ii) Decrease
REME () BHEE ARHE1657T,/ () 3B
(i) HEWEm=E TRk (ii) B
6% 129,026 117,582
There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in REFERBEFE EAFEBR
the current and prior years. 2 R A T e o
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FEMBEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. AF¥EFHE®W
The movements during the period in the balance of these level 3 EE =B AT EFEZHEFRTHARN
fair value measurements are as follow: BEEIMT -
2022 2021
—E=-= BT —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financial assets at fair value through BAFTEFAERZEMEE

profit or loss

At beginning of year/period R HiH) 10,679 =
Add: contingent consideration receivable m:WERBAREE

arising from acquisition of subsidiaries FEUW S AA(E - 644
Unrealised gain on fair value change N EEE) 2 KRR W E 18,521 9,982
Exchange differences fE R ERE 433 53
At end of year/period RE/HAR 29,633 10,679
Change in unrealised gain REBEHRERMIFTEE

for the year/period included in STABRNE SRR ER

profit or loss for assets held at W 23 B

the end of the reporting period 18,521 9,982
Investment properties KEM=
At beginning of year/period R/ HRH) 117,582 111,477
Fair value gains/(losses) NEEWE (E518) 6,572 (1,026)
Exchange differences PE R RE 4,872 7,131
At end of year/period RE HR 129,026 117,582

Change in fair value gains/(losses) included ~ REBREHARFTIIFEE

in profit or loss for assets held SFABENATE
at the end of the reporting period W/ (F518) 28

6,572 (1,026)
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 8t —&E _— _tF =5 =+—HIFFZE

9. TURNOVER 9.

Turnover arises from (i) trading on electronic appliance; (ii) gross
proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss; (iii) provision of international air and sea freight
forwarding services; (iv) consultancy income in respect of finance
leases; (v) interest income from finance leases; (vi) interest income
from money lending; (vii) brokerage commission and dealing
income from securities and futures brokerage business; (viii)
consultancy income from securities and future brokerage related
services; (ix) property brokerage commission income from property
brokerage business; (x) heating and cooling supply by geothermal
energy; (xi) building construction contracting service; (xii) interior
design service income and data analytical service income from
customised technical support business; (xiii) project management
service income from property development and project
management business; (xiv) heating supply and industrial steam
income from centralised heating business and (xv) rental income
from investment properties. An analysis of the Group’s turnover for
the year/period is as follows:

I

—E 3

EERRBNEEBETAM (INVHE
BANTFEFABRZ SMEERESN
TEABZE (iR MEEMERE L EE
RF¥E (v ERMBMERE ZBERWA ;
VEREBEHAEFNEWRA ;VIEEF B
S(iNFE S BRI E R LTS 2 K42
EREBEWA ;(ii)EFRIAE&LHE
RARRFSRE WA S (X)W E KL ER
MEKL LRSI ;)M BABEHBES
BB FEERKOIRE xi)iFaR
MEZEEFR 2 ENRTTRBIMARE
EOMRBUWA i EERRIEE
BEXB2EHEERBUWA (xiv)E
RV EFE 2 HEE R T2 Z AW AK
WIREMHEZHESWA - F HARZ
EEEEBEZOMWMT :

\
\

S

)5
%ﬁg»%

oo

}A

1 January
Year ended 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
BE T
g —ﬂ HZE
=HA=+—H B8
ItFEE =B=+—8
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trading of goods EEMM 345,620 571,418
Gross proceeds from disposal of securities HEFE SR MIBAREE - 3,791
Provision of international air and sea REHBEIREM T B LG ER
freight forwarding services 1,242 1,975
Consultancy income from finance leases MEMREEBWA 2,296 2,689
Interest income from finance leases MEHRENEWA - 257
Interest income from money lending BEHEWA 23,763 25,366
Brokerage commission and dealing income &4 MERE B WA 1 1
Consultancy income from securities and EH KRG ALERRE 2
future brokerage related services BEM U A 363 -
Property brokerage commission income MELLBETWA - 45,345
Heating and cooling supply by HEASEHBE B2
geothermal energy 18,410 17,994
Construction contracting services fee income A B IRFE & WA 329,451 438,187
Interior design service income EARFRFRBUIA 10,024 4,559
Project management service income HEBERBWA 44,758 45,484
Heating supply and industrial steam income  fHBER T 5 A 64,629 29,218
Rental income RE WA 7,075 =
Data analytical service income IR DT RS 10,825 =
858,457 1,186,284
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

10. REVENUE 10. Yz
1 January
Year ended 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
BE “ECRF
£ —B—HZz
=B=+—H B
EEE Z=ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET THET
Revenue from contracts with BR&EHWE BT
customers (Note) 827,619 1,156,870
Revenue from other sources: REEMKREZ W -
Interest income from finance leases MERENSWA - 257
Interest income from money lending BEF2UWA 23,763 25,366
Rental income from investment properties KREMEZHSWA 7,075 =
858,457 1,182,493
Timing of recognition of revenue from BER NIRRT
contracts with customers:
At a point in time RE—RFREI 346,863 618,739
Over time BE RS I HE RS 480,756 538,131
827,619 1,156,870
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

10. Y z= @

Note: BT -
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: BRENRZZAD
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE_EZ-HF=-HA=+—HL=EE
Heating
International  and cooling Property
Securities airand  supply of Building  Customised development
Trading Finance and futures  sea freight ~geothermal construction technical ~and project ~Centralised
of goods leasing  brokerage forwarding energy  contracting support management heating Total
#5k  ERAZR BEE  BFEE BRRE  MEERR
EEBR REEE  BESE  BLEE  GENS Ef %FE  EEEE  ETfi# st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin FER TER TER T#R TAR TAn TAn TAr FEn
Geographic Markets HEHS
Hong Kong &% - - 364 - = > - - - 364
PRC e 345,620 2,29 - - 18,410 329,451 20,849 44,758 64,629 826,013
Singapore R - - - 1,221 - - - - - 1,221
North and South of America EMREEN - - - 2 - - - - - 2
345,620 2,296 364 1,242 18,410 329,451 20,849 44,758 64,629 827,619
Major Products/Services TEER/ BB
Trading of electronic products BEETER 345,620 - - - - - - - o 345,620
Financial services &% - 2,29 364 - - - - - - 2,660
International air and sea MERELEERB
freight forwarding services - - - 1,282 - - - - - 1,282
Heating and cooling supply by HARBERS
geothermal energy - - - - 18,410 - - - - 18,410
Building construction BFREAORH
contracting services - - - - - 329,451 - - - 329,451
Interior design services ERRERE - - - - - - 10,024 - - 10,024
Data analytical services YBINRE - - = = = - 10,825 - = 10,825
Project management services EREERE - - - - - - - 44,758 - 44,758
Heating supply and industrial steam HERTERS - - - - - - - - 64,629 64,629
345,620 2,296 364 1,242 18,410 329,451 20,849 44,758 64,629 827,619
Timing of recognition of revenue BRAHKERDRE
from contracts with customers
Ata point in time RE-BEH 345,620 - 1 1242 - - - - - 346,863
Over time [isitides = 2,29 363 - 18,410 329,451 20,849 44,758 64,629 480,756
345,620 2,296 364 1,242 18,410 329,451 20,849 44,758 64,629 821,619
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 %F —&FE — —F = =+—HIFFEZE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Note: (Continued)

Fifteen months ended 31 March 2021

10. Y z= @

MizE . (%)

BHEZ-—F=B=+—HI+hHMEA

Heating
International and cooling Property
Securities airand supply of Bulding  Customised ~ development
Trading Finance  and futures  sea freight Property  geothermal  construction technical ~ and project  Centralised
of goods |easing brokerage  forwarding brokerage energy  contracting support  management heating Total
#5R WER ik i Ed-21 BERG  WEEER
EEER HEHE i S TEE = HERS ) 524 ERER St @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TERr TEr Thx TEr Fhn T TER TEn
Geographic Markets HETSE
Hong Kong &4 - - 1 - - - - - - - 1
PRC HE 571418 2,689 S > 45,345 17,994 438,187 4559 45,484 29218 1,154,894
Singapore Finy - - - 1,268 - - - - - S 1268
North and South of America FENREEN - - - 707 - - - - - - 707
571,418 2,689 1 1,975 45,345 17,994 438,187 4,559 45,484 29,18 1,156,870
Major Products/Services IBER/H
Trading of electronic products BERTER 571418 - - - - - - - - s 571418
Finandial senvices % - 2,689 1 - - - - - - - 2,69
International ar and sea RERELEERE
freight forwarding services - - - 1975 - - - - - - 1,975
Property brokerage services - - - - 45,345 - - - - - 45,345
Heating and cooling supply by
geothermal energy - - - - - 17,99 - - - - 1799
Building construction
contracting services - - - - - - 438,187 - - - 438,187
Interior design services EVEEr - - - - - - - 4559 - - 4559
Project management services BEERERE - - - - - - - - 45,484 - 45484
Heating supply and industrial steam BRI 255 - - - - - - - - - 29218 29218
571,418 2,689 1 1975 45345 17,99 438,187 4559 45484 29218 1,156,870
Timing of recognition of revenue BRAHNEEIRE
from contracts with customers
Ata point in time RE-BEY 571,418 - 1 1975 45,345 - - S S S 618,739
Over time BEEES - 2,689 - - - 17,994 438,187 4559 45484 29218 538,131
571,418 2,689 1 1,975 45,345 17,994 438,187 4,559 45,484 29,218 1,156,870
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10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Trading of goods

Revenue from the trading of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

—  the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

— it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

—  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 90 days.

Finance leasing

Consultancy income from finance leasing is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered. The
customers pay the consultancy service fee to the Group according
to the payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts.

Securities and futures brokerage

Commission income on dealing in securities and futures contract is
recognised on a trade date basis when the services are rendered,
the amount for which can be reliably estimated and it is probable
that the income will be received. The commission income is due on
the settlement date of their respective trade dates, normally two or
three business days after the respective trade date.

Consultancy income from securities and future brokerage related
services is recognised in the accounting period in which the
services are rendered. The customers pay the consultancy service
fee to the Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated
in the contracts.

International air and sea freight forwarding

Income from provision of freight forwarding services is recognised
when the services are provided. The Group normally allow credit
period of 90 days.
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Property brokerage

Commission income on dealing in property agency contract is
recognised when the services are rendered, the amount for which
can be reliably estimated and it is probable that the income will be
received. The customers pay the commission income to the Group
upon the sales of property is completed.

Heating and cooling supply by geothermal
energy

Income from heating and cooling supply by geothermal energy
is recognised when the services are rendered. The customers
pay the fee according to the heating and cooling supply actually
consumed.

Building construction contracting

The Group provides construction contracting services to the
customers. When the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligations of a construction contract can be
measured reasonably, revenue from the contract and the contract
costs are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the percentage of contract costs incurred
to date to the estimated total contract costs for the contract. This
method provides the most reliable estimate of the percentage of
completion.

When the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations of a construction contract cannot be
measured reasonably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that is expected to be recoverable.

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group according to
the payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts. If the service
rendered by the Group exceeds the payments, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the service rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.

Customised technical support

The Group provides customised technical support services which
include building architecture and interior design services and
data analytical services to the customer. Building architecture and
interior design services income and data analytical services income
are recognised when the services are rendered, the amount for
which can be reliably estimated and they are probable that the
income will be received. The customers pay the services income to
the Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated in the
contracts.

10. Y z= @

/EFEE

MEREGNTRZHNAERATIR
ARFFIRMEFESS > MAREEESN A
St RWAR A SEURE - 2 A 5T
RMEENERFODAEERZTAS U
Ao

MEAREMHER SIS

Hh 2 HE (1 B8 5% RO B 1R 1 AR B B
R -ERRBEBRHENHERS
&R

BFEREXE

FEERERIRERZZAKDIRS -
EEESBENERGOBNEEN
EE aRmkEOMAHEATT
BOWE BEENAEERMES
GHRERESEHORETBENED
EE5t8) FEsR o WA SE R R B S st
stEIBEDEEe

HEZEEAEENERGNENE
ENEE  WnEERFMEEGTAON
2 Y8 HA Ut [o] By B 58 o

ERREGNIANMTMEBRD
FEBXNENER HAEEEM
WRBBBAAEAR AEBGHNE
7 o (W B BRI RUB B Fr I8 (AR %5 - RI B

BEHNAR-
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7 8 B 0 & 5 IR A BT B AR
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

11.

Property development and project
management

Revenue from the Group’s property development and project
management business derived from entrusted construction
agreements and management services. Project management service
income is recognised when the services are rendered, the amount
for which can be reliably estimated and it is probable that the
income will be received. The customers pay the service income to
the Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated in the
contracts.

Centralised heating

Heating supply and industrial steam income is recognised when the
services are rendered. The customers pay the fee according to the
heating and industrial steam actually consumed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Directors, being the chief operating
decision maker, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on the type of goods
sold or services delivered or provided. The Directors have chosen
to organise the Group around difference in products and services.
No operating segments identified by the chief operating decision
maker have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments
of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments are as follows:

(a) Trading of goods segment engages in trading of products
including but not limited to electronic appliance in the PRC;

(b) Finance leasing segment engages in finance leasing of plant
and machinery as well as providing consultancy services with
respect of finance leasing in the PRC;

(c)  Money lending segment engages in money lending in Hong
Kong;

(d) Securities and futures brokerage segment engages in
securities and futures dealing services as well as providing
consultancy services with respect of securities and futures
brokerage in Hong Kong;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(e)

®)

(9)

(h)

0]

(0

(k)

V)

(m)

International air and sea freight forwarding segment engages
in the provision of international air and sea freight forwarding
and logistic services to customers in Singapore and United
States of America;

Securities trading segment engages in trading of equity
securities and dividend income from held for trading
investments in Hong Kong;

Property investment segment engages in investments of
properties for rental income and capital appreciation in the
PRC;

Customised technical support segment engages in provision
of building architecture and interior design services and data
analytical services in the PRC;

Property brokerage segment engages in provision of property
agency service in the PRC;

Property development and project management segment
engages in entrusted construction and projects management
services in the PRC;

Geothermal energy segment engages in provision of heating
and cooling supply by geothermal energy to buildings in the
PRC;

Building construction contracting segment engages in
provision of building construction contracting service on
project basis in the PRC; and

Centralised heating segment engages in the business of using
coal-fired boilers to provide centralised heating, including
industrial steam, through centralised pipe networks in the
PRC.

M. DHEM @

(e)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) M. 3HWEFR @
Segment revenues and results S E U R FE AR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by TXRREBZTRERLE DA
reportable and operating segments. Dz W R B Do
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE_ZT-__F=HA=1+—HLEE
International Property
Securities air and Customised development Building
Trading of Finance Money andfutures  seafreight ~ Securities ~ Property  technical  Property andproject Geothermal ~construction  Centralised
goods leasing lending  brokerage ~ forwarding trading  investment support  brokerage management energy  contracting heating Total
#5k  ERRZR HERE NEERRE |

EEEGR  RERE (8 HEEE BLEE  BARE  N3RE Sk NEERE BER Bk LS it
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000
TR TEm TEn TR TEn  TEn TR TEn  FEn TEn  TEn  TEn  FER TEn

Turover E28 345,620 2,29 23,763 364 1,24 - 7,075 20,349 - 44,758 18,410 329,451 64,629 858,457
Revenue fiom SIBENG
external customers 345,620 2,29 23,763 364 1,242 = 1075 20,849 = 44,758 18410 329451 64,629 858,451
Reportable seqment profitlloss)  FIHE AR/ (Fi8) (8,652) (12,210) (3,756) (19,079) (410) o 12,005 (124) (5,724) (13,094) (6.918) 29,135 (7,680) (36,507)
Shae of loss of associates  HERELTE (4og)
Share of loss of ajoint venture AHE—BAEA (1,5%)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  Hi&MHEAT 8
Fair value gain on step AHREHELS
acquisition of subsidiaries N@ﬁﬁz 4198
Unallocated corporate income K AELZEUA 25,267
Unallocated corporate expenses  RARAERT (40,268)
Loss before tax BHAER (1,088)
—
Fifteen months ended 31 March 2021 HEx_E_—F=-fA=+—HI+HA
International Property
Securities air and Customised development Building
Trading of finance Money  andfutures  sea freight Securites Property technical Property  andproject  Geothermal  construction  Centralised
goods leasing lending  brokerage  forwarding trading ~ investment support  brokerage  management energy  contracting heating Total
#5k  ERATR R NELER BTRE
EEBR  BEHES &8 BLEE  #5EE  MERE %E  MEEE AEER b A8 EhiE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tn T TEn T TEn TEn T TEn T TEn T TEn TEn
Tumover 828 571,418 2,946 25,366 1 1975 3791 = 4559 45,345 45,484 17,99 438187 2918 1,186,284
Revenue from SIBRNG
external customers 571,418 2,946 25,366 1 1975 - - 4,559 45,345 45,484 17,994 438,187 2918 1182493

Reportable seqment profitfloss) FIHE AR/ (Fi8) 9,932) (4,768) 16,926 (21,060) (1,014) 2326 (1,901) (8,113) 19,762 (9322) (8,280) 31,624 (3,99) 2258

Share of profit of associates  HABEATER 8297
Share of profit of a oint venture. E—HAER an
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—EEEATZ4E 11,409
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries  HEHBAT 26 (5,351)
Unallocated corporate income R ABEZEMA 17917
Unallocated corporate expenses &R EZHT (55,683)
Loss before tax KRAGE (20881)

—
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AR e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 20228 % — &~ —#F = =+—HILFZ

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
results represent the (loss from) profit earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, Directors’
emoluments, depreciation of certain property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, unrealised gain on fair value change
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, share of
(loss) profit of associates, share of (loss) profit of a joint venture,
gain (loss) on disposal of subsidiaries, fair value gain on step
acquisition of subsidiaries, net foreign exchange gain (loss), loss
(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, gain on lease
modification, interest expense on certain lease liabilities, short
term loans and trust loans, interest expenses on consideration
payables, interest income from promissory note receivable, interest
income from other loan receivables, bank interest income and
sundry income. This is the measure reported to the chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

M. DHEM @

DER U B R AR (@)

BREDE 2 G5t ER AN 3 A
EBRZEHBRER - DB XEER
KD (EEZ IR BILZER
Hitﬂi PECHRRITHA A EFE
M~ ETHE F‘%&‘Eﬁfﬁﬂ&@)ﬂ%
BEZIFE -BAFEFAREZ
MEEQATELEH 2K *@EH&“\
HEEAE (BB &f 2 E—fHa
EAE (BR) 28 HEWBLARZ
Wi (B8 2P WERBRARZA
FEWm b ’EH&E(E%?E)E%%E\&’%
M E R&EZBER ()
sz hmE ETHEAR L,H &
RAS5EE TA%‘J/_\F'%SE\WHMT%'JM
52 s BUR R RBEZF BUA - Bt
BRWERZF B WA~ RITRB WA
REBEWA IR EEEERKRE
BRFERDEKRRRFENE-

STHEERER

TXRTEERBRENHEDZEE
REEDH

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by
reportable segments.

At 31 March 2022 W-ZE-——_%£=H=+—H

International Property
Securities air and Customised development Building
Trading of Finance Money  and futures  sea freight ~ Securities Property  technical Property  and project  Geothermal construction  Centralised
goods leasing lending  brokerage  forwarding trading  investment support  brokerage management energy  contracting heating Total
25k ERRZR B HEEER ByRE 43t

REfG  RERA 8 HEEE BLEE  BSRE MERE ¥k WEEE  BRER MER LS,
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKS'000  HKSO0  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000
Thn  TEn  TEn TEn  TEn  TEn TEn T TEn  FiEn T TEn  TEn TER

ASSETS BE

Segment assets HHEE 196,987 9,312 400,067 16,672 12 - 129,286 178,585 24,689 52,587 22801 621,219 105,719 2,003,256

Unalocated corporate assets ~ AAELEEE 337,632

Consolidated assets RogE 2,340,888
—

LIABILITIES 8

Seqment liabilities HHaE 134,719 5,826 12 4,645 1,418 = 1,956 28,998 112 26,601 59,283 517,967 31,882 814429

Unallocated corporate libilties  £3EE2EE 265,951

Consolidated libiltes LAER 1,080,380
——
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

wrn e PSR R MY EE
For the year ended 31 March 2022 8 E —&F - —F=H=+—HIFF&Z

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At 31 March 2021

1M1.3EEF @
PMEEREE @®

KRB —F=ZRB=+—H

International Property
Securities air and Customised development Building
Trading of finance Money  andfutures  sea freight Securities Property technical Property  andproject  Geothermal  construction  Centralised
goods leasing lending ~ brokerage ~ forwarding trading  investment support  brokerage  management energy  contracting heating Total
#5k  ERATR BRI BTRE
EEBR  BEHE &8 HEEE  BLEE  H5BE ERE B nEEE 2 b A8 Ehid 83t
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
T TEn TEn TEn T TEn TEn T TEn T TEn Tén TEn TEn
ASSETS BE
Seqment assets HHEE 177,144 18,398 411,736 30,599 265 = 117,594 18,248 2421 105,048 20911 436,977 141,003 1,708,436
Undllocated corporate assets ~ RARLEEE 364436
Consoldated assets GREE 20728712
—
LIABILITIES &
Seqment labiliies e 128,456 2,041 - 4830 1,489 - 1453 3607 13,730 56,163 346,265 75,151 633,791
Unallocated corporate liablties  £HEEZEE 289,364
Consolidated liabilties ot

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deferred tax assets, interests in associates, interests
in joint ventures, non-current financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, amounts due from a joint venture,
promissory note receivable, other loan and interest
receivables, bank balances and cash, the equipment of head
office and certain right-of-use assets and other receivables;
and

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
tax liabilities, amounts due to an associate, amount due to
a joint venture, consideration payables and certain lease
liabilities, trust loans, short-term loans and other payables.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FRERRMIEE

TE T /A= —HIEFE

Other segment information

Year ended 31 March 2022

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & & —

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

11.

n‘7|'\

DERE @
Hith &R E #
BHE_Z

T TF=-R=+—HILEE

International Property
Securities airand Customised development Building
Trading of Finance Money  and futures sea freight Securities Property technical Property  and project  Geothermal construction  Centralised
goods leasing lending  brokerage  forwarding trading  investment support  brokerage  management energy  contracting heating  Unallocated Total
%k ERAZR e HEZRE
AR HARR 8 HRER BLAE a5ER FES %k EE REEE LETI £ ) fnits A it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T T T T T Fin T T FEn T FEn T TR Fin FEn
Amounts included in the measure of
seqment profitorlos or segment assets:
Additions to non-current assets (Note) - - - 4 - - - 136,269 - 1 2,50 - 11,400 - 150,192
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment - 16 - 3% 2 - - m 129 8 445 55 59N 259 iAY
Untealsed gain on fair value change o~ REMERTEEHZRERUE
ivestment properties - - - - - - 6,512 - - - - - - - 6,512
Impairment logs on finance lease receivable EEMAEREFBHESR - 10,29 - - - - - - - - - - - - 10,29
Impairment loss on trade and other BUSEARE
Teceivables - 548 - - - - - - - - - - - - 548
Impairment loss on loans and interest
receivables - - 0% - - - - - - - - - - - 2%
Impairment loss on goodwill HEZAERE - - - 14,000 - - - - - - - - - - 14,000
Amounts regulrly provided to the chief mﬁﬁﬂigﬁ RERE
operating decision maker but not
included in the measure of segment Wﬁ@%xﬁn A28
profit o loss or seqment assets:
Loss on disposal of property, plantand & BRRREZEE
equipment - - - - - - - - - - - - 1239 - 1239
Inerst income LN [C) () = (302) = = = (15) = (582) [G] 21) () (5104) (6041)
Fifteen months ended 31 March 2021 BE_Z-_—F=HB=+—HIt+H
(EVE]
International Property
Securfes airand Customised development Buiding
Trading of Finance Money — and futures sea freight Securtes Property technical Poperty  andproject  Geothermal  construction  Centralised
goods easing lending hrokehqe mmardmg tradng  investment support brokerage  management energy  contracting heating  Unallocated Total
R iE3 it RS a5t
ERER HERE & ELEL ] NERE b33 e BTESEE %DM AR
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin TEn Fin FiEn Tin TiEn Tin Fin Tin Tin
Amounts included in the measure of
segment profit o los or segment assets: Vi)
Additons tonon-curent asses Note)  FEFREEE () - - - 9 - - - - 3% £l 9143 83308 7068 66 149235
Depreciaion of property, plant and NE HERRES
equipment PLy 2 = 04 4 = = 289 143 m 4154 ki 4510 141 11325
Unrealsed loss on far value changeon ~ REMERTELHZRERER
investment properties - - - - - - 026 - - - - - - - 106
Impairment loss on goodwill HEZHERE - - - 13,000 - - - - - - 10622 S & S B
Amounts requlrly provided to the chief  EEEFEEEARERE
operating decision maker but not bij
included in the measure of segment HEEERFAHAZEE!
profit or loss or seqment assets:
Gain on disposal of property, plantand  HENE ERRFEZUE
equipment - - - - - - - - - - - - - (300) (300)
Interest income HERA (135) (1) () (5) (1) - = g 3) (174) (44) {27) (5) (15,061) (15,468)
Note: Additions to non-current assets excluded right-of-use assets, regulatory ek . REERDEEFCCEERAREE AL
deposit, financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, BE-BRATESFAHEMEEREZ S/
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loan receivables, other EE BRATEAABEZSHEE /B
loans receivables, interest in associates, interest in joint ventures and WER HMtMEKRER REBE AT 2
deferred tax assets. W RAERBZRERIEERIAEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) M. DEHEM @
Geographical information HEHE
International air and sea freight forwarding services are carried BEMERS EEEXH RN
out in Singapore, North and South America. Trading of goods, FAEENREEMNET - BEEFMS
finance leasing, building architecture and interior design services, MERE BFREREANAFRR
data analytical services, property brokerage services, property B BB MRE MELLRE
development and project management services, geothermal energy MEZRNIEBEIERY AR
services, building construction contracting services and centralised HEFRERERE REP IR
heating services are carried out in the PRC. Trading of securities, BN EET - BHEE - BE RS
money lending and securities and futures brokerage services are HFRERCRBIINEBET

carried out in Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers REBIBEAMAERTHREL K
is presented based on the location of the operations of the EMEZY] cAERFRBEEER
customers. Information about the Group’s non-current assets is TR EEMMTEHEZ5 -

presented based on the geographical location of assets.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
SRR P ERBEE
1 January
Year ended 2020
31 March  to 31 March
2022 2021 2022 2021
[ -

—E-”% —fB—HE

ZB=+—-H Z2-—Ff
tEE =A=+—-HB ZB--f _"T_—-&
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET FER FhEx

Hong Kong ) 24,127 25,367 16,752 31,043
PRC HE 833,088 1,155,151 673,746 510,872
Singapore N 1,221 1,268 4 4
North and South America EEMREEMN 21 707 - -
858,457 1,182,493 690,502 541,919
Note: Non-current assets excluded right-of-use assets, regulatory deposits, ek . ERBEEFBIEERREE - EAER
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income, financial T RAFESFAHEHMEZEWRGE Z S/
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loan receivables, other loans EE - BAFEFABGZSREE B
receivables, interest in associates, interest in joint ventures and deferred tax WEH HMEKRER RS S’
assets. W MNBERAZEARIRERIBEEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &5F —

.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Information about major customers

P-:

AR e MR R M

FE__F-/A=+—HIFE

1M1.3EEF @
FTEEXEREH

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing REEEEMAERBZINGDBE10%
over 10% of the overall revenue of the Group is as follows: Z2REFRLZW@mAOT
1 January
Year ended 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
BE TECEE
g —A—H=E
=BA=+—H —E—F
tEE =B=+—H
HK$000 HK$'000
F#HET FHT
— Customer A2 —BER” - 321,929
— Customer B? =y 199,099 249,489
— Customer C23 —XRR” 146,520 =
— Customer D* —®RTH 267,602 238,824

! No revenue from Customer A for the year ended 31 March 2022

L BHE_S__HF-RB=-+—HILEEE

mEREEFRBRZ WG
g Revenue from trading of goods segment 2 REEBEBEmDE 2 W
3 No revenue from Customer C for the fifteen months ended 31 March 2021 e BE_Z-_—F=A=+—HL+AHME
Bo#EREEARZWE
< Revenue from building construction contracting segment ¢ REEFEEREGDBZINEG
OTHER INCOME 12. Hthlg A
1 January
Year ended 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
BE TECEE
—E- —HB—HZE
=HB=+—H 2 —F
EEE Z=ZB=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Interest income from REBUTERZHAEWA
- bank —R1T 83 419
— other loans receivables —HtEWER 558 8,303
— promissory note receivable — PR R E 4 5,400 6,746
Government grant (Note) Bt Bh (e EE) 3,886 32,466
Sundry income HEIEURA 600 905
Reversal of impairment loss on FEWmERERIEREBERRD
finance lease receivable - 1,624
Gain on lease modification HEEITZWEaE 39 26
Gain on disposal of property, HEWME - BB REE 2 W
plant and equipment - 300
Net foreign exchange gain U ERE 66 -
10,632 50,789

EEEEERAR

AT 2021/22F %K
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AR e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

12. OTHER INCOME (CONTINUED)

Note: During the year, the government grants received by the Group included:

(i) a government grant from Singapore of approximately HK$128,000
(fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: HK$180,000) in relation to
the job credit scheme in Singapore on the condition that the Group
has made CPF contributions in Singapore. The government grant has
been recognised in the same periods in which the expenses were
recognised; and

(i) a government grant from the PRC of approximately HK$3,758,000
(fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: HK$30,464,000) mainly
in relation to the subsidies on heating supply services provided
by geothermal energy segment and centralised heating segment
without condition.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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(i)
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LI —IER MBS BB
DN B AT 4B 49128,000%8 7T (B E
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B 180,000 7T) & AKRERD
REREH P RO MR %
BT+ Bh EfE SR R 2 2 18R HA
MR &
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FT iR i 2 (L 20 BR 75 4 Bh AR (12
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13.LOSS FOR THE YEAR/PERIOD

The Group's loss for the year/period is st

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &5F —

=42 H
ARE

13. F "HARAES 18

ated after charging the

M FSER R MIEE

oA+ AIEE

AEBEZF HRERTLKMNER TS

following: BIRBER
1 January
Year ended 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
BHE —ECTE
—E=Z —HB—HB%
=BA=+—H —E—F
tEE  ZA=+-0
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Finance costs B FE s
Interest expense on lease liabilities (Note) HEaEANERX (M) 2,578 3,385
Interest expense on bank loans ?‘JET}\%U BER% 1,790 134
Interest expenses on short-term loans BRFERE 3,141 458
Interest expense on trust loans ET}\%'J Bz 27,983 30,327
Interest expense on consideration payable Egﬁﬁf?’iﬂuﬁaﬂi'i 1,865 2,345
37,357 36,649
Staff costs =12
Directors’ emoluments (note 14(a)) EEHB FTsE14)) 7,087 11,696
Other staff costs Hfg 8 K 62,911 90,429
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRIREAFEIHRR
(excluding those for Directors) (FEEMESEHN 11,400 9,193
Total staff costs BB A 425 81,398 111,318
Other items HahIigg
Auditor’s remuneration Z BB & 1,300 1,300
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment#J 2« B = K % B I & 11,127 11,325
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERTE 13,463 24,811
Loss on disposal of property, HEME BBERKREBE
plant and equipment 1,239 -
Net foreign exchange loss (ERE 1B/ - 9
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses  HEFRAR Y 2 1FE A 340,515 563,903

Note: At 31 March 2022, the average effective bori
10 12% (2021: ranged from 8% to 12%).

T -

rowing rate ranged from 8%

8%E12%) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRRMEE
P CE T A —HIFFE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a) Directors’ and chief executive's (a) EFERFETHRAEME
emoluments (Continued) €)

Note: ST -

14 EBERETETHAEMNER
EEME ®

HMBEMNEMEEBEXTHEE-

(b) BEEM=

Zl-‘%lﬁ%ﬁir—]%ﬁ)\j: &%@%

(i) Other benefits represented rents paid for Directors’ quarters. (i)

(b) Employees’ emoluments

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, four (1 January 2020 to 31 March 2021: four) were
Directors whose emoluments are set out in (a) above. The _—E_ﬁ _‘f‘ H:@m$) %
aggregate emoluments of the remaining one (1 January 2020 = ﬁk Z@ﬂ%ﬁﬁ’\tﬁ( ) EB
to 31 March 2021: one) individual were as follows: e —ZH (CEEFE—F—
HEZZ _—E B=+—8":
—%) AT 2S48 T ¢

1 January

Year ended 2020

31 March to 31 March

2022 2021

gE —ECEF

== —BA—H=z=

=R=+—H - —F

EEE =ZB=+—H

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FET

Salaries and other benefits HEREMBR 1,440 1,800
Retirement benefits scheme BIRENEBIHR

contributions 18 23

1,458 1,823
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

AR e MR R M

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 14.EFRTETHRAEMNER
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’ BEME @

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (Continued) (b) EEME @

The emoluments were within the following bands:

M= ToSEEM

1 January

Year ended 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021

HE ECEE
—E-F —H—H=Z
=B=+—H —E_—F
ItEE =ZA=+—H
No. of No. of
employee employee
BEAH EEA#

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 1,500,0007 75
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 75 %2,000,00074 75

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and the fifteen months
ended 31 March 2021, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to the Directors and the five highest paid individuals
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the Directors and the
employees waived or agreed to waive any emoluments paid
by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 and the
fifteen months ended 31 March 2021.

REE_E__F#=A=+—H
tEEBERBEE_Z_—F=A1
=t+—HIE+HEEAR  REEW
EOEERELREHA TG
B <& LUK 5] 8 ZE N A 24 & B 5
EAREMAKRERZ SHEIE
AEBmE - RBEE_ZT

—B=+—HIEEERH#E_ZT
——EFEZA=Z+—HBLk+tEE
BrUuEEEREEREXDR
BEAEELZ T ZERME -

EFEEEZERERAT 2021/225F 3R
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15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

15. FRiS R 2

1 January
Year ended 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
BE “ECRF
—g-=  NZE
=ZA=+—H =
ItEE =ZA=+—8H
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAET TFHET
Current tax: 2HRIE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R EMER 9,988 15,376
Under provision in prior years: BEFERERRE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FRED T 2 P18 47 352
10,035 15,728

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for the year ended
31 March 2022 and fifteen months ended 31 March 2021 as the
loss for the taxation purpose is estimated during both periods.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "“EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries, except for Beijing Shuwu Big Data Research
Company Limited* QERE R AEKIZHAIEERAE) (“Beijing
Shuwu), is 25%.

Beijing Shuwu, which is principally engaged in provision of
financial information, solution and data analytical services in the
PRC and qualified as high-tech enterprise that needs key support,
is entitled to enjoy a lower tax rate of 15% pursuant to Article 28
of the EIT Law.

No provision for Singapore and the United States of America Profits
Tax has been made as the Group did not generate any assessable
profits in Singapore and the United States of America for the year
ended 31 March 2022 and during the fifteen months ended 31
March 2021.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2021/22
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=42 H
ARE

M FSER R MIEE

For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 15. 8 @
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss FRZAAENMAZEEGSER REM
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and L EWERT] 2 BRI A B H R
other comprehensive income as follows: T
1 January
Year ended 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
HE —2TE2HF
—E=Z —HB—HB%
=B=+—H 2T —F
ILEE =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Loss before tax PRI BTES 18 (1,088) (20,681)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% R AMFAERIRE25%
(2021: 25%) (T2 —F:25%) 5182
m1E (272) (5,170)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries THMAZERELS ZWE
operating in other jurisdictions @ﬂ?‘?&ﬁﬁTﬂﬁR k% 41 3,185
Tax effect of expenses not deductible BIIRBEZ B E
for tax purpose 14,486 10,448
Tax effect of income not taxable BARRBAZ KB E
for tax purpose (16,294) (7,053)
Tax effect of tax losses utilised EIARBERNBETE (1,680) =
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FERZMBHEBEBZREEE 13,673 13,810
Under provision in prior years BEFEREETE 47 352
Tax effect of temporary difference FERERERRBEEE
not recognised 34 156
Income tax expense FRSMRBE 10,035 15,728

16.

Details of deferred tax are set out in note 36.

DIVIDEND

No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 March
2022, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the
reporting period (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: nil).

16.

BEIETR IBRF BB 5E36

Bz 2

RBEEZ__F=ZA=+—HLHE

F; RABDHEIRNHEIRRS

BH

HwEBARMURT BEERIRE AR E (B
F_E_—F=ZB=+—HLE+HE

A -

EFEEEZERERAT 2021/225F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 8t —&E _— _tF =5 =+—HIFFZE

17.LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable

17. &R E518

ERBEREANBESREAREEES

to the owners of the Company is based on the following data: BIRBUTEESE !
1 January
Year ended 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
gE —ZTE2F
—E== —B—HBZE
=HA=+—H 2 —F
ItEE =ZA=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loss K518
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted MEREARBEEEMS 2
loss per share 518
(Loss for the year/period attributable to (BmABEB A
owners of the Company) FEMLE " HANE518) (6,349) (42,578)
1 January
Year ended 2020
31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
BE ZEITE
—E=-= —B—RZE
=H=+—H =
ItFEE =ZBA=+—H
‘000 '000
T T
(restated)
(RET)
Number of shares [itdhE- 4=
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FiEREARREEEE/MS 2
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss ERERINREFE
per share 1,423,026 1,166,394

On 11 May 2021, the Company proposed to implement the rights
issue (the "Rights Issue”) on the basis of one (1) right share (the
“Rights Share(s)”) for every two (2) existing shares held on 16
June 2021 at the subscription price of HK$0.2 per Right Share.
The Rights Issue was completed on 14 July 2021. As a result of
the Rights Issue, the weighted average number of ordinary shares
adopted in the calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 March 2021 have been
adjusted retrospectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. % B E Rk
Furniture Plant Land
and Office Motor Leasehold and and  Construction

fixtures  equipment vehicles improvements ~ machinery building in progress Total
BREXE MARRE RE HENEEE BERES  MRET  ERIR b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
Thn TEn Thn Fhn Thn TEn Fhn Tén

CosT 2.8
At1 January 2020 RZE_5E-F-H 786 2,343 14,004 an - - - 17,610
Exchange realignment EREE 25 50 195 - 5,610 (29 2,939 8,794
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBAT - 35 8 - 156,329 37,691 54,309 248,693
Additions AE 45 531 666 735 28 - 39,728 41,733
Disposals of subsidiaries HERBAT = (16) = = = = (15,270) (15,286)
Disposals HE - - (3,691) - - - S (3,691)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RIB-E=f=1+-HK

ZZC-E-f 856 3,264 11,182 1,212 161,967 37,666 81,706 297,853
Exchange realignment ERBE 18 52 158 3 6,581 1,530 3320 11,662
Acquisition of subsidiaries WERBAT - 49 - - - - - 49
Additions RE - 478 209 - 388 380 12,468 13,923
Transfer from construction BEBTRIE

in progress - - - - 2153 - 2,153) -
Disposals of subsidiaries HEKBAT = (368) = = = = = (368)
Written off s - (40) = = = = = (40)
Disposals tE - (26) - - (1,485) - - (151)
At 31 March 2022 RZB-_E=A=1+-R 874 3,409 11,549 1,215 169,604 39,576 95,341 321,568
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ZTERAE
AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 2020 R-E_BE-F-H 646 2,031 11,853 an - - - 15,007
Exchange realignment ER#Z B 30 171 1 318 30 - 573
Provided for the period HREE 3 610 2,003 138 7,800 731 - 11,325
Disposals of subsidiaries HENBAT - (1) S S S S S )
Disposals HE = = (3,691) = = = = (3,691)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RIBZ-FZA=1+-Hk

ZEI-ER-A 712 2,670 10,336 616 8118 761 - 23213
Exchange realignment EQRE 16 30 130 1 45 53 - 682
Provided for the year EREE 11 362 362 260 8,571 1,561 = 11121
Disposals of subsidiaries HERBAR - (276) - - - - - (276)
Written off Hiss - (40) - = S S S (40)
Disposals tE = (12) S = (84) S S (96)
At 31 March 2022 RIEZZEZR=+-H 739 2,734 10,828 877 17,057 2375 - 34,610
CARRYING VALUES e
At 31 March 2022 RZB-_E=A=1+-R 135 675 Al 338 152,547 37,201 95,341 286,958
At 31 March 2021 RIBZ-F=f=1-8 144 594 846 5% 153,849 36,905 81,706 274,640
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18.
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following useful life and rates per

ME-BERSHE®

LHME - -BERREERBRBEER
EEZU T EAFRHRFERRR

(=3

annum: B .
Furniture and fixtures 10% - 33.33% R EE 10%-33.33%
Office equipment 10% — 33.33% YN 10%-33.33%
Motor vehicles 10% - 33.33% _E 10%-33.33%
Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease or three HEMEREE HEFHRI=F

years, whichever is shorter (LB IGE B %E)
Plant and machinery 5% — 33.33% i 55 R 1% 23 5%-33.33%
Land and building 3.33% T iETF 3.33%
19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EHEEE
2022 2021
T =2
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Right-of-use assets TREEE
— Office premises and staffs’ quarters —WAEMEREEES 17,663 11,074
Lease commitment of short-term leases FRHATRE 2 HE AR 253 775
The maturity analysis, based on BERRMBIRBERENAER
undiscounted cash flows, of the HMESENIBEE2 AT
Group's lease liabilities is as follows:
— Less than 1 year —— %R 16,394 7,940
- Between 1 and 2 years ——EWF 3,927 4,240
- Between 2 and 5 years —MERF - 1,681
20,321 13,861
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

20.

AR e MR R M

19. FREEEE @®

2022 2021
—®__ B —F

Depreciation charges mEER
— Office premises and staffs’ quarters —“WMAEMEKREERS 13,463 24,811
Lease interest HEFME 2,578 3,385
Expenses related to short-term leases FPHATR EAERARE S 1,862 2,795
Total cash outflow for leases EERe R 4EEE 18,063 32,402
Addition to right-of-use assets NEFRAEEE 20,674 10,983

The Group leases various premises and staffs’ quarters. Lease
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of one to three
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease

rEEHEZENEREEES -H
EMZNEEHREER —E=F-
HEFRRDIZENEEETER &
FRETROER GG - HERZE

agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets TG RE MEEEETE
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. BIEERAERNER-
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20. I EWE
2022 2021
—EZC 2=
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At 1 April 2021/1 January 2020 RZZE2Z—FME—8H/
—EIEF—F—H 117,582 111,477
Fair value gains/(losses) AFERE, (BE18) 6,572 (1,026)
Exchange differences P =28 4,872 7,131
At 31 March R=B=+—H 129,026 117,582
The fair value of the Group's investment properties as at 31 March RZEZ_FR-_ZE-_—F=A

2022 and 2021 have been arrived at on the basis of valuation
carried out by independent professional qualified valuer not
connected to the Group. The valuation of investment properties
have been calculated using income capitalization approach by
reference to net rental income allowing for reversionary income
potential.

=t+t—H AEERBEYMEZATE
DIRBRAEETERBAENBLIEE
GERGEMPMETZEEMSH-
2Et ANBEER W @A S R mF
BOREVEZHECHKARZESR
fERAstES -

EFEEEZERERAT 2021/225F 3R
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FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

21. GOODWILL 21. B2
HK$'000
FHET
cosT DS
At 1 January 2020 é:—;_;ﬁﬁ A—H 93,644
Acquisition of subsidiaries RSB A 107,502
Disposal of subsidiaries ﬁ’%ﬁﬁ%@a (6,342)
Exchange differences =28 6,686
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 EA_V_—E B=+—HK
—E-—Fpm—H 201,490
Acquisition of subsidiaries B B A E) 136,269
Exchange differences BER =28 2,552
At 31 March 2022 W_E__#=F=+—H 340,311
IMPAIRMENT BB
At 1 January 2020 AT _EF—H—H 28,982
Provided for the period A B 23,622
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 f:’;:—ﬁ_ﬁ =+—Hk
—E”—FmMB—H 52,604
Provided for the year FEREE 14,000
At 31 March 2022 N _E___F=H=+—H 66,604
CARRYING VALUE IREE
At 31 March 2022 RIEZ-F=B=+—H 273,707
At 31 March 2021 B _—F=A=+—H 148,886
The carrying amounts of goodwill (after impairment) was allocated HmEKREE 0RRER) EXQERET
to the following cash generating units (“CGUs"): FPIREELBEM (BREEL B .
2022 2021
B B —F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Regulated financial services business TIRE RRTEER 15,600 29,600
Property brokerage services business MERLIRTEZET 7,869 7,561
Building architecture and interior design HRRINTZRERETNZ
services under customised technical BFREEKREANFRTRE
support business 16,566 15,920
Geothermal energy business HEAREE TS 54,231 52,633
Building construction contracting business 185 i K 6] # 75 43,172 43,172
Data analytical services under customised RRPITZRERETZ
technical support business RO ITARTS 136,269 -
273,707 148,886
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs have been determined
based on the value-in-use calculation with reference to a
valuation performed by independent professional qualified valuers
not connected to the Group. That calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by management
of the Group covering a 10-year period for geothermal energy
business and a 5-year period for other businesses. Cash flows
beyond 5-year or 10-year period are projected using 2% growth
rate. Other key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations
relate to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include
budgeted revenue, such estimations are based on the CGU’s past
performance and management’s expectations for the market
development.

Due to unsatisfactory market sentiment and keen competition,
in particular uncertainties in the financial market, the carrying
amount of the CGU of regulated financial services business
exceed its recoverable amount. As a result, an impairment of
HK$14,000,000 for the goodwill was recognised in profit or loss
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (fifteen months ended 31
March 2021: HK$13,000,000).

No impairment for the goodwill of other businesses was recognised
in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2022 (fifteen months
ended 31 March 2021: approximately HK$10,622,000 was
recognised for geothermal energy business).

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant CGU and are summarized as follows:

21. & @

REELFBU 2T KREBEHEESZEBE
BEEAEET wEHAREEMR
EBEEBISEXESERGEMPTE
B ZTEERERAERE
HEE A ERH E - F AR AR
HMERMEAFHRB 2 MBIESEE
HZREREBEAN - BBAEFER+F
R ZIRESEREBR2%IEEXREHEE
HoFREEAENEMEERR S
REsRESERA Y HhEIEHE
BWm ZEERRESELEEMAD
BERBAEEBHMSEENTAR
fEH ©

HRmSENITESRHEIE B LH
EEMTENABERAREZ RRES
BRFBESNIBEScEE BN ZREE
BEE e 28 Rt EmERE
14,000,000 B TTNEBE_S - _F=
B=Z+—HIEEEMNEZANRT (]
E_EZ_—F=ZHA=+—HILE+HE
A 13,000,000 7T) °

BMEAMER 2 BEREREE S
::E—E_Jr BIEFEEMERE
NED (BE_E-_—F=B=+—
BiE+EM@A -ﬁ*jﬁim%ﬂ BEEFEIN
10,622,000 7T) ©

PRAIRERSMRAIF R BRRRES
EEBAMERAZEERRE BT :

2022 2021
—T-C T
() Regulated financial services business (i) SHEESRIRFBES 13.61% 13.70%
(i)  Property brokerage services business (i) YELLIRTEET 16.00% 16.68%
(iii) Building architecture and interior design (iii) 4R RMTIBEEFE T
services under customised technical BFRBEKRENKRTRDS
support business 17.17% 17.16%
(iv) Geothermal energy business (iv) MMEABEZEFS 12.48% 12.61%
(v)  Building construction contracting (v) EBFEERROER
business 19.94% 20.30%
(vi) Date analytical services under (i) HEEMSZEERBEN
customised technical support business R D TR 18.71% =
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AR e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

22. INTANGIBLE ASSET

2. EBREE

License Backlogs Total
L3 E3LHIE “st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEBT FET
COST B A
At 1 January 2020 RN_Z2-_ZF—HF—H 811 - 811
Acquisition of subsidiaries WK BE Bt B A B - 4,067 4,067
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 RZIZ_—4%F
and 31 March 2022 =A=+—H"
“ET—FMmE—H
—_E__F=8
=+—H 811 4,067 4,878
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION — E5t#84
At 1 January 2020 R_E_ZEF—H—H = = S
Charge for the period B0 bR = 4,067 4,067
At 31 March 2021, 1 April 2021 WRIZZEZ—fF
and 31 March 2022 =A=+—H-
2T —HF@mEBE—H
R
=A=+—H - 4,067 4,067
CARRYING VALUE IREE
At 31 March 2022 i
=B=+—H 811 - 811
At 31 March 2021 N —F
=BA=+—H 811 = 811

The license has a legal life of 1 year but is renewable every year
at minimal cost. The Directors are of the opinion that the Group
would renew the license continuously and has the ability to do
so. Various studies including product life cycle studies, market,
competitive and environmental trends, and brand extension
opportunities have been performed by management of the Group,
which supports that the license has no foreseeable limit to the
period over which the provision of services restricted by license are
expected to generate net cash flows for the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &5F —

22. INTANGIBLE ASSET (CONTINUED)

23.

As a result, the license is considered by management of the
Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected to
contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The license will not be
amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead, it
will be tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period
and whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired.

The backlogs represent a series of uncompleted building
construction contracting contracts. It is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated on the recognised revenue over their total estimated
revenue. At 31 March 2021, the backlogs have been fully

22.

=42 H
ARE

M FSER R MIEE

oA+ AIEE

BEEE @

Ril) £ B ERELHLMRAS
IR A 4 1 (R A TR IS T

R GRS AP B -
Wi HEHCAENREEAS
R o A% - HLIGH & B IR R A D
LET A B W R E R (TR
Bt

R BIE—RIARTRIEFER
B E R o KR A R 5t #3585
BERIE -#HEHREERZ Wm
BRUEMGS AR mA R - R 2T —
FZR=1t—H R EBEXH

amortised. iy o
INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES 23. MR ERT 2
2022 2021
—E-C BT —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Costs of investment in associates REE AT ZRERK 69,166 132,253
Share of post-acquisition profits and other MEWEE RN REMEE
comprehensive income, net of Y BMBRBEWR R
dividends received 5,246 11,442
Disposal of an associate HE—RHBEAR - (67,413)
Deemed disposal upon step DETWERB AR RBBIEHE
acquisition of subsidiaries (50,802) -
Exchange difference BER =48 962 1,619
24,572 77,901
Amount due to an associate FE(S — B & A T RI1E - (16,631)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group acquired 42%
of the issued share capital of Treasure Cart Holdings Limited
(“Treasure Cart”) at a consideration of HK$90,000,000. After
the completion of the acquisition on 12 August 2021, the
shareholding of Treasure Cart owned by the Group increased
from 25% to 67% and thus the Group is able to exercise control
over Treasure Cart. As a result, Treasure Cart and its subsidiaries
(collectively as “Treasure Cart Group"”) ceased to be associates and
have become non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company since
then.

HE_Z__#=B=+—HI1L*#E
> AREE U BETreasure Cart Holdings
Limited (T Treasure Cartl) Z42%B

BEITH A KB 7390,000,0008 7 ©
%EHQ%%IER_V ——ENB+Z
HEmM%E  NEBE#E B Treasure Cart
ZIRER25%IBECT%  AMAERE
BES ¥ Treasure CartE MEiEHI# - &
Il > Treasure Cart EHBAT (458
MMreasure CartE@E)) BILEM A X
NEIZIIEZENBLAT MABEEH
E=ANSIE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

23. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 23. RBERT 2w @
As at 31 March 2022, the Group had interests in the following A CE_ _F=B=+—H &x&E
associates: RUTHE AR ERRER !
Proportion
of ownership Proportion of
Place of Class of interests indirectly voting Principal
Name of entity incorporation  shares held held by the Company power held activities
FRFHEEAR iR E
B SMmINE  FriSRGER BRREZLH L 4i] TEEH
2022 2021 2022 2021
g C-B--%F B Z--&

Tiandi Youdamei (Beijing) Cultural PRC Registered 25% 25% 25% 25% Investment holding and
Tourism Co., Ltd* capital hotel operation and
("Tiandi Youdamei") management,

provision of

related hotel property
value-added services

FHERE (IR XIKERAE HE SfEL REERKRBELERE
FR:2=p ) B RUEEHAEYE
RERY
Sichuan Yinlu Hotel PRC Registered 20.05% 20.05% 20.05% 20.05% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management,
provision of
dining services
m)IEEEEERERAR HE SfEL BECERER REE
BN
Suzhou Yinlu Hotel PRC Registered 20.05% 20.05% 20.05% 20.05% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management,
provision of
dining services
BINEEBEEEERAR HE SfER BELERER REE
BN
Beijing Tiandi Damei Hotel PRC Registered 20% 20% 20% 20% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management, provision

of related hotel
property value-added

services
TRRUAZBEERBRAT FE HMER BERERER fRIEHE
HBEMELERS
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBEHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

23. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 23. RBE T 2 Em @
Proportion
of ownership Proportion of
Place of Class of interests indirectly voting Principal
Name of entity incorporation  shares held held by the Company power held activities
FREMEFAR FiERE
Bl SMMINE RGOSR BRREZLA tEtL Al TEEH
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E_C g% Z%ZC _F_-&
Xinglong County Yinlu Shanfang Hotel PRC Registered 20% 20% 20% 20% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management,
provision of
dining services
AERRELRBEEEERAT HE SfEL BAERERER RHE
AR
Chengde Yinlu Senzhigu Hotel PRC Registered 13% 13% 13% 13% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management
RERERZABEEEERAD HE SfEL BAERERER
Chengde Shide Yinlu Hotel PRC Registered 13% 13% 13% 13% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management
REREREBEEEERAD HE SfEL BAERERER
Shifang City Banshan Yinlu Hotel PRC Registered 10.02% 10.02% 9.02% 9.02% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management,
provision of
dining services
B IREEEEEERAR FE SfEL BAERERER RHE
AR
Guilin Yinlu Hotel PRC Registered 25% N/A 25% N/A" Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd* capital management,
provision of
dining services
EMREEEERAR HE SfEL TER TER BELERER RHE
AR
Qinhuangdao Wang Shan Hotel PRC Registered 25% N/A 25% N/A" Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd* capital management, provision

of dining services and
related hotel property
value-added services

REBZEEEERRAT e EMER TER TER BERERERE RYE
RRERAEAEEY £
RERE
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AR e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 # %

FZHA=+—HILFE

23. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED) 23. RBE T 2w @
Proportion
of ownership Proportion of
Place of Class of interests indirectly voting Principal
Name of entity incorporation  shares held held by the Company power held activities
TR HEFAR FiERE
Bl SMMINE iSRG ER BRRELLH tetLhl TEEH
2022 2021 2022 2021
—E_C -5 Z%ZC —E_-&
Qinhuangdao Tiandi Youdamei Hotel ~ PRC Registered 25% N/A 25% N/A" Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd* capital management, provision
of dining services and
related hotel property
value-added services
REBTRUMAAFBEEEERAD *E HfEL TER TER BERERER RHE
ARBRAEDEENZ
RERY

The summarised financial information in respect of Tiandi
Youdamei and its subsidiaries that is material to the Group is set
out below, which represents amounts shown in the associates’
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and
adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes including
any differences in accounting policies and fair value adjustments.

BERRMERERENBAREY
AEEMEBEE2HHERGML
WTH RERBBEEBYMHREENR
HBMERTAMBREATEE B
EAEENEDETENFHBEE
BRETHRNERERERATES

o

2022 2021
—g-= —E-—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Non-current assets JEREEE 60,877 62,313

Current assets MENEE 39,768 30,298

Non-current liabilities ERHER (12,194) (12,239)

Current liabilities mEaE (34,810) (25,603)

Net assets BEEFE 53,641 54,769

Net assets BEEFE 53,641 54,769

Less: Non-controlling interest o FEEERR R S (2,911) (2,714)

Equity attributable to the owners BB AEGER 50,730 52,055
Proportion of the Group's NER 2 HEE LA

ownership 25% 25%

Share of net assets value DB EFE 12,682 13,013

Goodwill mE 11,890 11,426
Carrying amount of the Group's rEB#G ZREE

interests 24,572 24,439
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

23.INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

AR e MR R M

23. RBE T 2 Em @

From

30 October

2020

(date of
Year ended acquisition)

31 March to 31 March

2022 2021

TEITE

BE +A=+H

k-l W) =

=BA=+—H T

IEEE =ZB=+—H

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET THET

Revenue for the year/period FR R E 26,825 7,309
Loss for the year/period FRHRER (3,306) (2,381)

Total comprehensive expense FR /R mEE 4%

for the year/period (3,306) (2,381)

As at 31 March 2022, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’ associates in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately HK$2,540,000 (2021: approximately
HK$3,705,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.

RIE__F=B=+—H &X&EH
RPBEBE AT ZIRITRIBEEHU
ARMESHE > £952,540,0008 7T (Z
T —14  493,705,0005B7T) c AR
te DI INE BB T ESNEE B
B o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

24.INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES 2 MEB AT ZHEm

2022 2021
T —F-—

HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FET

Unlisted investments: JELTERE
Cost of investments KENAK 6,297 1,187
Share of (loss) profits b (B518) & F (1,121) 472
Exchange differences (ERZERE 16 18
5,192 1,677
Amount due from a joint venture FEW—E &8 ABMIE 2,222 =
Amount due to a joint venture B —REEaE A AsRIE (123) (119)

N B ZF=R=+—H Fx&%H
RUTEEREDEAED

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has interests in the joint ventures
as following:

Proportion of ownership

Place of Class of interests indirectly Principal
Name of entity incorporation  shares held held by the Company activities
FREREEREN
BRE FEMMEIME AR EER BEERZILH TEEE
2022 2021
ZEICE B
Guohua Jiaye (Shenzhen) Construction PRC Registered capital 51% 51% Construction and project
Management Co., Ltd.* (“Guohua management
Jiaye (Shenzhen)”)
HEEE (R EREBBRAD FEH HRER BERBEEE
(TEZEEZE ORI )
Xingtai Baoshihua Energy PRC Registered capital 35.7% 35.7% Not yet commerce business
Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Xingtai
Baoshihua")
BERTEERBERARAT HE HRER HRFBES
(MMEagATE)
Note: fIEE -
(i) The Group through its wholly-owned and non-wholly owned subsidiaries () AEMEBEZERIFZENBATDHI

to hold 51% equity interest in Guohua Jiaya (Shenzhen) and Xingtai
Baoshihua respectively. Pursuant to the their Articles of Association, all
decision making shall be by an unanimous vote of the shareholders.

FAEZEEE (FY) RMEEGTENS51%
e IRIBZMFTA B NAMERMA > Fr
BRREHREEE —BMRRAEL IR
As at the end of the reporting period, both companies comprised two SHFR ZERAHMGRRMERL -ES
shareholders. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group together with the RA AEEEREMBRREREGZSE
other shareholders, has joint controls over them. YNSIE
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

24. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)

The table below shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share of
amounts of all individually immaterial joint ventures that are
accounted for using the equity method.

AR e MR R M

2. IRBERTF Z2Em @)

TRITAEEEIGFRA ER A
ANRBERFFERGE QT ZBER-

2022 2021

== B4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FTET

Net assets BEFE 5,176 1,659

Fifteen months

Year ended ended 31 March

31 March 2022 2021

BE_E-_—§F #E_T”_—%

=B=+—H =B=+—H

IEEFE E+HES

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Revenue for the year/period F/PHRE 2,753 2,363

(Loss) profit for the year/period F /8RN (BB18) &7 (1,593) 472

Other comprehensive (expense) income F/REMEE

for the year/period (BA) W= (2) 18
Total comprehensive (expense) income F /N2 E (B

for the year/period W R 4B %A (1,595) 490

There is advanced payment from a joint venture of approximately
HK$123,000 (31 March 2021: HK$119,000) at the end of the
reporting period. The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand as at 31 March 2022.

There is an advance payment to a joint venture of approximately
HK$2,222,000 (31 March 2021: nil) at the end of the reporting
period. The amount due is unsecured, interest-free and has
repayment term of two-years commencing from the drawn-down
date.

REREHER RE—BEEQATHNR
HRRIEA%9123,0008 7T (ZE - —F
=A=+—H:119,000%7T) c ZR1E
ABEIEF -FFEAR_ZE_"_F=
B=+—HABREXREE.

R e S Nl 1 e /AT N
HRIEA 492,222,000 (ZE - —
F=A=+—H8:%) -ZzBEARIK
ARt EHERARBIRAH
AR o
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FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

25. BAFEsFARMEE R

ZEMEE

INCOME

2022 2021
g B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Equity instruments BATE

Unlisted equity securities in Hong Kong, REAWNIELTRAES

at fair value (Note i, ii) BATESE M) 8,640 8,640

Notes:

@

(ii)

In 2002, the Group, through an acquisition of a wholly-owned subsidiary,
acquired 30,000,000 promoters’ shares in Beijing Beida Jade Bird Universal
Sci-Technology Company (“BBJB”) (the “Promoters’ Shares”) of RMBO.1
each at a consideration of HK$38,250,000, which is equivalent to 1.98%
of total issued share capital (including H shares and Promoters’ Shares) of
BBJB as at the end of the reporting period.

BBJB is a joint stock company with limited liability incorporated in the PRC
with its H shares listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Board”).
The Promoters’ Shares were unlisted share capital issued by BBJB when it
was initially listed on the GEM Board in 2000. According to the Company
Law in the PRC, the Promoters’ Shares were not transferable within three
years from the date of incorporation of BBJB on 29 March 2000. The
unlisted equity investment is measured at fair value and is classified as level
2 fair value measurement (see note 8).

The above investments are intended to be held for medium to long term.
Designation of these investments as equity investment of fair value through
other comprehensive income can avoid the volatility of the fair value
change of these investments to the profit and loss.

There is no change in fair value of the financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income during the year. As a result, no fair value gain
or loss was recognised as other comprehensive income for the year ended
31 March 2022 (fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: fair value loss of
approximately HK$2,590,000 was recognised).
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@)

(i)

RIZEZE AEEESBRE—B2
BHEAF > 2138,250,00058 TR BEA
30,000,0008 6 RIEREBIRFRF KGN
BRAS (IEATR) SKREEARO0.1
TTZ BB AR (TEERARMDY - BER
HBERRILABTEEETRALLEE (BIEH
BR R BEE AR 1) B91.98% ©

EABEARPEEMARIZRDERE
ERE > HHRTEHAZFRGEM (T GEMAR )
IR -BEARMABLERABENZZEZ
FEREGEMIR LM #ETZIE LTI
Ko RFEFEAB L BRRARNMBIEKRE
EBHMRIAH (CEZTE=/F_+1h
B) B =FRFEE R FLTREALE
BATESERDEAR _BATETE
(B HfsE8) °

EHREERNPRAF A - BEZXFRE
REATEFARMEERGEZREARE
FERMRZERAEZATEEHHESRES
PEIEZ-E

FRARAFEFAEMEZEREZ SME
EZATEHEEH AL #E_T -
F=ZB=+—BItEE BEATEERR
mIEAHMEENGD BE_TSZ—F=
B=+—HLE+HMEA : 42,590,000% 7t
BB AATERSE) o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

26. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES

For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

26.

All interest rates inherent in the leases are fixed at the contract

date over the lease terms.

AR e MR R M

R EHEERIE
AEFAEARNRREARRRE

HEBEE

2022 2021

== B4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Finance lease receivables FE B ERERIE 51,769 50,935
Less: allowance for impairment of finance BRI ERERERE

lease receivables (46,855) (34,988)

Finance lease receivables, net RN ERERIE F58 4,914 15,947
Analysed for reporting purposes as MBEEN DA RBEE

current assets 4,914 15,947

The movements on the allowance for impairment of finance lease

FiE U i 2 L O O O R £ 8 B 1

receivables are as follows: S G
2022 2021
g T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET THET

At 1 April 2021/1 January 2020 PZEZ—FME—H/

—EZF—A—H 34,988 34,462
Exchange difference bE R RE 1,571 2,150
Impairment loss recognised ERETRERE 10,296 =
Reversal of impairment loss B E R - (1,624)
At 31 March R=B=+—H 46,855 34,988

Minimum lease payments

Present value of

minimum lease payments

RIEBEMT REREMARZRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
“E-g 2§ B CZZ-%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET AR FTET
Finance lease receivables comprise: EWRERERIERE !
Within one year and present value of —ERRERSREREMNTZRE
minimum lease payment receivables 4,914 15,947 4,914 15,947
BEIEEMITRERAT 2021/22F 5k
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AR e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 8t —&E _— _tF =5 =+—HIFFZE

26. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Effective interest rates of the above finance leases is 6% (2021:
6%) per annum. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, finance lease
receivables are secured over the motor vehicles and plant and
machinery leased and for certain corporate lessees, equity interest
of the lessees are required as additional security.

Before accepting any finance lease arrangement, the Group
assesses the financial strength of the lessee and considers the
credit limit granted to the lessee. In addition, the Group may
request for the guarantor with strong financial status where
necessary.

As at 31 March 2022, finance lease receivables before allowance
for impairment of approximately RMB41,928,000, equivalent
to approximately HK$51,769,000 (2021: approximately
RMB39,448,000, equivalent to approximately HK$46,805,000)
was past due. Included in the carrying amount of the above
finance lease receivables as at 31 March 2022 are three
individually impaired receivables of approximately RMB37,948,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$46,855,000 (2021: approximately
RMB29,489,000, equivalent to approximately HK$34,988,000)
which impairment was made due to customers’ default in
payment. The Group has either taken legal actions or assessed the
latest operating and financial position by site visit against these
customers and considered the legal opinion from independent
legal advisers during impairment assessment. For the remaining
past due amount of approximately RMB3,980,000, equivalent to
approximately HK$4,914,000 (2021 :approximately RMB9,959,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$11,817,000), the Group is still
negotiating practicable repayment terms and schedules subsequent
to the end of the reporting period. Accordingly, the Directors
considered no further impairment loss needs to be recognised.

Management closely monitors the credit quality of finance lease
receivables. As at 31 March 2022, the age of the finance lease
receivables was over three years (2021: over three years) based on
the effective dates of the relevant lease contracts.
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26. EW R EREHIE @

tHARMERECERFENER6% (Z
BZ—F16%) N_B__FR_
ET-F-—RB=+—H EBHKBEH
ERMBELUSENRME R HEHEE
B RETEERARBAME AU
EENREFRTRIMENR -

ERXETUMEEE R  ~5E
SHEERKBEAZHMBED LEER
FTERBEAZEERER LI HHE
AEBAEERAGBREYH RN R
BERA

A CE T TE=ZR=+—H {0k

EREINERRERERBENAR
#541,928,0007c (1HE H24951,769,000
Br) (ZEZ—F . HAR®
39,448,0007t (tHE 5 #746,805,000
BL)) BRABH- R_E__£=H
—t+—H LA ERHEREERE
ZHREESE = EERREZ U
TIEH AR #37,948,00078 (FEE P
#946,855,0008 7t) (Z T —4F .
“ANR129,489,0007T (BERA
34,988,000 7)) » ZBELREEE
HBRARHR - AEBEHZERR
REERTHABBEMERIAHR
TRV E R B 7K e B R {E B A R
EEBIAEBRREHEZZEZER
FEI R A ARV IBAI A R #3,980,0007T
(BN 44,914,000 7T) (ZBE-—
F 4 AR 19,959,0007T (FHE R4
11,817,000 7)) M Z"EBTE
MR SR BRERIITHERIER
KBS b TiERm o AL EERA
BERDE— T RERIE

EEERYSEEREIREEERE L
FEEER-R_BE__F=RA=+—
B REEREESNZENBH
BURRMEBAEREZRER=FU L
CEBEZ—F:=ZFMUb-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

INVENTORY 27. %78
2022 2021
g &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THET
Consumables for production of heating BARmMARTEZSEEN
and industrial steam JHFEm 4,430 3,915
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 28. & U BR 7R Ko EL At & L FRIE
2022 2021
g B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables arising from trading business B & % 75 Ffr & & 2 FEURBR X 169,565 174,798
Trade receivables arising from the securities EHMEIERKILERFIEEY
and futures brokerage business FE U AR R 228 227
Trade receivables arising from MEHEERmMEEZ
finance leasing business & W BR =R 4,877 2,314
Less: allowance for impairment OB RS (556) =
4,321 2,314
Trade receivable arising from geothermal HERRE ZE TSP B A 2 IR URBR X
energy business 1,619 237
Trade receivable arising from building BFRERKOEREEZ
construction contracting business FE W AR R 21,570 12,426
Trade receivable arising from centralised ERHEAEBREE
heating business FE W AR R 2 858
Trade receivable arising from property MERBERIBEEBIEER
development and project management i EE 4 2 FEWBR R
business 37,776 13,158
Trade receivable arising from customised HRRNZREBMEEZ
technical support business FE W AR R 14,488 1,221
Trade receivable arising from property MERABEFBMEEZ
brokerage business FE W AR R 15,772 20,190
Trade receivables arising from international air BEIFRfn 2= K6 E SiE %55
and sea freight forwarding business i EE 4 2 FEWBR R 1,487 1,548
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (1,463) (1,453)
24 95
Prepayments AT RIB 89,778 37,500
Value-added tax recoverable AU EIEERR 16,205 12,558
Deposits and other receivables & R EHMEWTIE 96,862 39,834
Receivables from disposal of a subsidiary HE—RNEBARZEBWHRIE 26,505 =
Construction deposits BHERE 129,644 55,765
624,359 371,181
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AR e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continuep)  28. & UK AR 7R e EL fth FE UK TR 1B
()
The Group's trade receivables arising from securities and futures AEBBSRPERLEEBMESL
brokerage business include brokers with carrying amounts of ZEWERFBEBELKLZEEEDN
approximately HK$228,000 (2021: approximately HK$227,000). 228,000 (B = —4 : £9227,000
ATT) ©
The Group allows an average credit period normally ranging from AEBBKTFERXPZFHEEHR—®&
30 days to 180 days (2021: 30 days to 180 days) to its customers. MTFE30HE180H (ZE_—4F : 30H
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of E180H) 2B - UTANRREMFE
allowance for doubtful debt) presented based on the invoice date BERARAEBSORM 2B
or the payment date as stated in the respective contracts at the (BT EAER 292
end of the reporting period, which approximates the respective FEWER R (B REREH) BREG D
revenue recognition date. e
International Property
air and Building development  Customised
Finance  seafreight ~Geothermal construction  Centralised  and project technical Property
Trading leasing  forwarding energy  contracting heating management support  brokerage
business business business business business business business business business
ERHZER BFEE NERER  HREHE
BEXY MEREER BLEEEER HREER RAER SPHREER HREEER REER MELLER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TH THw Thn THn THw Thn THw T Thn
2022: kSt
Within 30 days 308/ = 103 12 548 15,387 2 37 352 =
31-60 days 315604 = 103 - 279 = - 1,025 142 -
61-90 days 61E90H 73,355 103 = 279 = - 1,025 327 -
Over 90 days iBiBI0H 96,210 4,012 12 513 6,183 - 31,954 13,667 15,772
169,565 4,321 24 1,619 21,570 2 37,776 14,488 15,772
International Property
air and Building development  Customised
Finance seafreight  Geothermal  construction  Centralised  and project technical Property
Trading leasing  forwarding energy  contracting heating  management support brokerage
business business business business business business business business business
BRHAZR BFEZE MERER e
BEXE MEREXY BLEEXE HHARER AOEY EREREYR BEEEXR SEEE NELLER
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
TR TR TR TR TEL TR TR TERT TR
2021: —B %
Within 30 days 308/ 5 198 51 s 4,969 S 10,904 677 =
31-60 days 31E60H - 198 16 12 1,457 679 1127 - -
61-90 days 61908 44,074 198 16 = = 179 1,127 = 20,190
Over 90 days #BiB90H 130,724 1,720 12 225 = = = 544 =
174,798 2,314 95 237 12,426 858 13,158 1,221 20,190
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AR e MR R M

For the year ended 31 March 20228 %2 — & — —F=H =+—HIFFEZ

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The settlement term of trade receivables arising from the securities
brokerage business are two trade days after the trade execution
date. The trade receivables from futures brokers are repayable on
demand which represent amounts deposited for trade execution
purpose.

Included in the Group's trade receivable balance are debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$168,015,000
(2021: HK$133,225,000) which were past due at the end of
the reporting period and for which the Group has not provided
for doubtful debt. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
approximately HK$96,210,000 of the past due balances were
settled.

The aging analysis of trade receivables that were past due but not
impaired based on the invoice date or the payment date as stated
in the respective contracts at the end of reporting date, which

28. FE W iR R B H fth FE U R IR

(@)

KBS G X2 BBARRRE B 1
RETXZAPEMERZH KB
HRERLZBRRIRAARERER
HIEGEFRETRSREZNIA

AEBRENERMRGEHTEIFEHER
{E49168,015,0008 70 (ZE - —F :
133,225,0005870) 2 FEW RN » IR ¥R
LHREA BAER T ER R
sHIR B - A E B E 7t 5% F 4 i
FEEAABEY REBEESHRE B
96,210,000 o8I B 45 ER B IEE T o

RIS B HRARE %% R HAZEE
:.ﬁﬁﬁ;JIJZHTAEIHH (Eﬂ%%ﬂﬁz
Eﬁuu\aﬁﬂjfEL) £§'JZE{§HH@#/W

approximately the respective revenue recognition date, is as follow: B2 RWRFTERE DT -
2022 2021
—T-C T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Over 90 days #B4890H 168,015 133,225

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on the past experience, the management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balance are still considered fully recoverable.

The movements in allowance for doubtful debts of trade
receivables were as follows:

CHEHBEBEREZERERIIRS S
BAREEEERTFELEHEZBIE
FoigBBE&ARE BEEMRE AR
EEEERTESEREE  BREEH
MR ATE&KE > WEBBEMZE
EERETIR BB B o

RUERMZ RERBHEFWT :

2022 2021
—E_C B —F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
1 April 2021/1 January 2020 - e e = 4

“E"E2F—HA—H 1,453 1,454

Allowance for impairment Rigm RS 2 REEE
recognised in profit or loss 548 -
Exchange difference 2 =28 18 (1)
31 March =A=+—H 2,019 1,453
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AR e MR

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTinueD)  28.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed on a regular
basis.

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related
to customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses also incorporate forward looking information.

Over

30 days

Current past due
=4 30K L
HK$'000 HK$'000

P& LSt Bl R B EL th FE W RR IR

(&)

ERMERNRE PR AERFEE
EERZEEER UEIERZE
BRB-BRZEERBNEHREX

N 380 AR 7 Ol (B 2 FE IR BR RS e 4 H
W R T RE e

FERBEREBMBREERNFEIN
BETZBIERE BEMEBWERRZ
EHERERERATIRBEREES
B-RtERHGEERRE BRERR
15 & LB 45 18 R 280 A KBRS 8 WU AR AR
D -BHEEGRTEIAEESE
o

Over Over

60 days 90 days
past due past due Total

bkt #HA
60K £ 90X £ st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET FTET FAET FET
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ
=A=+—H
Weighted average expected ~ JIHET ARG IR
loss rate - - - 1.7% 0.8%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) AIUR[E1£%E (F & 7T) 97,350 51,953 - 118,081 267,384
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE (T - - = 2,019 2,019
At 31 March 2021 RW_EZ—F
=A=+—H
Weighted average expected  fEFISFELGER
loss rate - - - 36.7% 0.6%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) AIUR[E1£%E (F A 7T) 92,299 130,724 - 3,954 226,977
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE (T - = = 1,453 1,453
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 &5F —

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

=42 H
ARE

M FSER R MIEE

FE__F-/A=+—HIFE

9 .80 BERGNER

LIABILITIES
2022 2021
—E-C —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contract assets BHEE 370,760 296,061
Contract liabilities HaH8E (10,805) (13,540)

There were no impairment losses recognised on any contract assets

during the year.

Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations unsatisfied

at end of year and expected to be recognised as revenue in:

FAMEREANGNEERDRERS

8o

REXRDEERENE
RUTFEERI BB RIRZE

NEERTAL

2022 2021
g B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THET

For the year ending 31 March BHE=ZB=1+—HIFE
- 2022 ——ZE2 - 701,272
-2023 ——ZE"= 631,694 584,526
-2024 ——ZF"mE 699,357 336,899
-2025 ——_ZT"H%F 755,547 419,965
- 2026 — B REF 803,913 -
-2027 ——ZF"tHF 852,543 -

Significant changes in contract assets and contract liabilities during

ERNSHEERANEBENEAS

the year: .
2022 2021
k- Jon ZEZ-F
Contract Contract Contract Contract
assets liabilities assets liabilities
BHEE BHEE BHEE BHEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAERT AT TAT TAERT
Increase due to operations in the year  FERFEEFFEEMEMN 329,451 - 438,187 =
Increase due to business combinations  REF A HimIEM - = 93,713 =
Transfer of contract assets to receivables &XEEEREENTIE (254,752) = (235,839) =
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue &4 EBEEEEWE - 88,961 = 29,192
Consideration received from customer ~ EWRBELHAE - (86,226) 3 (38,334)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

30. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE mZEME

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

30. ?é’&zlzﬁ?r)\?ﬁ

2022 2021
—E-—& =&
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets at fair value through BATEFAEBGRZSHEE
profit or loss:
- Contingent consideration receivable —HINENB A SRR
arising from profit guarantee clause in A REB IR R E L 2 BT
relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries ~ ZAX(E 29,633 10,679
As at 31 March 2022, the contingent consideration receivable was RZE__F#=B=+—HElg

related to the profit guarantee clause which was irrecoverably and
unconditionally guaranteed by the vendors when acquiring 100%
equity interest in Beijing Yuehai Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.*
GEREBLEEEEAME AT ("Beijing Yuehai”) on 24 March
2020. The fair value of the contingent consideration receivable
at the date of acquisition was approximately HK$644,000.
Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement, the consideration of
RMB30,000,000 (approximately HK$32,901,000) shall be payable
by the Group in 2021 to 2023 provided that the net profit of
Beijing Yuehai and its subsidiaries (“Beijing Yuehai Group”) was
i) not less than RMB10,000,000 for the period from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2020; ii) not less than RMB13,000,000 for
the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021; iii) not
less than RMB17,000,000 for the period from 1 January 2022
to 31 December 2022; and iv) not less than RMB40,000,000
for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 (the
“Guarantee Profit”). As Beijing Yuehai Group failed to meet the
Guarantee Profit of RMB10,000,000 for the period from 1 January
2020 to 31 December 2020 and RMB13,000,000 for the period
from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021, the Group shall
withhold the payment of RMB20,000,000 in 2022 accordingly.
As a result, the fair value of the consideration receivable as
at 31 March 2022 has been determined at approximately
HK$29,633,000 (2021: HK$10,679,000) based on different
scenarios of forecasted profit with reference to a valuation
performed by independent professional qualified valuers. Gain on
fair value change on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss of approximately HK$18,521,000 has been recognised in
profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2022 (during the fifteen
months ended 31 March 2021: HK$9,982,000).
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AREBBRRZFIERERERE ZER
DRI E-_EF=-F "+ HWKEIL
REBCEXSEEERAT (MIRE
B 2R ERHRE S A HE
K BRI HIE (R o FEURTL AL (B
RWEHBEZ AFENA644,0008
ToREREEEGZ AEBEEAR
TECEFEFETETFEFHAREBA
E#30,000,0007% (4932,901,000%
) HIEREEREMBAT (T
REBEER) ARV _E_EF
—BA—BE_E_EF+"_BA=+—
HEAE A~ LW AR %10,000,0007T ;
iImM_2_—F—H8B—HE_Z_—
FE+_B=Z+—HHEBALRAR
#13,000,0007% ;iR BB - _F—
A— Ei:x:_$+ B=+—
HEEE A DR AEK®17,000,0007T ;
)i’zlv)ﬁé:%_%i A—BE_Z®
T TEF+_B=Z+—HEBEBEALR
AR #40,000,00070 (MHERZEFR) ©
W E-®=FE—HB-—HE-_S_-%
FE+__A=Z+—HBHEBEERR_E
_—HFE—H—HEZZE”-_—F=F+T"
B=+—HEE BRIt EEEE
REEERIEMREF AER10,000,000
TR ARB13,000,0007T > A E
ERENS T - > S AR
20,000,0007t ° A 1L > 1R #5782 &= 7
ZAREBRIEZ2EZBIEESER
HEMETZEE BRAENR S
_EZRA=Z+—HZAFEEETE
#£%929,633,0008 0 (ZE - —4F
1o 679,000 7T) o&’&%ﬁuﬂwa
HrEMEEY AT ESHKEL
m521mo%m57émb_v:_
F==A=+—HIEFEZIEFRNRER
(9,982,000 T ER ﬁi:g:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

31. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances - trust and segregated accounts

The Group receives and holds monies deposited by clients and
other institutions in the course of the conduct of the securities and
futures brokerage business. Such monies are maintained in one
or more segregated bank accounts. The Group has recognised the
corresponding liabilities to respective external clients and other
institutions as trade payables (note 34). However, the Group does
not have a currently enforceable right to offset those payables with
the deposits placed.

Bank balances - general accounts

Bank balances and cash comprises cash held by the Group and
bank balances that are interest-bearing at prevailing market
interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.30% (2021: 0.01% to
0.30%) per annum and have original maturity of three months or
less.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
which are subject to foreign exchange control regulations or not
freely transferable:

31. SRITH B RIRE

IRITHE R —EERIBILIRE

FEBTEETESRPEELCERRF
TRMARFAEZERREMEBERZ
ME-ZEMEANFER—EAHZE
BURRTRF - AEBERHH K
BERREMEBHNARERED A
FEATERAR (BY5E34) - R AEEER
R EUFTFEFRIREZ S RAM
TERY SR B BNITRER]

IRITHEER——MRERP

RITHEREIRSOEAERFFRS
RIRITH R BB HBEANENF
0.01%ZE0.30% (ZE_—%F :0.01%
F0.30%) stE2  BRIFAA=EA
Ao

IRITHERRRIBE R AT AR IMNE
EREARF AT EBREREZR
I8 :

2022 2021
g —F=—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Amounts denominated in: MToESsHEZRIE
RMB AR 30,657 21,359
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FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

32. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES 32. BEIRE R KRFIE
2022 2021
gz —E_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Loans receivables: EUWER
Secured BIEFE 40,000 40,000
Unsecured KR 365,249 372,215
405,249 412,215
Interest receivables FEUSF B 60,434 42,149
Less: allowance for impairment of loan and 3 : FEUT & =R F) B A6 (E 2
interest receivables (66,453) (43,466)
Loans and interest receivables, net R ER LT B HEE 399,230 410,898
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MBEENDNA .
— Non-current assets —JERBEE 30,113 17,000
— Current assets —REEE 369,117 393,898
399,230 410,898
The movements in allowance for impairment loss of loan and EWERRFIE 2 RERBIEEFHES)
interest receivables were as follows: W
2022 2021
= B —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 April 2021/1 January 2020 RZZEZ—FME—H/
—E2FF—H—H 43,466 43,466
Impairment loss recognised ERERERE 22,987 -
At 31 March R=B=+—H 66,453 43,466
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

32. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2022, secured loans before allowance for
impairment of HK$40,000,000 (2021: HK$40,000,000) were
secured by assets charges provided by borrowers. The Group does
not hold any collateral over the unsecured loans. The remaining
loans amount before allowance for impairment of approximately
HK$365,249,000 (2021: approximately HK$372,215,000)
represents unsecured loans certain of which are accompanied
by personal or corporate guarantee. The loans advanced to the
borrowers under the Group’s money lending business normally had
loan periods from 6 to 54 months (2021: 6 to 54 months). The
loans provided to borrowers bore interest rate ranging from 8%-—
15% per annum (2021: 8%-15% per annum), depending on the
individual credit evaluations of the borrowers. These evaluations
focus on the borrowers’ financial background, individual credit
rating, current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the borrowers as well as the guarantees and/or security
from the borrowers (where necessary). The loans provided to
borrowers are repayable in accordance with the loan agreements,
in which the principal amounts are repayable on maturity and the
interests are repayable half-yearly, yearly or on maturity.

The following is an aged analysis of loans and interest receivables
(net of allowance for impairment), presented based on the dates
which loans are granted to borrowers and interests are accrued.

2. ERERMEFE @

ACE__F#=H=+—H KR
BE BRI 2B IEFER40,000,0008
7t (Z=|Z—4 : 40,000,000 7T) b
LERAFTiIRMt 2 B EHEIERF
ANEE W E EKFERSE T MR
HR-BRTHBRRERENZERS
%E%9365,249,0008 T (ZE _—£F
#9372,215,00087T) I8 & THHEE A
FAFERZEBIRIPER -BRIEALE
B BEEFBNTERAZERZ
ERHERACESAER (S —
F6ES4EA) cRREFEFRAZE
THENF8UEISUZEMEK (ZE
T —F I 8%EI5%ZEFXK) 5T A
BEEFAZEIEETEME o Z
ETEEINERAZEBES S E
ANEEFR BRELZCTEN KT RE
TAZERERN MU KRKBERAZF
B GEE (HRE) cRRETER
AZERERBERHBEEEZ B4
AEEENIPREERFNEES ¥
FE-BEYREFRFEE

T REEERAREER BT
ENBBEIZRBERKLFE (0
PRBERRE) ZBREC DT

2022 2021
—EZC T —

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#ET FHT

Within 90 days 90HR 15,170 4,721
91-180 days 91ZE180H 1,129 2,831
181-365 days 181%365H 10,037 27,112
Over 365 days B48365H 372,894 376,234
399,230 410,898
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

32. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2022, loans and interest receivables before
allowance for impairment of approximately HK$420,558,000
(2021: approximately HK$322,986,000) were past due. Included
in the carrying amount of the above loans and interest receivables
as at 31 March 2022 is four individually impaired receivables of
approximately HK$66,453,000 (2021: HK$43,466,000) which
impairment was made due to borrower’'s default in payment.
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, approximately
HK$8,898,000 were settled. The remaining past due amount of
approximately HK$345,207,000 are due from several borrowers
with whom the Group is negotiating practicable repayment terms
and schedules. The Directors assessed their creditworthiness and
financial position. The Group’s neither past due nor impaired
loan receivables mainly represented loans granted to creditworthy
customers for whom there was no recent history of default.
Accordingly, the Directors considered that no further impairment
loss is necessary. Saved for the aforesaid secured loans, the Group
does not hold collateral over other balances.
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2. ERERMEFE @

A TE - _FZAZ=Z+—H Ak
BERBEBINZ2ERER KR EDN
420,558,000 T (ZE-—F 1 &
322,986,000877m) EAB R =
T TE=ZRB=+—H LHEKE
AR EZREESEMNEER R
B FE I FUIE4Y66,453,0008 ¢ (=
——%F ! 43,466,000 7T) » EEH R
BIHEPRERAERIRRREE
K% > #98,898,0008 T EEE (T o £F
THBERBEBARRBEZERAZY
345,207,00078 70 > A& B IE B11% 5%
BRTEREREBER -EEE7F
EREEERRTET BRI KEER
ZARBEATEREZEREREES
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33. OTHER LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

AR e MR R M

33. Hth BB R R A B

2022 2021
sz —E_—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Other loan receivables: HthEWER .
— Loans related to a debt settlement —HERSFEHREERZER
agreement (Note i) (D) - 71,190
— Advance to third parties (Note ii) —MmE=FBM () 7,408 10,678
7,408 81,868
Other loan interest receivables: HthEWERFE !
— Advance to third parties —MBE=FBM 1,844 1,234
1,844 1,234
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MBESENDNA !
— Non-current assets —JERBEE - 3,559
— Current assets —hEEE 9,252 79,543
9,252 83,102

Notes:

(i)

On 1 March 2019, Rongjinda Finance Lease Company Limited* (“Rongjinda
Finance”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
a debt settlement agreement with Heyuan City Dongjiangyuan Hot
Spring Resort Limited* CARM B TRBREBNBRAE) (“Heyuan
Dongjiangyuan”) and Beijing Kaiyitong Enterprise Management Limited
Company* (bR B EEIERFRAE) ("Beijing Kaiyitong”) pursuant
to which the parties agreed that Heyuan Dongjiangyuan shall repay the
outstanding principal lease cost, interest and service fees of approximately
RMB6,979,000 in total while the remain outstanding balance of
approximately RMB76,764,000 is assumed by Beijing Kaiyitong. On the
same date, Rongjinda Finance entered into a loan agreement with Beijing
Kaiyitong pursuant to which Rongjinda Finance waived the interest and
consultancy fees payable totalling approximately RMB16,764,000 and the
remaining outstanding loan balance of RMB60,000,000 (approximately
HK$71,190,000) was repaid by 1 March 2021, with the interest rate of
10% per annum payable every six months. During the year, the loan
balance of RMB60,000,000 were fully settled.

The Group advanced RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,408,000) to a corporation, an independent third party in the PRC,
with the interest rate of 8% per annum. The advance of RMB6,000,000
is secured by 50% shareholding in the corporation and guaranteed by
the individual shareholder of the corporation and should have been
repaid in 2021. The Group is currently negotiating with the corporation
for practicable repayment terms and schedule and considered that no
impairment loss is necessary after assessing its financial position and
restructuring plan.

MIEE -

(ii)

RIZBE—NE=ZA—H ARV 2EWE
NEAMEERESHESRAR (MR ER
B B EhERIIRERERNERAR
(GAREIR) RIEFRSBBCEER
BRAE (ERHEBE)) I BB EER
ORI STAARRARETIREED
KEBEHERTTE FBRRFE L
# AR #6,979,00070 > Mgk FHKREBLE
B4 AR 1676,764,000C HILRY = @A
AR MEEMERILANRBITL
ERinE Bt MESERE R RN A
ERFBHELFHARY16,764,0007T K
BN EREEERLGHR AR60,000,000
7C (8971,190,00038 7T0) B B - —4F
—B—HAEE TEASNNEREENE
10%ZHFB-RER BREBRARK
60,000,0007C B HUE (T ©

AEBB—BPEAR (BBIE=H) B
F AR #6,000,0007T (18 E72497,408,000
BT o EFEAE8% o AR #6,000,0007T
BB REZATS0%RIERIFL HZ AT
BARREHIER BR S -—FEE-
REE BRI EEEZABERE A TERE
AR EER T EREVHR LR EA
BB XERRABBEEHRERSE-
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

34. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 34. FEFERFA R HHth FE (S 7018
2022 2021
—E-C BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
F3T FET

Trade payables arising from the securities and 2E 55 RIS KL EH 2

futures brokerage business FE{TRRER 4,082 4,269
Trade payables arising from international air 2R EBEEME KB L EEER

and sea freight forwarding business 2 FE{TERER 665 705
Trade payables arising from property KA ERL A ETS 2 FETIRR

brokerage business 276 3,018
Trade payables arising from geothermal HERRE ZE TSP A 2 PRI BR X

energy business 45,872 43,206
Trade payables arising from centralised ERHEAEBREEZ

heating business FE{TRRER 24,379 15,232
Trade payables arising from building BFRERCEBRFRELEZ

construction contracting business FE{TRRER 322,759 227,615
Earnest money from finance lease receivables FEWRIEHEEHREZHES 1,976 1,898
Accrued charges === 19,492 19,065
Consideration payables FETRE 88,183 137,728
Advance from subcontractor REDEEENR 110,299 80,678
Trust loans interest payable FEEsEERA R 7,939 4,027
Other payables Hih e g 29,280 39,995

655,202 577,436
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 %2 — & — —F=H =+—HIFFEZ

34. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group’s trade payables arising from securities and futures
brokerage business include margin clients and cash clients with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$4,062,000 and HK$20,000
respectively (2021: approximately HK$4,234,000 and HK$35,000
respectively).

For trade payables arising from the securities and futures brokerage
business, no aging analysis is disclosed for the Group’s margin and
cash clients as these clients were carried on an open account basis,
the aging analysis does not give additional value in the view of the
nature of business of securities brokerage.

For trade payables arising from property brokerage business, no
aging analysis is disclosed as the Group is yet to receive invoices
at the end of the reporting period. The payables is accrued based
on the monthly statements agreed with the respective agents.
According to the relevant agency contracts, the invoices will be
billed in the following month and the settlement terms is within 3
business days from the invoices date.

The average credit period on international air and sea freight
forwarding services is normally ranging from 30 days to 90
days (2021: 30 days to 90 days). For trade payables arising
from geothermal energy business, centralised heating business
and building construction contracting business, they are mainly
accrued and settled based on the progress of performance and the
settlement obligation as stipulated in the respective contracts. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

34. R RRTR B E fth FE F "R IR

(&)

NREBREBBSFRPERILEL -
HERAFEETREARREERZE
TERFR  BREE 9 B 494,062, ooo%r_n
520,000 T (Z2Z—F . 938
4,234,000 75 % 35,0007 7T) ©

KRB RESRMEECEFT ZEBMAR
MME BRTERFRRREER
MR EEFR TR RER A B 2SR
BERESELEBZME  REKD
it 4G T RRIMBE A E R E
REBEZEFERZIRE DT

MYMECCEFTELE ZBARRM

El &ﬁAzﬁﬁlr‘jﬂiE’fiﬁm,\ SE ]

o WO BRI BR AR B0 ) AT o FE A RRIR
?‘%ﬁf@ﬂa"ﬁtﬁﬁm%%‘iﬁ R
HENESH EREREBRE M
E&,.G%HHF%E FRPE=EEXE
HAe

HEEMTERELEERBZFHEES
BH—HANAFI0HEOH CEZ—F:
30HZE90H) - pLMIFAREETS ~ P H
MEBNEFERROVEBMELZ
FENERFMe HXTERBAEER
E D:vquTEHZ/E{Eéff%u‘l'&:un
BoAREEGEWBRBEIEREN
REMBEMRELREERBEZR
mnn/ﬁ"
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

34. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

34.

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables from
international air and sea freight forwarding business, geothermal
energy business, centralised heating business and building
construction contracting business presented based on the
invoice date and/or the settlement obligation as stipulated in the

respective contracts at the end of the reporting period:

International

P& A iR R e EL fth F& (9 "R IR

(&)

UTRRREARKEERMERE
LFEERS B ER ERHEAE
BUREBFRERBET ZBRMN
MEREC DT HREZELHRHE
MEXEIRZBEEERS]

air and Building
sea freight ~ Geothermal Centralised  construction
forwarding energy heating contracting
2022 —ECCE business business business business
ERMER BFEE
BLEEXER  HBERE SOHRER REBEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THET TR FHET
Within 30 days 30BR@ 41 126 14,184 287,114
31-60 days 31E60H - - 3,030 -
61-90 days 61£90H - - 5,051 13,608
Over 90 days HBiE90H 624 45,746 2,114 22,037
665 45,872 24,379 322,759

International
air and Building
sea freight Geothermal Centralised construction
forwarding energy heating contracting
2021 R -fF business business business business
EEMZER BFEZ
BLEEEH  HAEEYE SRERAEH AEEH
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
THT THT THT FHET
Within 30 days 30HA 85 - 9,503 223,236
31-60 days 31£60H S - 274 81
61-90 days 61£90H - - 5,056 1,980
Over 90 days H#Bi890H 620 43,206 399 2,318
705 43,206 15,232 227,615
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35. LEASE LIABILITIES
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

35.fHEAaE

Lease payments

Present value of
lease payments

HEMH HERZRE
2022 2021 2022 2021
¥ "E”_-F ZBIZE "ZT”--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAERT FTER FER FET
Lease liabilities comprise: HESEEE:
Within one year —&ER 16,394 7,940 14,944 6,793
In the second to fifth years, inclusive EMEEELE BEERRE) 3,927 5,921 3,841 5,429
Less: Future finance charges A RRHMEER (1,536) (1,639) = =
Present value of lease liabilities HESRERE 18,785 12,222 18,785 12,222
Less: Amount due for settlement ARt ZEBRIEEEZSHE
within twelve months MBrRsafrRETIR
(shown under current liabilities) (14,944) (6,793)
Amount due for settlement after twelve PR+ _{ERAHBAEEZSHE
months 3,841 5,429

At 31 March 2022, the average effective borrowing rate ranged
from 8% to 12% (2021: 8% to 12%).

RZIBEZZF=H=+—H’>¥FHE
BEEENTFE%EI2% (B - —
FI8%FE12%) o

36. DEFERRED TAX 36. EFEFRIE
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for MUBERMS  BEERBERZ D
financial reporting purposes: T
2022 2021
—E-C —m—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E 9,410 9,042

Deferred tax liabilities RERIESE = =

9,410 9,042
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36.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

The followings are the major deferred tax assets recognised and
movements thereon during the current year and prior period:

36. IREMRIE ()

RAFER LR EBIELEIRIE
BENESFMBNMT -

Impairment on
finance lease

receivables

FEUS R &

HEMIERE

HK$'000

FHET

At 1 January 2020 AZE-ZTE—A—Q 8,497

Exchange difference (ER =% 545
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RIE-_—F=B=+—H~&

T —FI™A—H 9,042

Exchange difference ER =8 368

At 31 March 2022 N B __F=H=+—H 9,410

At 31 March 2022, the Group has estimated unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$539,676,000 (2021: approximately
HK$483,804,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of estimated
unutilised tax losses (2021: nil) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

The estimated unutilised tax losses of approximately
HK$447,609,000 (2021: approximately HK$426,275,000) may be
carried forward against future taxable income indefinitely under
the current tax legislation in Hong Kong.

The estimated unutilised tax losses attributable to subsidiaries
in the PRC amounted to approximately HK$89,655,000 (2021:
approximately HK$55,526,000) that will expire within five years
from the end of the reporting period.
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%EH\JE@Z, F 2R > A E B
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

36. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

37.

The estimated unutilised tax losses attributable to a subsidiary
in Singapore amounted to approximately HK$2,412,000 (2021:
approximately HK$2,003,000) of which the use is subject to
the agreement of the tax authority and compliance with certain
provision of the tax legislation in Singapore and may be carried
forward against future taxable income indefinitely. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
The Group had no other unrecognised deductible temporary
difference as at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries (31 March 2021: nil) as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

36.

IRIEFLIE (&)

BN —EFINRNE AT NEET R
HRERFEIE 442,412,000 7T (Z
T —4F 1 492,003,000 7T) 0 B AZ
ERBEFRELKRERBER AR
SN EANSE TR A E R
e DURH AR RERRUA c B AR
] BEA AI H0 R BRF &= 2B 0] (IR IH R R
REH > W EZE N S A
FERELIREEE N _2_-__
R_E-_—FZRA=+—H ' K&EH
A48 H A R SR B R R = B o

BEPRCERESRE BTN
F—A—HAE BHRETHREYEH
MEBARFFSEMZEIKRE -BHR
s g B AE 1 ) B B = RE 2 B[O B RS
BE =51 K0 AR BT B
O #ERBEENTENBEATERR
B 2 B EENIBIERIBY R 4R
BMBERELEBEHE (CT_—£=
B=+—H8:%) -

TRUST LOANS 37. 555 B
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trust loan—secured EEER—BIKH 246,940 237,299

On 19 February 2020, the Group entered into the trust loan
agreements with an independent third party to obtain loans with
principal amounts of RMB200,000,000 in aggregate which carry a
fixed interest rate of 12% per annum and is repayable by March
2022. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group
entered into the supplemental agreements to extend the loan
repayment date of the trust loans to March 2023. The Group
received loan proceeds of RMB198,000,000 in March 2020, net
of 1% of loan principal amounts (i.e. RMB2,000,000) which is
required by the relevant rules and regulations to be invested in the
trust protection fund in the PRC. The loan proceeds were intended
to be used for the acquisition of the entire equity interest in Beijing
Yuehai and enhancing the general working capital. Pursuant to the
trust loan agreements (as amended and supplemented), the trust
loans are secured by pledging of (i) 100% shareholding of Jiangsu
Meili Kongjian Construction Design Development Co., Ltd* GI#k
ERETHEBERFEZEERABRRE) ("iangsu Meili Kongjian”)
and 70% shareholding of Baoshihua Geothermal Energy
Development Co., Ltd.* (BG{CHEAEFEE AR F) (“Baoshihua
Geothermal Energy”), and (ii) the land use right held by Jiangsu
Meili Kongjian and any constructions thereon; and are guaranteed
by Jiangsu Meili Kongjian.

N_E_EF_FA+hH AEFH
— B E = HFIUETERBEU
BEAEESHE AE200,000,000
T REEENKI12%TERARZ
ET_EFE-RREENER RRE
BAR®%B  REBTILHITHE 5155
BERMNERBBIEIRE_S _=—F=
HeREBR _SE_EF=FNEE
TS IE A E#198,000,0007T (8
MR EARAREEBRENTER
ERFREESN I %ERSSE (B
AER#§2,000,0007T)) - ERFERIE
BRANRWEIIREEZ2IRERIE
FA—REEET - RIBETLER NS
(M1 T 7)) ST EMTEH
(VIBEETHEREERTEXSRER
BRAE (DISFERZMEI) 100% KR 17
RELGIEHEAERZEERAE ((BEA
TERMEABE L) 70% IR HE > e (ii); 18R = RE
TR LM ERAERE EERER
{EIRIR  WH T AR R e IR (B (R o
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 # % —

TE T HF-/=—HIEFE

= O &
38. SHORT TERM LOANS 38. FHHAE ™
2022 2021
—e-= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET THET

Short term loans: SEEE=EN

- Secured (Note i) — B (feEEi) 20,742 =

— Unsecured (Note ii) — LR (B i) 6,544 20,170

27,286 20,170

Notes: B 5T

() The Group entered into short term loan agreements with independent () AEEERBIYE=AIILEBRERGE
third parties to obtain loans with principal amounts of approximately MG AEES \QJ)\EWHS 799,0007T
RMB16,799,000 (approximately HK$20,742,000) in aggregate, for (4#920,742,000% ) WEZ EHHAR
which loan amounts of approximately RMB8,799,000 (approximately #8,799,0007T (4910,864,00078 7T) FIE
HK$10,864,000) is interest-free and secured by corporate guarantee TEAFHERBEAAE—BEWEB AR
provided by a subsidiary of the Company, while loan amounts of HWPEERERT MERSBEARE
RMB8,000,000 (approximately HK$9,878,000) is carried a fixed interest 8,000,0007% (49,878,000 7t) 3% & & &
rate of 16.8% per annum and pledged by certain properties of a connected FIZ16.8% st B AR R B B A LA
person of the Company at the subsidiary level. As the aforesaid property THERKBABEERMFLIER AR L
pledge is free of any charge and not secured by any assets of the Group, MY IR A RIEIFER > BXIEUARE
the Directors considered that it is fully exempt from requirements of ENEAEEFLEER ESTARETE
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. All the secured short term loans are HMERET TR EUAZZHRE FMBA
repayable within one year. BIREBHERER —FRNEER-

(i)  The Group entered into unsecured short term loan agreements with (i) AEESABULE=HIUBBBLBEER
independent third parties to obtain loans with principal amounts of e UGS A~ £ 8 & H AK15,300,000
RMB5,300,000 (approximately HK$6,544,000) in aggregate, for which 7T (496,544,000 7T) MEZ  Hh AR
loan amounts of RMB2,300,000 (approximately HK$2,840,000) is interest- 2,300,0007T (492,840, OOO/%TE) NWEZE
free and repayable on demand, while loan amounts of RMB3,000,000 BEATHELBREREBE MENEEHE
(approximately HK$3,704,000) is carried a fixed interest rate of 6% per A E#3,000,0007t (493,704, 000%71:) %
annum and repayable in June 2022 (2021: RMB17,000,000 (approximately BEEFFE6%TEMABAR T ZZFX
HK$20,170,000) which carry a fixed interest rate of 16.8% per annum and BHEE (CZEZ—F: ARIEB17, 000 0007t
repayable within one year). (%4920,170,000% 7t) REE FH/ZE16.8%

RN AER—FERER) o
4= S
39. BANK LOANS 39. SRITE
2022 2021
—s-= —E——
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Bank loans - secured RITER—FIEF 88,900 11,865

The secured bank loans are secured by (i) the corporate guarantee
provided by independent third parties, (i) personal guarantee of
a Director of the Company; (iii) certain flats of the investment
properties held by the Group and certain properties held by an
independent third party; and (iv) corporate guarantee provided by
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

The
fixed

bank loans are repayable within one year which carry a
interest rate ranged from 3.8% to 5.6% per annum and

dominated in RMB.
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40. SHARE CAPITAL

For the year ended 31 March 2022 & & —

AR e MR R M

—E - FCA-A+—HIFEE

40. g7

Number of Number of Share Share
shares shares capital capital
O E] Rip#E & A
2022 2021 2022 2021
ZgZZ FI-E k- e B -&
‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tk Tk TAT TER
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 SRAEE 1AL CE—4F
(31 March 2021: HK$0.1) each ZR=+-B 018N 2EBR
Authorised: EE
At 1 January 2020, 31 March 2021, RZBZEF-A-HB
1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 “E_-§=A=1+-B:
“2”-%£MA-HRK
-y = e = 25,000,000 25,000,000 2,500,000 2,500,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR:
At 1 January 2020 and 1 April 2021 RZBZZF-A-HK
“ZZ-FMA-AH 1,016,857 5,084,283 101,686 508,428
Share consolidation (Note a) R a6t (Hita) - (4,067,426) = =
Capital reduction (Note a) BAHIA (H3Ea) - - - (406,742)
Issue of rights shares (Note b) BITHRRH () 508,428 = 50,843 =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 1,525,285 1,016,857 152,529 101,686
Note: ST -

(a)  Pursuant to a special general meeting resolution passed on 31 August
2020, the Company implemented the capital reorganisation which
comprises:

@)

(ii)

the share consolidation whereby every five issued ordinary shares
of HK$0.1 each of the Company were consolidated into one issued
consolidated ordinary share of HK$0.5 each (the "“Consolidated
Share”) in the issued share capital of the Company effective on 2
September 2020; and

the capital reduction whereby the par value of all the then issued
Consolidated Shares was reduced from HK$0.5 each to HK$0.1
each by cancelling the paid-up capital of the Company to the extent
of HK$0.4 on each of the then Consolidated Shares in issue. All
credit of approximately of HK$406,742,000 arising from the capital
reduction was transferred to the contributed surplus account for use
by the Board in any manner permitted by the Companies Act and the
Bye-laws.

On 14 July 2021, the Company completed a rights issue of 508,428,313
shares at a price of HK$0.2 each per share with gross proceeds of
approximately HK$101,686,000 of which approximately HK$50,843,000
was credited to share capital and approximately HK$50,843,000 was

credited to share premium account. Details of the rights issue were set out
in the Company’s prospectus dated 17 June 2021 and the announcement

dated 13 July 2021.

BRER-_B2-2FNB=+—HARREH
ARG LEBNRIRER AREEE
TR AEHE HPEE:

i) BROGH BILEESAREAAFTE
BOSKREEBTZEERSH
BEABDEETRAT—RERE
BoSEBTZEHEER (TGHR
B BZE-RFNAARE
KV

(i) PRAHIR BB BFHEAQTK
BEREAUSKREREBETEHEK
7R0.4BTAR)  SREFEETS
HERRMMEER0.58 T B E0.1
B RAHREENFEERY
406,742,000 8 TEH B EM AR
IR LR EERRABIARMAES
ZEEMAXENE

RIEZ—FtHA+MB > AREAUEEK
0.278 TTHIEMSEM508,428,3138R 1A% - Fi
BRIAEATEA%9101,686,0008 75> Hh4y
50,843,00078 75t A B& 7K » 4950,843,00078
T ARMDHBIR - ARAERNFEBRL
AABHBAZS - —EXB -+t AN
KRELERABRAZE_—FtA+=HM
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

41.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
The 2021 scheme

On 1 September 2021, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2021 Scheme”) under which the Board may at its
discretion offer to any Director (including non-executive Director),
employee, suppliers, customers, any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to the
Group, shareholders of any member of the Group or any entity
in which the Group holds an equity interests and any other
group or classes of persons or entities who have contributed or
may contribute to the development and growth of the Group
("Participants”) to subscribe for shares in the Company in
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Scheme. The principal
purpose of the 2021 Scheme is to provide incentive or rewards for
the Participants’ contributions to the Group.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2021 Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of
adoption of the 2021 Scheme, unless a refresh approval from the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained. However, the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
2021 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

The subscription price of the option shares granted under the 2021
Scheme shall be a price to be determined by the Directors being
not less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value
of a share.
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 —&F _— —_#F = =+—HILFEZE

41.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

The 2021 scheme (Continued)

The total number of shares issued and may be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to any individual under the 2021 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant.

The 2021 Scheme does not contain any requirement of a minimum
period and the Board may in its absolute discretion impose a
minimum period requirement for each option granted on a case by
case basis.

The 2021 Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing from the effective date of the 2021 Scheme to
2 September 2031, after which no further options will be granted
but the options which are granted during the life of the 2021
Scheme may continue to be exercisable in accordance with their
terms of issue and the provisions of the 2021 Scheme shall in all
other respects remain in full force and effect in respect thereof.

Options granted under the 2021 Scheme must be accepted within
21 days after the date of grant. Upon acceptance of the option,
the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for
the grant.

At 31 March 2022, no share options have been granted and
remained outstanding under the 2021 Scheme. Subsequent to
the end of the reporting period, 90,000,000 share options have
been granted to six employees and five consultants of the Group,
representing approximately 5.9% of the shares of the Company
in issue as at the end of the reporting period and the date of this
report.

BRRESE @
—E_—F58

REHBH (B8FE&%E) LEF+ZE
BEHRER ARBE-Z - —F58 K
RABEFEMBRESBRTER
BAZ R EEITEMETRAIAEE
TZRMBE RERHEHRAEEE
BEITRMNZ1%-

TEC-FHITEHAETAREH
RZRE MEFRT2RHNBERE
REFAHR -FIRESHEBREZ
REREHREZTEBEREE -

CEC—EHEE ST
£ Eﬁﬂtfz_;ﬁ:—ihﬁ = EI 1E
+ERN—BEBR LR BT EE—5
Mo Wil o it
A5 53R L O MG BT AR U T4
BT LT BB — 5
2 SRR B HESRE T R
HRAEFR o

BE_Z - —F58IRUZBERER
PR B2 1 R B M - IR E
RER > KRABRARATZH1E
T EREREREZAE-.

RIE2E__HF=HB=+—H #HER
BZE S5 ERBERKRTE
HERE RBRERE  NEBRELE
T kA% EERER T90,000,00015 85
R AR BREPAREARSHBEER
NEIE BTN IIAI5.9%

EFEEEZERERAT 2021/225F 3R

195



196

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FEMBHRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

41.

42.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)
The 2012 scheme

On 22 May 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “2012 Scheme”) under which the Board may at its discretion
offer to any Director (including non-executive Director), employee,
suppliers, customers, any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the Group,
shareholders of any member of the Group or any entity in which
the Group holds an equity interests and any other group or classes
of persons or entities who have contributed to the development
and growth of the Group to subscribe for shares in the Company
in accordance with the terms of the 2012 Scheme. The principal
purpose of the 2012 Scheme is to provide incentive or rewards for
its participants’ contributions to the Group.

The 2012 Scheme was terminated after passing the resolution by
the shareholders on 1 September 2021. Upon the termination of
the 2012 Scheme, no further options would be granted under the
2012 Scheme but the options granted prior to such termination
continued to be valid and exercisable in accordance with provision
of the 2012 Scheme. As at 31 March 2022, no outstanding options
were granted but not yet exercised under the 2012 Scheme.

PROMISSORY NOTE RECEIVABLE

As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the carrying amount of
the promissory note receivable with principal amount of
HK$90,000,000, formed part of the Group’s consideration
receivables in relation to the disposal of East Favor Global
Investment Limited (“East Favor”) to Honghu Group Limited in
2017.

The promissory note is secured by 9,608 shares of East Favor,
representing 49% of the equity interests of East Favor at the
issuance date. The promissory note bears interest at a rate of 6%
per annum and the sole shareholder of Honghu Group Limited,
Mr. Deng Junjie (“the Guarantor”), has provided guarantee in
favour of the Group for the payment of all sums payable under the
promissory note. On 20 March 2018, 20 March 2019, 20 March
2020 and 18 June 2021, the Group and Honghu Group Limited
entered into a first supplementary deed, second supplemental
deed, third supplemental deed and fourth supplemental deed to
extend the repayment date of the promissory note to 20 March
2019, 20 March 2020, 20 March 2021 and 20 March 2022
respectively with other terms remaining unchanged.
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PROMISSORY NOTE RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, in April 2022,
the principal amount of HK$16,000,000 and interest amount of
HK$5,400,000 were settled. On 27 May 2022, the Group and
Honghu Group Limited entered into a fifth supplemental deed
pursuant to which (i) the repayment date of the promissory note of
HK$74,000,000 was further extended to 20 March 2023; (ii) the
Group agreed to waive default interests resulting from the default
on payment by Honghu Group Limited on 20 March 2022; and (iii)
other terms shall remain unchanged.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group enrolled all Hong Kong employees in the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500 (31
March 2021: HK$1,500) per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which
the contribution is matched by employees.

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC and Singapore
participate in defined contribution retirement schemes and CPF
Scheme organised by the relevant local government authorities
in the PRC and Singapore respectively. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of its payroll costs
to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
schemes is to make the specified contributions under these
schemes.

The total cost charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of approximately HK$11,504,000
(fifteen months ended 31 March 2021: HK$9,285,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in respect of
the current accounting period.
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43.
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44. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES 44. W BEFft B 2 B

Step acquisition from associates to subsidiaries

On 10 August 2021, China Best Financial Holdings Limited (“China
Best Financial”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
entered into share transfer agreement with Giant Win Holdings
Limited (“Giant Win”, as the vendor) and Mr. He Zhenyu (as the
guarantor), both are independent third parties, pursuant to which
China Best Financial conditionally agreed to acquire, and Giant Win
conditionally agreed to sell, the 42% equity interest in Treasure
Cart at a consideration of HK$90,000,000. The major subsidiaries
of Treasure Cart are principally engaged in the provision of
financial information, solutions and data analytical services to
customers in finance and property related field in the PRC. Prior
to the acquisition, the Group already held 25% equity interest in
Treasure Cart, which was accounted for by equity accounting. After
the completion of the acquisition on 12 August 2021, the Group
held 67% equity interest in Treasure Cart and Treasure Cart Group
has become non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company since
then.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Treasure
Cart Group acquired as at their date of acquisition is as follows:

M= ABEMBATNA Y
e iE

R_Z2Z—FNB+H xR2EZ
TENBABREECHIZRERAE
(TEZE£RL) EGiant Win Holdings
Limited (T Giant Win 1 fEAE /) KA
RFEE ERBERAN) (REHAE
UHE=H)FTURMDEERE EILL
HZEsRAERFREWE > MGiant
WinB &R E tHETreasure Cartz
42%B% 1 > 118 %490,000,0008 75 ©
Treasure Cartz EF BB AT ETER
FERED R MY EMRBERZ
BERIREMBER - BRAEEREIE
DR -RRBEEZF > A& E
K IEATreasure CartZ25% Mg >
WG EARRBE -RUIBEEER
“EC—FN\Bt+BRmE AE
EiF A Treasure Cartz67%M&#E > M
Treasure CartEEBIILEABARBEZ
EEEWBAT

FrU B Treasure CartEEE BRI DI BIE
ERBENRWEHBRNAFENT :

HK$'000
FET
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEREE 49
Trade and other receivables & Ut BR R R L fth FE W =R 1B 27,330
Bank and cash balances R1T R IR B ER 1,566
Trade and other payables FE < BR 30 R ELA FE A 3R 18 (15,913)
Total identifiable net assets acquired BB RIS RIE E S E 48 EE 13,032
Fair value of the equity interest held XM ENREATE
before the business combination (55,000)
Non-controlling interest JEER R (4,301)
Goodwill mE 136,269
Consideration RE 90,000
Satisfied by: BUTHAEZAM !
Cash consideration HERE 60,000
Consideration payable at fair value BAFEZENRE 30,000
90,000
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44, ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Step acquisition from associates to subsidiaries
(Continued)

The Group recognised the excess of the aggregate of (i) fair
value of the consideration transferred; (ii) non-controlling interest
measured at its proportionate interest in the identifiable assets
and liabilities of Treasure Cart Group; and (iii) the fair value of the
equity interest previously held in Treasure Cart Group over the fair
value of the net identifiable assets acquired as the goodwill. None
of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purpose.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition

44, IREBHI B A E) @

REBEXBTIMELATDND S
W g @)

REBDER)EEREZATFE ;)
il Treasure CarttEE A HRIBER
BENERLEA T ENIEERER

K (i) Z mifF B Treasure Cart%lﬂ’]ﬁx
BATEZMBEEWBEA#HIEE
FEZAFESXDIEAEE TR
ERERRE BT LN

WEFERELZ T LT FEE

HK$'000
FHE7T
Cash consideration paid for the year ended HE_ZE-__"H£=H=+—HILEEBENLHN
31 March 2022 REAE 75,000
Less: bank and cash balances acquired o WBEFR SR T RIS S5 (1,566)
73,434
Impact of acquisition on the results of the Group WEEIRH A EFEBEZZE

Included in the loss for the year is approximately HK$6,631,000
loss attributed by Treasure Cart Group. Revenue for the year
includes approximately HK$10,825,000 generated from Treasure
Cart Group.

Had the acquisition of Treasure Cart Group been completed on
1 April 2021, total revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2022 would have been approximately HK$858,457,000,
and loss for the year would have been approximately
HK$10,400,000. The pro-forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2021, nor
is it intended to be a projection of future results.

FERNEIEEETreasure CartEEE
1EE518496,631,0008 7T  FE AN &=
B3 BTreasure CartEBEE ML
10,825,000 7T ©

fHTreasure Cart%lzﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ\_v
B —HRR AEREE
T _E-RB=+—HIEFEENLE uﬁz
% FE /2 #9858,457,00038 7T » T 4E A 5
1BFEA%910,400,0008 T EEE K
EBERBZA F—EALEBEZ
WREBER _ - —EMA—H5%M
BYIE R T ERRED A IR R A
BIEAZ > TRIEBRVE A R R EEW TR o
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45. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 29 March 2022, Shenzhen Guohua Construction Industrial
Co., Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
the disposal agreement with, among others, an independent third
party to dispose 100% equity interest in Jiangsu Meili Kongjian
and the benefit of the aggregate amount outstanding and owing
by Jiangsu Meili Kongjian to the Group at a consideration of
RMB126,000,000 (approximately HK$155,572,000). The disposal
was completed on 31 March 2022 and the Group ceased to hold
any interest in Jiangsu Meili Kongjian accordingly.

The net assets of Jiangsu Meili Kongjian at the date of the disposal
were as follows:

45 HEM B AT

ATE__E=ZAZ+ARARE
2EEWBABFIIEEREXEES
RABE—2BIUFE=H (HPEHE
SNHERZEUEE IHREETHN
100% R R TR =R E R4S X AE
ERRESRELENFE KEL
AR #126,000,0007% (49155,572,000
BIT) HEFEWR _E-__£=8
=+ —HERM MAEEBIER
BEAIHEETHMNTAELR

AREEERNHEERNEEFE
LI

HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment MEBEMEE 92
Properties under development for sale BRERPEFEYE 107,490
Other receivables Hith kI 580
Bank and cash balances IRITRIREERR 123
Assets disposed of HEEE 108,285
Gain on disposal of the subsidiaries: HEMB AR :
Total consideration was satisfied by: REEBUNTARZM
— Cash —RE 23,459
— Off setting of consideration payable — B REZ K 38,276
- Consideration receivables —EUWRE 26,505
— Other receivables —HEWRIE 67,332
Assets disposed of HEEE (108,285)
Cumulative exchange differences on REREMB AR ZEFEEREEINGE AR
translation of foreign subsidiaries HEDBEMOEEER s RITERERE
reclassified from equity to profit or loss
on loss of control of the subsidiaries 934
Gain on disposal H & W 48,221

Net cash inflow from the disposal of subsidiaries

HENEREFHEERAFEE

HK$'000

FET

Cash consideration REREB 23,459
Less: bank and cash balances disposal of B HERTAIREAR (123)
23,336
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46. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 46. 4 &8RERERMEH
OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities

arising from financing activities during the year/period:

(a) MEZBELEZGRES

TREJAEBREFE B
WRBIZIEEZAEET:

Total
Amount liabilities
Amount  due (from)/ Short from
lease  duetoan to a joint Trust term Bank financing
liabilities associate venture loans loans loans activities
& () /
FEfF—F fi— ®B
BEAE BEAT MEEHN
HEEfE ZRE ZRE FHER EHER RITER BfERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAL FET TERT FET THR FET
At 1 January 2020 RZB_%5-A-H 29,330 6,521 - - - - 35,851
Changes in cash flows RemELy (32,402) 9,311 119 237,299 20,170 11,865 246,362
Non-cash changes FReEE
- interest charged —fatF & 3,385 = = = = = 3,385
- addition of right-of-use assets -FRREERE 10,983 - - - - S 10,983
~ gain on lease modification -REETZWE (26) - - - - = (26)
- acquisition of subsidiaries - EKBAT = = - - - _ _
- exchange difference -EREE 952 799 - - - - 1,751
At 31 March 2021 and RIEZ-£=F=+-0k
1 April 2021 “2”-%¥mB-H 12,222 16,631 119 237,299 20,170 11,865 298,306
Changes in cash flows REMELE (16,201) - (2,222) - 7,116 76,553 65,246
Non-cash changes FREEY
~ interest charged —FEtHIS 2,578 - - - - = 2,578
~ addition of right-of-use assets ~FRREERE 20,674 = = = = = 20,674
— gain on lease modification -HEEITZHE (634) = = = = = (634)
- step acquisition from associates o —HEEATIHBATN DT RE
subsidiaries - (16,631) - - - - (16,631)
- disposal of subsidiaries ~HERBAR - - - - - - -
- exchange difference -ERER 146 = 4 9,641 = 482 10,273
At 31 March 2022 RIBZZH=A=1+-H 18,785 - (2,099) 246,940 27,286 88,900 379,812

Major non-cash transactions

(i)  After the completion of the step acquisition of 42%
equity interest in Treasure Cart on 12 August 2021,
Treasure Cart Group ceased to be associates and have
become non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company.
The amount due to an associate of approximately
HK$16,631,000 become the amount due to a subsidiary

which has been eliminated at consolidation level.

(b) TEFFRERH

(i)

RZZEZ—FN\B+IH
SEEL D & Wk BB Treasure Cart
42% PR #E1% > Treasure Cart
EETABAMEAT MR
MARABZIEEZEWBA
BloeEN—HEHBERTZR
T8#916,631,00078 T Al 4 F&
T—RBRBARZRIE B
Rix & B m it o
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46. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 46. %8R ERERM:T @
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Major non-cash transactions (Continued) (b) FEFREXRH @

(i)  On 31 March 2022, the Group, through its wholly (i) RNZTEZZF=B=+—
owned subsidiary, disposed 100% equity interest H - A&EERBEHEEZEN
in Jiangsu Meili Kongjian. Part of the consideration BrElBETIHEEZTH
would be offset by the consideration payable of 100%Hx$¥°“5ﬁﬁﬁﬁ—r?ﬁ
RMB31,000,000 (approximately HK$38,276,000) in KEEBRZZEZZEHMK
relation to the acquisition of Jiangsu Meili Kongjian by BIIHEZERETEENHMR
the Group in 2020. BARM31,000,0007T (4

38,276,000 7t) PTIKEH

47.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES A7 FAEFIRE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial BRRaGeaUBREEMBOMIEES

statements, the Group has entered into the following transactions I REBINEARAB AR TS -

with related parties:

Compensation of key management personnel FEEEASFHM

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key BEEREMETEEEBEAERE HR

management during the year/period were as follows: ZBiEWmT

Year ended 1 January 2020

31 March to 31 March
2022 2021
#g= ZERITE
g —H—H=Z®
=A=+—H —BC—F
LEEFE =B=+—H
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Short-term benefits ZHAE A 8,423 13,404
Post-employment benefits BER 2B 122 112
8,545 13,516
The remuneration of Directors and key management is determined EENTEEEEBE MEHRENES
by the remuneration committee having regards to the performance E2EB|ARRTERTIZEABRET -

of individuals and market trends.
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48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 48. AT EEM B ATIEE
OF THE COMPANY

Nominal value
Place of Type of of issued and
incorporation  legal fully paid Proportion of nominal value of
and entity share capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation registered registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BT A EEA BETREERE FAB RS
MBARRHE B BieE mfE/#REE BRIRAEE/SRESLH TEEH
Directly Indirectly
E# S
2022 2021 2022 2021
®-Cf ®-f CBIZf 3”-%
% % % %
Jet Air (Singapore) Private  Singapore Limited liability SGD500,000 - - 93 93 Airfreight forwarding
Limited s company 50,0005 3K 7T and brokers for
S (TR BRAR BRERAT airline and shipping
companies
TENRMERMBEL
G
Jet-Air (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$142,000,200 - - 100 100 Trading of securities
RUTE(EBERAR FA company 142,000,200% 7 E5EE
BREEAT
Global Star Corporate Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000 - 100 100 - Acts as administrative
Management Limited ~ &% company 10,0007 centre of the Group
BRECEXERFRAT BREEAT ERTEEZITHADY
Jet Dispatch Limited United States of  Limited liability US$3,000 - - 100 100 Freight forwarding agent
America company 3,000%7T EEARR
ESE BREEAT
Qianhai Honghu Teri PRC Limited liability HK$110,000,000 - - 100 100 Trading of goods
Technology (Shenzhen) ~ FE company 110,000,000%87¢ EEWm
Co., Limited* BERERLAT
AlERERIBR I (R
BRAT
Rongjinda Finance PRC Limited liability US$30,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of finance lease
HeERE HE company 30,000,000%7¢ services and finance
BEREARAT consultancy services
RUEMBERERBRE
RRARE
China Best Finance Hong Kong Limited liability HKS$2 - - 100 100 Provision of money
Limited & company 2ET lending services
HERBERAT BR&EEAT REMERS
Zhongrong International  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$102,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of securities
Securities Company &% company 102,000,000%7¢ brokerage and related
Limited BEREARAT consultancy services
FRERESERAE REZHFELR
RREHERE
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48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 48. AT EEM B ATIEE

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)
Nominal value
Place of Type of of issued and
incorporation  legal fully paid Proportion of nominal value of
and entity share capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiaries  operation registered registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BT A EEA BETREERE FAEFRE
WEARAHE B EREY mfE/EhEE BRTRAEE/HRESLH FEEH
Directly Indirectly
E# Gl
2022 2021 2022 2021
ZRICE TR0 IZEIZE TR
% % % %

Zhongrong International  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$67,000,000 - = 100 100 Provision of futures
Futures Co., Limited &5 company 67,000,000% 7T brokerage services

TRERAEERAT BR&EEAT REBSETRE

Beijing Fudajia Enterprise ~ PRC Limited liability HK$10,000,000¢ - - 100 100 Property investment
Management Co., i company 10,000,000 75 RENE
Limited* BEREAAT

FRERELEER
BRAR

Shanghai Xuanmei PRC Limited liability RMB5,000,000 - = 100 100 Provision of residential
Property Agency HE company AR 15,000,0007 and commercial
Company Limited* BRERAAT property agency

TEHERMELL services
BRAR REATREENEL

LR

Shanghai Tuxuan PRC Limited liability RMB5,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of building
Construction Design company AE5,000,0007 architecture and
Company Limited* BEREFAT interior design services

LEERRER: REBFRERZAR
BRAT stR%

Guohua Jiaye PRC Limited liability HK$10,000,000 - - 100 100 Investment holding and
(Beijing) Enterprise HE company 10,000,000 7 provision of project
Management BREAAT management
Co., Ltd.* REERREHER

HEFE LR CEER i
BRAT

Baoshihua Geothermal PRC Limited liability ~ RMB1,000,000,000¢ - - 70 70 Heating supply by
Energy Development B company AR® geothermal energy
Co., Ltd.* BRERRE 1,000,000,0007c HERGEHIE

ERTEHAERE
BRAR
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 48. AT EEM B ATIEE

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&
Nominal value
Place of Type of of issued and
incorporation  legal fully paid Proportion of nominal value of
and entity share capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiaries  operation registered registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
BT A EEA BETREERE FAEFRE
(ol YNGE2Y B EREY mfE/EhEE BREARSEE AREXLA FEEH
Directly Indirectly
E# G}
2022 2021 2022 2021
Z¥ICF ®T-F I®IZE E°-F
% % % %

Henan Province PRC Limited liability RMB100,000,000¢ - - 52.5 525 Heating and cooling
Baoshihua Geothermal ~ HE company N: supply by geothermal
Energy Development BEREART 100,000,0007¢* energy
Co., Ltd.* ("Henan HAEHERS
Province Baoshihua”)

FEEERT
BEERAT
(TARaEAT)

Wujixian Baoshihua PRC Limited liability RMB60,000,000 - - 36.4 36.4  Heating supply by
Geothermal Energy HE company AR® geothermal energy
Development Co., BEREAAF 60,000,0007C* A LR
Ltd.*

BEMERICHHE
REERAH

Xian Baoshihua Energy PRC Limited liability RMB50,000,000 - - 100 100 Heating supply by
Technology Group Co., S company AR® geothermal energy
Ltd.* BRERRE 50,000,0007¢¢ AR

BREATEERRE
EBBRAT

Shaanxi Jiangwei PRC Limited liability RMB100,000,000¢ - = 100 100 Provision of projects
Construction HE company AR construction
Engineering Co., Ltd.* BEREAAT 100,000,000 contracting

MEIRHEEIR REIRESAE
BRAT

Yuncheng Baoshihua PRC Limited liability RMB50,000,000* - - 100 100 Provision of centralised
Regional Energy HE company AR® heating and industrial
Technology Co., Ltd.* BRETAT 50,000,0007¢¢ steam

EHERTERERR RESHHARTE
REBRAR A

Beijing Shuwu PRC Limited liability RMB20,000,000 - - 67 N/A~ Provision of financial

ERER HE company ARE TER information solution

BEREAAT 20,000,0007% and big data analysis
services
REMBELRARE
REB IR
7 The registered capital is yet to be paid/fully paid as at 31 March 2022. # RIB-_F=ZA=+—8B ZZMEX
BARZT, BEREZ A
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 48. AT EEM B ATIEE

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Except for a limited partnership incorporated in the PRC, all other
subsidiaries are companies incorporated with limited liability in the
respective jurisdictions.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at
the end of both periods or at any time during both periods.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI") material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amount before inter-
company eliminations.

(&)

Pr—ERTPEEMA L BREBE
ENPMBHMNBARNERERRM
EEREEMRILZABRAT -

AR B B AR IS TR )
Ry ] 3 452 Y T A B SR AT R AR A
ZEFES o

ERFIIEZAEBNBRABDRES
EZMBATR - EE A IRAHEAMMN
BABZFBRERBER TR

TRINTHAERMS BEARBIIFE
IetEnt (MIFIERERD ) NNB AT
Bl - HBEMNBMIEERERNATRE
REHRTAYEER -

Henan Province Baoshihua

Name By AEEEAIL
Principal place of business/country of FEEEMBE FMAILER PRC
incorporation lE)
% of ownership interests/voting rights R ERNER R
held by NCI KRE# 2B 47.5%
2022 2021
—E-- BT —F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 94,679 93,782
Current assets RENEE 25,818 24,697
Current liabilities mEaE (30,258) (30,244)
Non-current liabilities EREBERE - =
Net assets BEEFE 90,239 88,235
Accumulated NCI KetIFERER 42,434 41,492
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For the year ended 31 March 20228 F — &~ —F=H =+ —HIFFE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 48. AT EEM B ATIEE

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)
For the For the fifteen
year ended months ended
31 March 2022 31 March 2021
BHE HE
g2 T —
=B=+—H =B=+—H
IEEE IE+EEA
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Revenue & 14,163 14,450
(Loss)/profit for the year/period F /R (B8) EF] (1,558) 15,846
Total comprehensive (expense)/income 2@ ZH) asesE (1,558) 15,846
(Loss)/profit allocated to NCI PDEEIFERER 2
(B518) /i@ F] (740) 7,527
Net cash (used in)/generated from EEE (FrA)
operating activities FriSIR& $48 (545) 12,637
Net cash used in investing activities KREGEHFMAREFEE (84) (15,219)
Net cash generated from financing activities BIE ZENFIEIRE F4E - 3,561
Net (used in)/increase in cash and HekREEBEERZ
cash equivalents (FrR) /e hn3%e (629) 979

RBREHR xR EAHMEEAER
WABRZHMBAT - ZFHBELRF
ZEBEBHBWMT ¢

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. The principal
activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Number of subsidiaries

WEARHE

Principal activities Principal place of business 2022 2021
TEEH TESEME == 2" —F
Investment holding BVI 24 12
wEER BERLHS

Hong Kong 3 3

BHE

The PRC 6 5

R
Inactive The PRC 9 6
RETER alE

BVI - 3

RERLHS

Samoa 1 1

BED

Hong Kong 7 4

BH

50 34
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

49. THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 49. IR AT Z A AR AT

OF THE COMPANY

2022 2021
=== =T —
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRBZKE 11 10
Current assets REEE
Other receivables HpE USR8 293 280
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note (i)) FE WL B /8 A Bl I8 (B EE()) 1,174,881 1,066,463
Bank balances and cash RITERKRIRE 83 8,204
1,175,257 1,074,947
Current liability Vi =N
Other payables Hn e I 4,151 3,915
Net current assets MBEETE 1,171,106 1,071,032
NET ASSETS EEZFE 1,171,117 1,071,042
Capital and reserves AR e
Share capital %N 152,529 101,686
Reserves (Note (ii)) R (MEEE) 1,018,588 969,356
TOTAL EQUITY B m 1,171,117 1,071,042
Notes: FEE -
()  The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are non-trade nature, unsecured i ERECSHBAEREAFEEZEZ S

and repayable on demand of which the balances of approximately
HK$437,742,000 (31 March 2021: approximately HK$431,097,000) carry
interest rates of 6% (31 March 2021: 6%) and the remaining balances
of approximately HK$737,139,000 (31 March 2021: approximately
HK$635,366,000) are non-interest bearing.
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H-EEAREBERERER HPERY
437,742,00087T (CE-_—4F=HB=+—
H : 49431,097,000587T) 6% (Z&=—
FZA=+—8 :6%) WFEHE MF
BRAEER49737,139,0008 T (B2 - —F=
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49. THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

For the year ended 31 March 2022 &5F —

49.

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

=42 H
ARE

M FSER R MIEE

KRB ZHBRRAR @

Notes: (Continued) MIsE © (48)
(i) Reserves iy fHE
Share Contributed ~ Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
B 15 i E BARER REthsiE it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FHET
(Note)
((5=2)
At 1 January 2020 RIZZZF—A—H 1,005,094 48,311 (482,594) 570,811
Loss for the period HREE - - (8,197) (8,197)
Total comprehensive expense BREES LR
for the period - - (8,197) (8,197)
Capital reduction BEAHIR = 406,742 = 406,742
At 31 March 2021 and RZZB_—H=A=+—HAkK
at 1 April 2021 “E-—FE—H 1,005,094 455,053 (490,791) 969,356
Profit for the year FERiEF - = 3,118 3,118
Total comprehensive income for FN2EWDEE
the year - - 3,118 3,118
Issue of rights shares BITHRRG: 50,843 = = 50,843
Transaction costs attributable to issue B 1TH B ELR Z M A
of new ordinary shares (4,729) - - (4,729)
At 31 March 2022 WIZZZHF=RA=+—H 1,051,208 455,053 (487,673) 1,018,588
The contributed surplus of the Company represents (i) the excess of RRBZ BABRBRIEOERBEIRMS I —ANR

the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange in 1996 over the nominal value of the
Company'’s shares issued in exchange thereof and (ii) the credit arising from
the capital reduction by cancelling the par value of the paid-up capital of
the Company on 2 September 2020.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed
surplus of the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company
cannot declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out of contributed
surplus if:

(a) it is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as
they become due; or

(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share
premium accounts.

FAEMAER TR RIBEAFUE
T‘H% N B2 BRAR AT BB AE 2 3T Ham 8%
TZARBRAEEZZFE RN 2=
3&hﬁ:5%?@%§$ﬁ$@ﬁé§i%ﬁ§$ﬁ
BERRAHIRFTEEERR-

REBRE-AN—FEQFZE (EE:D) -
KRB ZEABBFAED IR EERTF
BETHERTERARKE IR R
BEREEDIK :

(@ ERBBENRPIRMAERBEHEE
FHaE; %

(b) ERABDEEZTHBEERRIKGRE

BREEE BETREIARRDEE
IRz 4800
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #F —F_— —_F = H =+—HIFFEZE

50. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(i) On 28 April 2022, the Company has resolved to grant share
options to certain eligible participants to subscribe for a total
of 90,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each in the share
capital of the Company, pursuant to the share option scheme
adopted by the Company on 1 September 2021. The exercise
price is HK$0.80 per ordinary share.

(i)  On 27 May 2022, the Group entered into a fifth supplemental
deed in relation to the promissory note of remaining principal
amount of HK$74 million held by the Group after the
principal amount of HK$16 million and the interest amount
of HK$5.4 million of the promissory note had been settled in
aggregate on 11 April 2022, 13 April 2022 and 26 April 2022
respectively, whereby (i) the parties agreed to further extend
the maturity date of the promissory note by one (1) year,
from 20 March 2022 to 20 March 2023; and (ii) the Group
agreed to waive default interests which were resulted from
the issuer’s default payment on 20 March 2022.
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50. R SRR EE

(i)

RZIEZZHFMWEZ+N\H K
NBEEBERBEALRBDNRIE

Z—FNE—BRMZERES
ImETEERHEAERHE
B UBEAABDRAFREH
90,000,000 & & EE0.108 7T
ZzEBEKR - THEEASREER
0.808 7T e

R_E__F#RB-_++tH &K
EREDPNR T _FWMA
+—B -2 FmMB+=H
E_E__F£FWNB_-_+,x<B%&
HBE#EA$%E16,000,0008 7T
K F|B5,400,0008 52 AR E
BERAERRERNGAEIES
74,000,000/ 70 2 A & EIRET L
%ﬁ@%ﬁﬁi@ﬁfﬂ—’}%&t(i)ﬂé@%

FAERARERNIFHEBE T
7__¢ BZ+HE—SIEE
—(NEE_E_=F=RA_+
H RINVEAEEREBRRETA
ﬁA_v__fE B+ B#EXE
R BENF B o



Five-Year Financial Summary
R FHBFEE

RESULTS E4
Year Fifteen
ended  months ended Year ended 31 December
31 March 31 March BE+ZA=1+—HLEE
2022 2021 2019 2018 2017
BE-S-—F HZE_T_—F
=ZB=+—-HBH =RA=+—H
LEE I+ REA ZZ-NF ZZ-N\F S of 2
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TET TERT FAT
Revenue E 858,457 1,182,493 362,331 218,007 425,575
(Loss) profit before tax BrEAT (B598) E R (1,088) (20,681) (103,482) (74,061) 32,538
Income tax expense FrEHBX (10,035) (15,728) (2,614) (1,488) (8,013)
(Loss) profit for the year/period /8K (B518) B5F (11,123) (36,409) (106,096) (75,549) 24,525
(Loss) profit for the year/period MUFEGE/ R
attributable to: (B548) ‘&7
Owners of the Company AREEBA (6,349) (42,578) (106,067) (75,533) 24,533
Non-controlling interests iR R (4,774) 6,169 (29) (16) (8)
(Loss) profit for the year/period £ /1R (5518) HA (11,123) (36,409) (106,096) (75,549) 24,525
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
As at 31 March As at 31 December
®=ZA=+—H ®+ZBA=+—8
2022 2021 2019 2018 2017
ZEZC i —Z-hEF ZE-N\F . 3
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAR AT TAEx TET TET
(Restated)
(=5
Total assets BEHRE 2,340,888 2,072,872 1,192,703 1,288,139 1,180,173
Total liabilities BEEE (1,080,380) (923,155) (75,162) (53,021) (76,557)
1,260,508 1,149,717 1,117,541 1,235,118 1,103,616
Equity attributable to owners KREER AEMS
of the Company & 1,209,425 1,100,143 1,117,628 1,235,176 1,103,657
Non-controlling interests R 51,083 49,574 (87) (58) @
1,260,508 1,149,717 1,117,541 1,235,118 1,103,616
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Schedule of Investment Properties
KREYIER

As at 31 March 20220 — & - —F =/ =+—H

Percentage
Address Use Category of the Lease held by the Group
B2 b A& HE 22455 REEFERDL
1 Room 01, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
IRBHERAREIFIEOIE EES FRERFRAY
2 Room 02, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
IRBHERFREIFIE2E EES FRERFRAY
3 Room 03, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
IRBHERGREIEIEOIE EES FRERFRAY
4 Room 05, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
I RABERFREIGEI1EOSE [EES FRHATRAY
5 Room 06, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
I RABERFREIGE1EOCE [EES FRHATAAY
6 Room 07, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, =~ Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
IERABERFREIGFEIEOTE [EES FRHATAAY
7 Room 08, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
I RABERFRE15E1E0E [EES FRHATAAY
8 Room 09, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
IERABERFREIGEI1EOIE [EES FRHATAAY
9 Room 10, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
IERABERFREIFEIE10E [EES FRHATEAY
10 Room 11, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, =~ Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
IERAGERFREIFIENE [EES FRHATEAY
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